

TOWN OF ERIE

Meeting Agenda

Board of Trustees

Tuesday, September 13, 2022	6:30 PM	Board Room

In-Person Public Comment Link: https://bit.ly/0913BOT

I. Call Meeting to Order and Pledge of Allegiance

6:30 p.m.

II. Roll Call

III. Approval of the Agenda

IV. Consent Agenda

6:30-6:35 p.m. 22-347 Approval of the August 23, 2002, Board of Trustees Regular Meeting Minutes 08-23-2022 BOT Meeting Minutes Attachments: 22-348 Approval of the August 30, 2002, Board of Trustees Special Meeting Minutes 08-30-2022 BOT Special Meeting Minutes Attachments: 22-344 A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving a Ground Lease Agreement with Allo Erie, LLC, for 2901 North 119th Street, Erie Colorado Resolution 22-110 Attachments: Lease Agreement 22-343 A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving an Amendment to the Construction Manager At-Risk (CMAR) Contract with A&M Renovations, LLC for the Schofield Farm House Rehabilitation Project Resolution 22-108 Attachments: GMP Amendment **CMAR Contract** 22-311 A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving Change Order No. 2 to the Construction Contract with GoodLand

Construction, Inc. for the Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline Improvements

<u>Attachments:</u> Resolution 22-109 Construction Contract Change Order 2

V. Public Comment On Non-Agenda Items

6:35-6:45 p.m.

(This agenda item provides the public an opportunity to discuss items other than ordinances, public hearings and consent agenda items that are not on the agenda. The Board of Trustees is not prepared to decide on matters brought up at this time, but if warranted, will place them on a future agenda.)

VI. General Business

<u>22-345</u>	Hispanic/Latinx Heritage Month Proclamation
<u>Attachments:</u>	Proclamation
	6:45-6:50 p.m. Presenter(s): Alberto De Los Rios, Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Manager
<u>22-363</u>	Presentation of 90 Second Celebration Video
	6:50-6:55 p.m. Presenter(s): Melissa Wiley, Deputy Town Administrator
<u>22-342</u>	PUBLIC HEARING: An Ordinance of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Amending Sections 10-2-7 and 10-7-2 of the Erie Municipal Code, Repealing Section 10-7-6 of the Erie Municipal Code, and Repealing and Reenacting Section 10-7-8 of the Erie Municipal Code, all to Modify and Clarify the Procedure for Amendments to Land Use Approvals and Deviations from Land Use Standards
<u>Attachments:</u>	Ordinance No. 19-2022
	UDC Amendments
	Resolution No. P22-07
	Public Hearing Notice
	Staff Presentation
	6:55-7:30 p.m. Presenter(s): Deborah Bachelder AICP, Planning Manager/Deputy Director of Planning & Development
<u>22-349</u>	Semi-Annual Report from the Tree Board
<u>Attachments:</u>	erie_tree_board_Sept 2022(1)
	7:30-7:50 p.m. Presenter(s): Jason Shimmel, Tree Advisory Board Member
<u>22-350</u>	Semi-Annual Report from the Planning Commission

<u>Attachments:</u>	PC Pres August 22 BOT report	
	7:50-8:10 p.m. Presenter(s): Kelly Zuniga, Planning Commission Chair	
<u>22-351</u>	Semi-Annual Report from the Historic Preservation Advisory Board	
<u>Attachments:</u>	BOT Sept 2022 Semi-Annual Presentation	
	8:10-8:30 p.m. Presenter(s): Mike Turner, HPAB Chair	
<u>22-352</u>	Semi-Annual Report from the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Advisory Board	
<u>Attachments:</u>	DEIAB Presentation 2022	
	8:30-8:50 p.m. Presenter(s): Lindsey Terranova, DEIAB Chair Cesar Jimenez, DEIAB Vice Chair	
<u>22-353</u>	Semi-Annual Report from the Open Space and Trails Advisory Board	
<u>Attachments:</u>	05 OSTAB Presentation 220913	
	8:50-9:10 p.m. Presenter(s): Robert Braudes, OSTAB Chair	
<u>22-354</u>	Semi-Annual Report from the Sustainability Advisory Board	
<u>Attachments:</u>	SAB Biannual Report 13 September 2022	
	9:10-9:30 p.m. Presenter(s): Ben Hemphill, SAB Chair Alissa Kuzmich, SAB Vice Chair	
<u>22-355</u>	Semi-Annual Report from the Airport Economic Development Advisory Board	
<u>Attachments:</u>	Board Meeting presentation Sep 2022	
	9:30-9:50 p.m. Presenter(s): Paul Houghtaling, AEDAB Chair	
VII. Staff Reports		
	Information Only	
<u>22-330</u>	Bi-Monthly Vector Air Airport Report	

Attachments: Report

VIII. Board Member Reports and Announcements

9:50-10:10 p.m.

IX. Adjournment

10:10 p.m.

(The Board's Goal is that all meetings be adjourned by 10:30pm. An agenda check will be conducted at or about 10:00 p.m., and no later than at the end of the first item finished after 10:00 p.m. Items not completed prior to adjournment will generally be taken up at the next regular meeting.)



Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-347, Version: 1

Subject:

Approval of the August 23, 2002, Board of Trustees Regular Meeting Minutes **Department:** Town Clerk

Presenter(s): Debbie Stamp, Town Clerk

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

✓ Effective Governance

Attachment(s):

1. August 23, 2022, BOT Regular Meeting Minutes

5



Meeting Minutes

Board of Trustees

Tuesday, August 23, 2022	6:30 PM	Board Room

Public Comment Link: https://bit.ly/0823BOT

I. Call Meeting to Order and Pledge of Allegiance

Mayor Pro Tem Loflin called the meeting to order at 6:32 p.m.

II. Roll Call

 Present:
 6 Mayor Pro Tem Loflin

 Trustee Baer
 Trustee Bell

 Trustee Harrison
 Trustee Hoback

 Trustee Sawusch
 Absent:
 1

III. Approval of the Agenda

Mayor Pro Tem Loflin asked that the Executive Session scheduled for tonight be moved off the agenda and scheduled for a time when all Board of Trustee members are present.

Trustee Bell made a motion to approve the agenda as amended. Trustee Sawusch seconded the motion. The motion passed by the following vote at 6:33 p.m.

- Ayes 6 Mayor Pro Tem Loflin Trustee Baer Trustee Bell Trustee Harrison Trustee Hoback Trustee Sawusch
- Absent 1 Mayor Brooks

IV. Consent Agenda

<u>22-301</u> Approval of the August 9, 2002, Board of Trustees Regular Meeting Minutes

Attachments: 08-09-2022 BOT Minutes

<u>22-279</u> A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving an

Application for an Energy Impact Assistance Fund Grant from the Department of Local Affairs (DOLA) for Energy Performance Contracting

<u>Attachments:</u> <u>Resolution 22-99</u> Application

Project List and Estimates

- 22-300 A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving the Fifth Amendment to Consulting Agreement with Leonard Rice Consulting Water Engineers, Inc for the Water Supply Planning Project
 - Attachments: Resolution 22-96 Water Supply Planning - Fifth Amendment
- <u>22-310</u> A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving a License Agreement with Western Area Power Administration for the Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline Project
 - Attachments: Resolution 22-100 WAPA Llicense Agreement Vicinity Map
- 22-326 A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving Intergovernmental Agreements with Boulder County and Weld County for the November 8, 2022 Coordinated Election
 - Attachments:
 Resolution 22-105 IGAs for Coordinated Election Services

 2022 Boulder County IGA
 2022 Weld County IGA
- 22-318 A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving a Construction Contract with Renner Sports Surfaces for the Replacement of the Arapahoe Ridge Park Tennis Courts

Attachments: Resolution 22-101

Construction Contract - Renner Sports Surfaces Quote - Renner Sports Surfaces

- 22-319 A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving a Construction Contract with Churchich Recreation, LLC for Construction of Shelters at the Coal Creek Disc Golf Course and the Singletrack Trails at Sunset Open Space
 - Attachments:
 Resolution 22-102

 Construction Contract Churchich Recreation, LLC

 Quote Churchich Recreation, LLC

22-327 A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving a Development Agreement, Consenting to the Assignment of the Development Agreement, and Accepting Dedications as Shown on the Final Plat for the Erie Four Corners Filing No. 1 Subdivision

Attachments: Resolution No. 22-106

Erie Four Corners Subdivision Filing No. 1

Development Agreement

DA Consent to Assign-A081922

DA Assign-A081922

Trustee Harrison made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda. Trustee Baer seconded the motion. The motion passed by the following vote at 6:35 p.m.

V. Public Comment On Non-Agenda Items

Mayor Pro Tem Loflin read the Public Comment Rules and opened Public Comment at 6:35 p.m.

The following spoke:

- 1. Josh van Auken spoke about many dead trees within the Town.
- 2. Dennis Crooks spoke about Single Hauler.

With no additional speakers, Public Comment closed at 6:42 p.m.

VI. General Business

22-325 A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Submitting the Ballot Question to Form a Home Rule Charter Commission to the Town's Registered Electors at the November 8, 2022 Special Election, and Listing Candidates for the Charter Commission

Attachments: Resolution 22-104

2nd Election Notice

Trustee Sawusch made a motion to approve Resolution 22-104. Trustee Harrison seconded the motion. The motion passed by the following vote at 6:44 p.m.

- Ayes 6 Mayor Pro Tem Loflin Trustee Baer Trustee Bell Trustee Harrison Trustee Hoback Trustee Sawusch
- Absent 1 Mayor Brooks
- <u>22-304</u> A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving the Language for the Trails, Natural Areas, and Community Character Ballot

Measure

Attachments: November tax ballot question-R081522

TNACC Increase-R081922

Patrick Hammer, Director of Parks and Recreation, presented the item at 6:45 p.m.

Bob Braudes, Open Space and Trails Advisory Board Chair, presented on behalf of OSTAB at 6:46 p.m.

Trustee Harrison made a motion to approve Resolution 22-103. Trustee Bell seconded the motion. The motion passed by the following vote at 7:02 p.m.

- Ayes 6 Mayor Pro Tem Loflin Trustee Baer Trustee Bell Trustee Harrison Trustee Hoback Trustee Sawusch
- Absent 1 Mayor Brooks

<u>22-315</u>

PUBLIC HEARING: A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving the Erie Highlands Preliminary Plat No. 5 with Conditions

Attachments: 1. Resolution 22-97

- 3. Proposed Preliminary Plat
- 4. Staff Report
- 5. Application and Narrative
- 6. Other Applicant Materials 1 Title Commitment, ALTA, and Legal Documents
- 7. Other Applicant Materials 2 Reports Part 1
- 8. Other Applicant Materials 3 Reports Part 2
- 9. Other Applicant Materials 4 Engineering Plans
- 10. Other Applicant Materials 5 Landscape Plans and Other Exhibits
- 11. Other Applicant Materials 6 Peltier Well Letter
- 12. Referral Comments
- 13. Neighborhood Meeting Summaries
- 14. Notifications
- 15. Erie Highlands PUD Zoning Map Amendment No 3
- 16. Staff Presentation
- 17. Applicant Presentation
- 18. Sewer Line Reimbursements Email & Attachments
- 19. Response to Sewer Line Reimbursements Email & Attachments

Mayor Pro Tem Loflin opened the Public Hearing at 7:04 p.m.

Shannon Moeller, Senior Planner, presented the item at 7:04 p.m.

The following spoke:

- 1. Ken lverson
- 2. Dennis Crooks
- 3. Kimee Wilkey
- 4. Jimmy New

The Public Hearing closed at 7:49 p.m.

Trustee Harrison made a motion to approve Resolution 22-97. Trustee Bell seconded the motion. The motion passed by the following vote at 7:54 p.m.

Ayes 5 - Trustee Baer Trustee Bell Trustee Harrison Trustee Hoback Trustee Sawusch

- Nayes 1 Mayor Pro Tem Loflin
- Absent 1 Mayor Brooks
- 22-308 **PUBLIC HEARING:** An Ordinance of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving Amendment No. 3 to the Parkdale Planned Unit Development

Attachments: <u>3. BOT Ordinance No. 18-2022</u>

- 2. PC Resolution P22-05
- 6. Application and Narrative
- 1. Staff Report
- 4. Existing Parkdale PUD Overlay Map
- 5. Proposed PUD Overlay Map Amendment No. 3
- 7. Other Applicant Materials
- 8. Neighborhood Meeting Summary
- 9. Referral Agency Comments
- 10. Notifications
- 11. Applicant Presentation
- 12. Staff Presentation

Mayor Pro Tem Loflin opened the Public Hearing opened at 7:56 p.m.

Audem Gonzales, Senior Planner, presented the item at 7:57 p.m.

John Prestwich, Applicant with OEO, LLC, presented at 8:07 p.m.

With no speakers, the Public Hearing closed at 8:15 p.m.

Trustee Bell made a motion to approve Ordinance 18-2022. Trustee Baer seconded the motion. The motion passed by the following vote at 8:17 p.m.

Ayes 6 - Mayor Pro Tem Loflin Trustee Baer Trustee Bell Trustee Harrison Trustee Hoback Trustee Sawusch

Absent 1 - Mayor Brooks

22-317 PUBLIC HEARING: A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving a Certificate of Appropriateness for the Farm House Rehabilitation Project at Schofield Farm

Attachments: Resolution 22-98

<u>HPAB Recommendation</u> <u>Certificate of Appropriateness Application</u>

Mayor Pro Tem Loflin opened the Public Hearing at 8:19 p.m.

Mike Turner, Historic Preservation Advisory Board Chair, presented the item at 8:19 p.m.

With no speakers, the Public Hearing closed at 8:23 p.m.

Trustee Baer made a motion to approve Resolution 22-96. Trustee Hoback seconded the motion. The motion passed by the following vote at 8:24 p.m.

- Ayes 6 Mayor Pro Tem Loflin Trustee Baer Trustee Bell Trustee Harrison Trustee Hoback Trustee Sawusch
- Absent 1 Mayor Brooks

VII. Staff Reports

22-274 Planning & Development Monthly Report

<u>Attachments:</u> Planning & Development Monthly Report - Combined June & July 2022

<u>22-313</u> Public Works Monthly Report

Attachments: Monthly Report

22-321 Planning and Development Metrics Tracking Bi-Annual Report

Attachments: 1. Metrics Tracking Bi-Annual Report

VIII. Board Member Reports and Announcements

Board members spoke about Passing Hats, Outstanding Resident Award, Boulder County tax for multi-modal transportation, Farmers Market extended through September 15, 2022, Nostalgic Erie Car Meet, recognizing Chief Stewart and staff for their involvement in Soaring Heiights, residents running for the Home Rule Charter Commission, Tree Diversity Tours with Town Forester at Erie Community Park, Single Hauler RFP and reminder of Back to School speed zones.

Sarah Nurmela, Director of Planning and Development introduced Carlos Hernandez, the Town's new Principal Transportation Planner.

IX. Executive Session

22-282 Executive Session for the purposes of discussion of a personnel matter not involving any specific employees who have requested discussion of the matter in open session, any member of this body or any elected official, the appointment of any person to fill an office of this body or of an elected official, or personnel policies that do not require the discussion of matters personal to particular employees, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-6-402(4)(f), concerning a performance evaluation of the Town Administrator.

> Mayor Pro Tem Loflin asked that the Executive Session scheduled for tonight be moved off the agenda and scheduled for a time when all Board of Trustee members are present.

X. Adjournment

Mayor Pro Tem Loflin adjourned the meeting at 8:38 p.m.

Approved _____

Mayor

Attest

Town Clerk



Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-348, Version: 1

Subject:

Approval of the August 30, 2002, Board of Trustees Special Meeting Minutes **Department:** Town Clerk

Presenter(s): Debbie Stamp, Town Clerk

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

✓ Effective Governance

Attachment(s):

1. August 30, 2022, BOT Special Meeting Minutes



Meeting Minutes

Board of Trustees

Tuesday, August 30, 2022	9:00 PM	Virtual
Special Meeting		

Meeting Link: https://bit.ly/0830BOTSS

I. Call Meeting to Order and Pledge of Allegiance

Mayor Brooks called the meeting to order at 9:28 p.m.

II. Roll Call

Present: 7 -Mayor Brooks Mayor Pro Tem Loflin **Trustee Baer** Trustee Bell Trustee Harrison Trustee Hoback **Trustee Sawusch**

III. Approval of the Agenda

Trustee Sawusch made a motion to approve the agenda. Trustee Bell seconded the motion. The motion passed by the following vote at 9:29 p.m.

- Ayes 7 -Mayor Brooks Mavor Pro Tem Loflin Trustee Baer Trustee Bell
 - Trustee Harrison Trustee Hoback **Trustee Sawusch**

Mayor Pro Tem Loflin made a motion to go into Executive Session to consider the purchase, acquisition, lease, transfer or sale of real, personal or other property, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-6-402(4)(a), and to determine positions relative to matters that may be subject to negotiations, develop a strategy for negotiations, and/or instruct negotiators, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-6-402(4)(e), for which a more specific topic cannot be disclosed without compromising the purpose of the executive session. Trustee Sawusch seconded the motion. The motion passed by the following vote at 9:30 p.m.

Ayes 7 - Mayor Brooks Mayor Pro Tem Loflin Trustee Baer Trustee Bell Trustee Harrison Trustee Hoback Trustee Sawusch

IX. Executive Session

22-337 EXECUTIVE SESSION to consider the purchase, acquisition, lease, transfer or sale of real, personal or other property, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-6-402(4)(a), and to determine positions relative to matters that may be subject to negotiations, develop a strategy for negotiations, and/or instruct negotiators, pursuant to C.R.S. § 24-6-402(4)(e), for which a more specific topic cannot be disclosed without compromising the purpose of the executive session.

10:24 p.m.

VI. General Business

<u>22-340</u> Action as a Result of Executive Session

Trustee Harrison made a motion to approve a Purchase and Sale Agreement to purchase property at 765 Cheeseman in amounts as discussed in Executive Session. Trustee Baer seconded the motion. The motion passed by the following vote at 10:26 p.m.

- Ayes 5 Mayor Brooks Mayor Pro Tem Loflin Trustee Baer Trustee Harrison Trustee Hoback
- Nayes 2 Trustee Bell Trustee Sawusch

X. Adjournment

Mayor Brooks adjourned the meeting at 10:29 p.m.

Approved

Mayor

Attest

Town Clerk





Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-344, Version: 1

Subject: Consent Agenda

A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving a Ground Lease Agreement with Allo Erie, LLC, for 2901 North 119th Street, Erie Colorado

Department: Information Technology

Presenter(s): Denise Jakan, Director of Information Technology

Staff Recommendation:

Approve Resolution authorizing a ground lease agreement with Allo Erie, LLC, for 2901 North 119th Street, Erie, Colorado.

Summary and Background of Subject Matter:

The Board of Trustees approved a Franchise Agreement with Allo Erie, LLC, (Allo) on March 22nd for a ten-year term, under which Allo intends to provide internet and cable T.V. access for every home and business in Erie. Allo requires a site to build a Fiber Hut (a location for all fiber to terminate) and found a spot at the Town's Water Treatment Facility provided the best location. The Town negotiated with Allo for a ground lease agreement for approximately 1,250 SF of Town-owned property located at 2901 North 119th Street, adjacent to the Water Treatment Facility, for \$500.00 per month. The Economic Development Director determined this price is reasonable for the location, size and other factors. The Fiber Hut will serve as a data bunker with utilities, computers, and a back -up generator, but will not provide for temporary or permanent human occupancy. Allo anticipates starting construction on the fiber network in October.

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

- ✓ Prosperous Economy
- ✓ Effective Governance
- ✓ Fiscally Responsible

Attachment(s):

- 1. Resolution 22-110
- 2. Lease Agreement

Town of Erie Resolution No. 22-110

A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving a Ground Lease Agreement with ALLO Erie, LLC, for 2901 North 119th Street, Erie, Colorado

Whereas, the Town is the owner of the property located at 2901 North 119th Street, Erie, Colorado (the "Property") and is willing to lease a portion of the property to ALLO Erie, LLC, at \$500 per month on a term of 10 years; and

Whereas, the Board of Trustees finds that it is in the best interest of the Town to lease the Property to ALLO Erie, LLC, pursuant to the attached Ground Lease Agreement.

Now Therefore be it Resolved by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie, Colorado, that:

Section 1. The Ground Lease Agreement for 2901 North 119th Street, Erie, Colorado is hereby approved in substantially the form attached hereto, subject to final approval by the Town Attorney. Upon such approval, the Town Administrator is authorized to execute the Ground Lease Agreement on behalf of the Town.

Adopted this ____ day of _____, 2022.

Justin Brooks, Mayor

Attest:

Debbie Stamp, Town Clerk

1

Ground Lease Agreement

This Ground Lease Agreement (**Agreement**) is entered into between the Town of Erie, a Colorado municipality (**Landlord**) and ALLO Erie, LLC, a Nebraska limited liability company (**Tenant**) as of _______, 2022 (**Effective Date**).

The Parties agree:

1. **Description**: Landlord owns the real property described as <u>Tract A, Rex</u> <u>Ranch Minor Subdivision, located in the North Half of the Northeast Quarter of Section</u> <u>26, Township 1 North, Range 69 West of the Sixth PM, Town of Erie, County of Boulder,</u> <u>State of Colorado</u> (the Property). Landlord hereby leases to Tenant the portion of the Property identified on Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, consisting of approximately 1,250 square feet at the address commonly known as <u>2901</u> <u>North 119th Street, Erie, CO</u> (**Premises**).

2. <u>Term</u>: The initial term of this Lease (**Initial Term**) shall commence as of the Effective Date and continue for 10 years, unless sooner terminated or renewed as provided herein. Upon providing no fewer than 30 days written notice to Landlord prior to the expiration of the Initial Term or first Renewal Term, as applicable, Tenant shall have the option to extend this Agreement for one additional 10-year term (**Renewal Term**, together with the Initial Term, the **Term**), upon the terms and conditions as stated herein.

3. **Rent**: During the Term, Tenant shall pay to Landlord as Rent \$500.00 per month, and such Rent shall be prorated for any partial calendar months. For each year of any Renewal Term and commencing on the first day of each year of any such Renewal Term, Rent for the applicable year shall be determined by multiplying the monthly Rent for the immediately preceding year by the lesser of: (a) 1.03, representing a 3% annual increase; or (ii) a number equal to the percentage increase in the CPI over a 12-month period, calculated by using the most recently published CPI and the CPI published 12 months earlier. "CPI" shall mean the Revised Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the United States Department of Labor, for United States City Average, All Items (1982-84 = 100).

4. **Use**: Tenant shall use the Premises to construct and thereafter use a data bunker, which is a building for utilities, computers and a generator using electricity, but without any temporary or permanent occupancy. Tenant shall not, without the written consent of Landlord, use the Premises for any other purpose.

5. **<u>Condition of Premises</u>**: Landlord makes no warranties as to the condition of the Premises, and Tenant acknowledges it is accepting the Premises in its current and "As Is" condition.

6. **Access: Fiber Facilities**. Access to the Premises shall be nonexclusive, *i.e.*, the access shall be shared with other users, tenants and owners. In addition to Tenant's access rights described herein, Tenant shall also have the right to install and maintain conduit, fiber optic lines, and related facilities, including without limitation any utilities, *e.g.*, electricity, natural gas, or any similar utilities that be reasonably required to operate the fiber facilities (collectively, **Fiber Facilities**), so as to allow Tenant to utilize its data bunker situated on the Premises. The Fiber Facilities shall be located in existing utility easements to the extent possible, but in any event within 15 feet of the boundary of the Premises in easements that are nonexclusive. Tenant and Landlord shall mutually agree on the exact placement of the Fiber Facilities prior to installation and Tenant shall be solely responsible for the repair and maintenance of the Fiber Facilities.

7. **Taxes**: At any time, in the event improvements placed on the Premises by Tenant cause an annual tax increase over the taxes due in the year of the Effective Date of this Lease (**Base Year**), Tenant shall, upon billing by Landlord and Landlord's provision of reasonable supporting documentation demonstrating the applicable increase, reimburse Landlord within 20 days in the amount of the applicable tax increase. The obligations in this Section shall survive termination of this Agreement and Tenant shall remain obligated to pay taxes on improvements as stated herein that have accrued up to the date of termination or expiration of this Lease.

8. **Improvements by Landlord**: Landlord reserves the right to make improvements, alterations, or additions to the Premises, but shall not materially change the general appearance, location or area of the Premises. Further, Landlord's improvements shall not unreasonably disturb or interfere with Tenant's improvements.

9. **Improvements by Tenant**:

a. Prior to constructing the data bunker or making any other improvements or alterations to the Premises (excluding replacement or rearrangement of personal property within the Premises), Tenant shall submit plans and specifications to Landlord and secure Landlord's written consent.

b. Tenant shall pay all costs of its improvements and alterations, shall provide evidence of such payment to Landlord upon request, and shall hold Landlord harmless from any costs, liens, or damages.

c. Tenant shall not permit any mechanic's liens to attach to the Premises as a result of Tenant's activities.

d. Upon termination or expiration of this Agreement, Tenant shall, at Tenant's sole cost and expense, remove from the Premises all of Tenant's improvements, including without limitation, the building, all signs, trade fixtures and equipment, and other such items that have been installed or placed on the Premises by Tenant, and Tenant shall repair all damage resulting from such removal.

10. **Maintenance**: Tenant shall, throughout the Term of this Lease, at its own cost, and without any expense to Landlord, keep and maintain the Premises, including all appurtenances, in good, sanitary and neat order, condition and repair, and, except as specifically provided in this Lease, restore and rehabilitate its improvements on the Premises that may be destroyed or damaged by fire, casualty, or any other cause whatsoever. This requirement to maintain includes without limitation snow removal, landscape maintenance, and utilities as required to effectively use the Premises.

11. **Utilities, Generator**: The only utilities to the Premises shall be electricity and natural gas in Tenant's name and which Tenant shall cause, at Tenant's cost, to be separately metered from the remainder of the Property. Landlord acknowledges as part of Tenant's use of the Premises, Tenant shall install a generator.

12. **Waste**: Tenant shall not commit or permit any waste of the Premises, nor any public or private nuisance on the Premises.

13. **Insurance**. Tenant shall, during the entire Term, keep in full force and effect, solely, at Tenant's cost and expense, a policy of commercial general liability insurance with respect to the Premises and the activities of Tenant thereon, for which the limits shall not be less than \$2,000,000 covering bodily injury, sickness or death and loss of or damage to Premises, naming Landlord as an additional insured and providing that it is the primary coverage for liability on the Premises. Such coverage shall include a broad form general liability endorsement. The policy shall also be endorsed to provide that the additional insured party will be notified of the cancellation or non-renewal at least 30 days before the effective date of such cancellation or non-renewal except in the event of cancellation due to non-payment of premium, then 10 days' notice shall be given.

14. **Assignment**: Tenant shall not assign or sublet any portion of the Premises without the prior written consent of Landlord. Any such assignment or subletting without the consent of Landlord shall be void and, at the option of Landlord, Landlord may terminate this Lease. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Tenant may assign its entire interest under the Lease or sublet the Premises or any portion thereof to a corporation, partnership, or other legal entity controlling, controlled by or under common control as Tenant, or to any successor to Tenant by purchase, merger, consolidation, reorganization, or sale of substantially all assets without the consent of Landlord.

15. **Quiet Enjoyment**: Landlord warrants that Tenant shall have possession and quiet enjoyment of the Premises for so long as Tenant is in compliance with the terms of this Agreement.

16. **Default**: Each of the following acts and omissions shall constitute a default and a breach of this Agreement:

3

a. Voluntary or involuntary bankruptcy, assignment for benefit of creditors, reorganization or rearrangement under the Bankruptcy Act, receivership, dissolution or the commencement of any action or proceeding for dissolution or liquidation of Tenant or Landlord whether instituted by or against Tenant or Landlord, as applicable, or any other similar action or proceeding.

b. The failure of Tenant to pay the Rent for a period of five (5) calendar days after Tenant receives written notice of such non-payment.

c. The failure of Tenant or Landlord to comply with any other provision of this Agreement for a period of 30 days after written notice of such failure; provided, however, in the event that such cure shall be reasonably expected to exceed 30 days, Tenant's or Landlord's cure right shall be expended provided that such cure is commenced within 30 days and diligently pursued.

17. **<u>Remedies</u>**: In addition to any other available remedies, the non-defaulting party shall have the right to terminate this Lease immediately by providing written notice to the defaulting party.

18. **Holding Over**: If Tenant remains in possession after the termination date without the written consent of Landlord, Tenant shall be deemed to be a trespasser.

19. **Effect of Sale**: A sale of the Premises will operate to release Landlord from all obligations pursuant to this Agreement.

20. **Termination**: Upon termination of this Agreement, Tenant shall:

a. Deliver possession of the Premises to Landlord in good condition as at the commencement of this Agreement, ordinary wear and tear excepted.

b. Remove from the Premises all improvements, fixtures and other personal property of Tenant.

c. At Tenant's expense, repair any damage to the Premises arising from the removal of such improvements, fixtures or personal property.

21. **Indemnification**: Tenant agrees to indemnify, hold harmless, and defend Landlord and its representatives, officers, employees, agents, and contractors from and against all liabilities, injuries, penalties, costs, losses, damages, expenses, causes of action, claims, demands, or judgements, including without limitation reasonable attorney fees arising from or in any way connected with Tenant's use of the Premises or any act, omission, condition, or other matter related to or occurring on or about the Licensed Property under this Agreement. Tenant agrees to bear all other costs and expenses related thereto, including court costs and attorney fees, whether or not any such liability, claims or demands alleged are groundless, false, or fraudulent.

22. Miscellaneous:

a. No term or condition of this Agreement shall be construed to have been waived by Landlord or Tenant, unless Tenant or Landlord shall have secured such waiver from the other party, as applicable.

b. Each person executing this Agreement on behalf of an entity represents and warrants that they have complete and full authority and capacity to act on behalf of that entity.

c. The invalidity or unenforceability of any term or condition of this Agreement shall not prejudice the enforceability of any other term or condition.

d. This Agreement shall not be amended or modified, except by a written instrument executed by both Landlord and Tenant.

Any notice, demand, request, or other instrument which may be or is required to be given under this Lease shall be delivered in person or sent by United States certified or registered mail, postage prepaid and shall be addressed (a) if to Landlord, at PO Box 750, 645 Holbrook Street, Erie, CO 80516 and (b) if to Tenant, at ALLO Erie, LLC, c/o President, 330 S. 21st Street, Lincoln, NE 68510.

e. Landlord and Tenant represent and warrant to each other that neither of them has consulted or negotiated with any broker or finder with regard to the Premises.

f. This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors in interest of the parties.

g. This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado, and venue for any legal action arising out of this Agreement shall be in Boulder County, Colorado.

h. The foregoing constitutes the entire agreement between the parties.

i. Landlord and its officers, attorneys and employees are relying on, and do not waive or intend to waive by any provision of this Agreement, the monetary limitations or any other rights, immunities, and protections provided by the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, C.R.S. § 24-10-101, *et seq.*, as amended, or otherwise available to Landlord and its officers, attorneys or employees.

j. Consistent with Article X, § 20 of the Colorado Constitution, any financial obligation of Landlord not performed during the current fiscal year is subject to annual appropriation, shall extend only to monies currently appropriated, and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, debt or liability beyond the current fiscal year.

In Witness Whereof, Landlord and Tenant have executed this Agreement on the day first set forth above.

LANDLORD: Town of Erie, Colorado

Justin Brooks, Mayor

Attest:

Debbie Stamp, Town Clerk

TENANT: Allo Erie, LLC, a Nebraska limited liability company

DocuSigned by: Brad Moline Bv

Name: Bradley A. Moline Its: President and CEO

State of Nebraska)) ss. County of _____)

Subscribed, sworn to and acknowledged before me this _____ day of ______, 2022, by Bradley A. Moline, as President and CEO of ALLO Erie, LLC.

My Commission expires:

(Seal)

Notary Public

<u>Exhibit A</u> <u>Page 1 of 2</u> <u>The Premises</u>







Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-343, Version: 1

SUBJECT: Consent

A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving an Amendment to the Construction Manager At-Risk (CMAR) Contract with A&M Renovations, LLC for the Schofield Farm House Rehabilitation Project

DEPARTMENT: Parks & Recreation

PRESENTER:Patrick Hammer, Parks & Recreation DirectorLuke Bolinger, Special Projects Manager

FISCAL INFORMATION:

Cost as Recommended: Contractor GMP#1: \$532,441.00

Balance Available: \$1,358,804

Budget Line Item Number(s): 110-50-810-605000-100200 320-50-110-605000-100200 105-50-110-605000-100202

New Appropriation Required: No

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Approve the Resolution to amend the Construction Manager At-Risk contract with A&M Renovation, LLC, authorize the appropriate Town Officer to execute the amendment, and authorize staff to expend budgeted funds.

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:

Over the past several months, Town staff have been working with Form+Works Design Group and the State Historical Fund on developing construction documents for the rehabilitation of the Schofield historic farm house. In May of 2022, the Town entered into a Construction Manager at-Risk (CMAR) contract with A&M Renovations for pre-construction services. Construction plans are at the 90% completion level and will be finalized in Q4, with construction to follow.

File #: 22-343, Version: 1

This agenda item asks for the Board consideration of a resolution amending the current CMAR contract with A&M Renovations to move from pre-construction services to Phase I of the scope of work. Phase I enables A&M to mobilize, enter into agreements with subcontractors, and order materials with long lead times and materials that are anticipated to increase in cost later this year. Once the construction drawings are 100% complete, staff will bring a GMP #2 amendment for the remainder of the work.

The CMAR method of project implementation allows for early contractor input ensuring efficiencies in design and constructability, real-time costing at various stages of design, and a subsequent GMP which includes competitively bid pricing for all phases/disciplines of the project. The GMP represents the maximum price the Town will pay for the project absent change orders authorized by the Town. The Town has established a reasonable contingency for the project at 11% should necessary change orders occur.

The Town has been awarded \$250,000 from the State Historical Fund for this project.

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

- ✓ Attractive Community Amenities
- ✓ Engaged and Diverse Community
- ✓ Prosperous Economy
- ✓ Small Town Feel
- ✓ Effective Governance
- ✓ Fiscally Responsible

ATTACHMENTS:

- 1. Resolution 22-108
- 2. GMP Amendment
- 3. CMAR Contract

Town of Erie Resolution No. 22-108

A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving an Amendment to the Construction Manager At-Risk Contract with A&M Renovations, LLC for the Schofield Farm House Rehabilitation Project

Whereas, the Town has been working with the contractor and design team to develop construction documents for the rehabilitation of the Schofield Farm House;

Whereas, A&M Renovations, LLC was selected as the General Contractor as part of a competitive selection process and currently has a CMAR contract in place for the Schofield Farm House Rehabilitation Project, and

Whereas, the Board of Trustees finds that it is in the best interest of the Town and the public health, safety and welfare to amend the CMAR contract with A&M Renovations, LLC for the Schofield Farm House Rehabilitation Project.

Now Therefore be it Resolved by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie, Colorado, that:

Section 1. The Guaranteed Maximum Price Amendment to the Construction Contract between the Town and A&M Renovations, LLC is hereby approved in substantially the form attached hereto, subject to final approval by the Town's special counsel. Upon such approval, the Mayor is authorized to execute the Amendment on behalf of the Town.

Adopted this 13th day of September, 2022.

Justin Brooks, Mayor

Attest:

Debbie Stamp, Town Clerk

TOWN OF ERIE – SCHOFIELD FARM HOUSE REHABILITATION GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE AMENDMENT

This Guaranteed Maximum Price Amendment (the "GMP Amendment") is between the Town or Erie (the "Owner") and A&M Renovations, LLC (the "Contractor").

Pursuant to Section 5.02 of the Construction Manager at Risk Agreement and Section 11.02 of the General Conditions between Owner and Contractor dated May 2, 2022 (the "Agreement"), Owner and Contractor hereby amend the Agreement to establish a Guaranteed Maximum Price. As agreed by the Owner and Contractor, the Guaranteed Maximum Price for performance of the Work in accordance with the Construction Documents included. In this GMP Amendment is an amount guaranteeing the maximum cost to the Owner for the Cost of the Work, plus the CM@R's Fees in accordance with Article 11.04 of the Agreement for Phase 1 Construction. A separate amendment is anticipated regarding the Guaranteed Maximum Price for Phase 2 Construction.

GUARANTEED MAXIMUM PRICE

The Contractor's Guaranteed Maximum Price for the Work, including the estimated Cost of the Work is Five Hundred Thirty-Two Thousand, Four Hundred Forty-One Dollars and no cents. (**\$532,441.00**).

The Guaranteed Maximum Price is for the performance of the Work in accordance with the following Construction Documents included in this GMP Amendment by reference and incorporated into the Agreement:

- A&M Renovations Proposal Dated August 26, 2022
- 90% Construction Documents Dated August 1, 2022

Contractor: A&M Renovations, LLC 5800 E. 58th Avenue Unit K Commerce City, CO 80022

Andy Carlson

By: _____

_	DocuSig	ned by:
		Carlson

Signature

Project Executive

Owner: Town of Erie 645 Holbrook Street P.O. Box 750 Erie, CO 80516

By: _____

Signature

Title: _____

A&M Renovations, LLC

TO:	Luke Bolinger Community Partnership & Special Projects Manager Town of Erie, Parks and Recreation 150 Bonnell Avenue / P.O. Box 750 Erie, CO 80516		
RE:	Guaranteed Maximum Price Amendment Schofield Farm House (SHF Project #2022-01-018)		
DATE:	8.26.22		
Phase I Sco	pe of Work		
•	rk and Demolition Abate asbestos Demolish nonhistorical addition Complete all other demolition in Scope	\$	56,850.00
•	y Strip outer layer of paint and remove all other loose paint Repoint and repair brick and stone masonry as necessary Complete all other masonry work in Scope	\$ 2	11,700.00
	al Install structural augmentation for new chimneys Perform all other structural work in Scope	\$	30,750.00
Window	rs and Doors Pre-order new windows and doors	\$	31,700.00
	ical Pre-order most mechanical equipment Lay out plaster cuts prior to abatement	\$	54,894.00
•	al Pre-order switchgear and other electrical equipment Lay out plaster cuts prior to abatement Disconnect existing house electrical panel Connect temporary construction power	\$	13,600.00
	ng Pre-order most plumbing equipment Lay out plaster cuts prior to abatement	\$	25,600.00
	Conditions Includes all supervision, site services, and other General Conditions	\$	40,300.00

5800 E. 58th Ave. Unit K Commerce City, CO 80022 andy@heritagewindowrestoration.com 720-435-6750

	anticipated from October 1, 2022 through December 31, 2022.		
Bond		\$ 10,000.00	
٠	Incudes initial bond cost		
Overhe	ead and Profit	\$ 57,047.00	
Phase 1	I Construction GMP	\$ 532,441.00	

Completion Deadline

The Scope of Work and GMP for Phase I Construction has been designed to cover all work running from October 1, 2022 through December 31, 2022. It is not anticipated, however, that all work in the Phase I Scope will have been completed by December 31, 2022, so this date shall not be construed as a Project Completion Deadline. When the Phase II Construction GMP is proposed, a Project Completion Deadline will be proposed.

TOWN OF ERIE SCHOFIELD FARM HOUSE REHABILITATION CMAR CONTRACT

THIS AGREEMENT is by and between the Town of Erie, herein after called "Owner", and A&M Renovations, LLC, hereinafter called "Contractor". Owner and Contractor hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 – WORK

1.01 Contractor shall complete all Work as specified in the Schofield Farm House Rehabilitation 100% Construction Drawings and Technical Specifications including all Attachments.

ARTICLE 2 – THE PROJECT

2.01 The Project, of which the Work is a part, is generally described as follows: The Town proposes the rehabilitation of the historic farm house located at Schofield Farm, including: Re-grade around house to achieve positive drainage away from foundation, including removal of vegetation and establishment of dry zone, removal of non-historic planters and additions, rehabilitate the foundation system, floor and ceiling systems, roof framing system, exterior walls, exterior finishes, exterior masonry, exterior appendages, replacement of roof with historically appropriate material, rehabilitate exterior doors and windows, interior walls, interior ceilings, interior doors, interior windows, interior trim and built-ins, heating and air conditioning systems, ventilation system, lighting (exterior and interior), and fire detection/suppression (if needed). All rehabilitation activities shall conform to comply with Owner zoning requirements, the 2020 National Electrical Code, the 2015 International Building Code, and the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties.

ARTICLE 3 – ARCHITECT

- 3.01 The part of the Project that pertains to the Work is being designed by Form+Works Design Group and its subcontractors.
- 3.02 The Owner has not retained an Owner's representative for this project.

ARTICLE 4 – CONTRACT TIMES

- 4.01 *Contract Time:*
 - A. A Notice to Proceed for the preconstruction phase services is expected to be delivered within fourteen (14) calendar days of execution of this agreement.
 - B. The Contract Time for pre-construction phase services shall be negotiated and agreed upon with the Owner and Form+Works Design Group.
 - C. The Contract Time and the date by which Substantial Completion should be achieved for construction phase services will be negotiated between the Parties as part of the Parties' negotiation and agreement upon the Contractor's Guaranteed Maximum Price ("GMP"). The Contractor's GMP will be established following the completion of 100% construction drawings and specifications. The construction phase will not begin until the parties have agreed upon the Contract Time, the date by which Substantial Completion should be achieved, and the GMP.
 - D. Work will be substantially completed as provided in Paragraph 4.01 of the General Conditions, and completed and ready for final payment in accordance with Paragraph 15.06 of the General Conditions.

4.02 Liquidated Damages

A. Because time is of the essence and delayed performance causes a compensable, yet difficult to precisely ascertain, damage to the Town and its residents, the liquidated damages established in this Section shall be enforced. Such damages are not a penalty. For each day Final Completion is delayed after the Final Completion date stated in the Construction Contract, as modified through approved change orders, Contractor shall be assessed the following amounts which constitute a reasonable estimate of the actual damages such delay would cause the Town:

Contract Price	Amount per day
\$0-\$50,000	\$350
\$50,000-\$100,000	\$380
\$100,000-\$250,000	\$440
\$250,000-\$500,000	\$520
\$500,000-\$1,000,000	\$640
\$1,000,000-\$2,000,000	\$820
\$2,000,000-\$4,000,000	\$1,080
\$4,000,000-\$8,000,000	\$1,450
\$8,000,000-\$12,000,000	\$1,820
\$12,000,000 or greater	\$2,250

B. Allowing Contractor to continue and finish the Work or any part thereof after the Final Completion date shall not operate as a waiver on the part of the Town of any of its rights under the Contract Documents. Any liquidated damages assessed shall not relieve Contractor from liability for any damages or costs of other contractors caused by a failure of Contractor to complete the Work in the Contract Time. Liquidated damages may be deducted from any payment due Contractor or the retainage. If the liquidated damages exceed the amount owed to Contractor, Contractor shall reimburse the Town.

ARTICLE 5 – CONTRACT PRICE

- 5.01 For pre-construction phase services:
 - A. In full consideration of Contractor's Services during the Pre-Construction Phase of this contract, Owner will pay to Contractor the Pre-Construction Phase Fee, based on proposed time and materials, which is a stipulated maximum not to exceed sum of **Eighteen Thousand, Two Hundred Forty-Four Dollars and no cents (\$18,244.00)** inclusive of all expense and disbursements payable proportionally on a monthly basis based on the amount of effort expended by the Contractor. The Pre-Construction Phase Fee is no included in the GMP and is payable in addition to the GMP.
- 5.02 In full consideration of Contractor's Services during the Construction Phase of this Contract, Owner and Contractor will establish a Guaranteed Maximum Price. As agreed by the Owner and Contractor, the Guaranteed Maximum Price is for performance of the Work in accordance with the Construction Documents included in this contract is an amount guaranteeing the maximum cost to the Owner for the Cost of the Work, plus the Contractor's Fee in accordance with Article 11.04 of the Agreement.

5.03 For construction phase services, the Contract will be amended at a later date as mutually agreed by Owner and Contractor, following 100% construction document completion, development of a mutually agreed upon GMP, and establishment of a Contract Time and Substantial Completion Date.

ARTICLE 6 – PAYMENT PROCEDURES

- 6.01 Submittal and Processing of Payments
 - A. Contractor shall submit Applications for Payment in accordance with Article 15 of the General Conditions. Applications for Payment will be processed by Engineer as provided in the General Conditions.
- 6.02 Construction Phase Services Progress Payments; Retainage
 - A. For construction phase services, the contract will be amended at a later date, following 100% design document completion and development of a mutually agreed upon GMP. The amendment will include provisions for progress payment and retainage.

ARTICLE 7 – NOT USED

ARTICLE 8 – CONTRACTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS

- 8.01 In order to induce Owner to enter into this Contract, Contractor makes the following representations:
 - A. Contractor has examined and carefully studied the Contract Documents and any data and reference items identified in the Contract Documents.
 - B. Contractor has visited the Site, conducted a thorough, alert visual examination of the Site and adjacent areas, and become familiar with and is satisfied as to the general, local, and Site conditions that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
 - C. Contractor is familiar with and is satisfied as to all federal, state, and local Laws and Regulations that may affect cost, progress, and performance of the Work.
 - D. Prior to the parties' agreement on the GMP, Contractor will carefully study all: (1) reports of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or adjacent to the Site and all drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site that have been identified in the RFP, if any, especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings, and (2) reports and drawings relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions, if any, at or adjacent to the Site that have been identified in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, especially with respect to Technical Data in such reports and drawings.
 - 1. Contractor accepts the determination set forth in the General Conditions and Supplementary Conditions, if any, of the extent of the Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings upon which Contractor is entitled to rely as provided in Article 5 of the General Conditions.
 - 2. Contractor acknowledges that such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents and may not be complete for Contractor's purposes.
 - 3. Contractor acknowledges that Owner and Engineer do not assume responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect to Underground Facilities at or adjacent to the Site. Cost and time adjustments resulting from inaccuracies or completeness shall be made pursuant to Section 5.05 of the General Conditions.
 - E. Prior to the parties' agreement on the GMP, Contractor will consider the information known to Contractor itself; information commonly known to Contractors doing business in the locality of the

Site; information and observations obtained from visits to the Site; the Contract Documents; and the Site-related reports and drawings identified in the Contract Documents, with respect to the effect of such information, observations, and documents on (1) the cost, progress, and performance of the Work; (2) the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor; and (3) Contractor's safety precautions and programs.

- F. Based on the information and observations referred to in the preceding paragraph, Contractor agrees that no further examinations, investigations, explorations, tests, studies, or data are necessary for the performance of the Work at the Contract Price, within the Contract Times, and in accordance with the other terms and conditions of the Contract.
- G. Contractor is aware of the general nature of work to be performed by Owner and others at the Site that relates to the Work as indicated in the Contract Documents.
- H. Prior to the parties' agreement on the GMP, Contractor will give Engineer written notice of all conflicts, errors, ambiguities, or discrepancies that Contractor has discovered in the Contract Documents, and the written resolution thereof by Engineer through issued addendum or addenda which is acceptable to Contractor, and the Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work. When said conflicts, etc., have not been resolved through interpretation or clarification by Engineer, because of insufficient time or otherwise, Contractor has included in the GMP the greater quantity or better quality of Work, or compliance with the more stringent requirement resulting in a greater cost; and said greater cost is included in the Contract Price.
- I. The Contract Documents are generally sufficient to indicate and convey understanding of all terms and conditions for performance and furnishing of the Work.
- J. Contractor's entry into this Contract and subsequent agreement on the GMP constitutes an incontrovertible representation by Contractor that without exception all prices in the Agreement are premised upon performing and furnishing the Work required by the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 9 – CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

- 9.01 Contents
 - A. The Contract Documents consist of the following:
 - 1. This Agreement (pages 1 to 8, inclusive).
 - 2. Amendment of this Agreement following the Parties' agreement on the GMP.
 - 3. Performance bond (pages 1 to 3, inclusive).
 - 4. Payment bond (pages 1 to 3, inclusive).
 - 5. General Conditions (pages 1 to 98, inclusive).
 - 6. The following which may be delivered or issued on or after the Effective Date of the Contract and are not attached hereto:
 - a. Notice to Proceed, Work Change Directives, Change Orders, and Field Orders.
 - B. The documents listed in Paragraph 9.01.A are attached to this Agreement (except as expressly noted otherwise above).
 - C. There are no Contract Documents other than those listed above in this Article 9.
 - D. The Contract Documents may only be amended, modified, or supplemented as provided in the General Conditions.
ARTICLE 10 – MISCELLANEOUS

10.01 Terms

- A. Terms used in this Agreement will have the meanings stated in the General Conditions.
- 10.02 Assignment of Contract
 - A. Unless expressly agreed to elsewhere in the Contract, no assignment by a party hereto of any rights under or interests in the Contract will be binding on another party hereto without the written consent of the party sought to be bound; and, specifically but without limitation, money that may become due and money that is due may not be assigned without such consent (except to the extent that the effect of this restriction may be limited by law), and unless specifically stated to the contrary in any written consent to an assignment, no assignment will release or discharge the assignor from any duty or responsibility under the Contract Documents.
- 10.03 Successors and Assigns
 - A. Owner and Contractor each binds itself, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives to the other party hereto, its successors, assigns, and legal representatives in respect to all covenants, agreements, and obligations contained in the Contract Documents.

10.04 Severability

A. Any provision or part of the Contract Documents held to be void or unenforceable under any Law or Regulation shall be deemed stricken, and all remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and binding upon Owner and Contractor, who agree that the Contract Documents shall be reformed to replace such stricken provision or part thereof with a valid and enforceable provision that comes as close as possible to expressing the intention of the stricken provision.

10.05 Contractor's Certifications

- A. Contractor certifies that it has not engaged in corrupt, fraudulent, collusive, or coercive practices in competing for or in executing the Contract. For the purposes of this Paragraph 10.05:
 - 1. "corrupt practice" means the offering, giving, receiving, or soliciting of anything of value likely to influence the action of a public official in the selection process or in the Contract execution;
 - 2. "fraudulent practice" means an intentional misrepresentation of facts made (a) to influence the selection process or the execution of the Contract to the detriment of Owner, (b) to establish Bid or Contract prices at artificial non-competitive levels, or (c) to deprive Owner of the benefits of free and open competition;
 - 3. "collusive practice" means a scheme or arrangement between two or more Bidders, with or without the knowledge of Owner, a purpose of which is to establish Bid prices at artificial, non-competitive levels; and
 - 4. "coercive practice" means harming or threatening to harm, directly or indirectly, persons or their property to influence their participation in the selection process or affect the execution of the Contract.
- 10.06 Access to Work
 - A. Owner, its officers, employees, agents and representatives, at all times shall have access to the Work whenever it is in preparation or progress, and Contractor shall provide proper facilities for such access and inspection by them.

10.07 Indemnification

A. Contractor shall defend, indemnify and save harmless Owner, its officers and employees consistent with the terms of the indemnity related provisions set forth in the General Conditions of the Contract including, without limitation, Articles 5.02.A.2, 5.06.J, 7.10.B, 7.18.A and 8.03.D.

10.08 **Unemployment Compensation Fund Payment**

- A. Contractor shall pay to the Unemployment Compensation Fund of the State of Colorado, unemployment contributions and interest due under the laws of the State of Colorado on wages paid to individuals employed in the performance of this Contract.
- Contractor shall submit, when requested, evidence satisfactory to Owner that all payrolls, material B. bills, and other indebtedness pertaining to the aforesaid work have been paid.
- 10.09 Payment of Workman's Compensation
 - A. Contractor shall procure a policy, or policies, or insurance which shall guarantee payment of compensation according to the Workmen's Compensation Laws of Colorado for all workmen injured in the scope of employment; and further agrees to keep said policy, or policies, in full force and effect throughout the terms of this Contract. In addition, all other insurance in any way required of Contractor shall be procured by Contractor and kept in force by Contractor throughout the term of this Contract. Certificate or certificates of insurance, or copies of policies, if required by any Department of the Owner, shall be filed by Contractor with the Owner.

10.10 Payment of Employee and Mechanics Claims

Contractor shall pay all just claims due for the payment of all employees and mechanics for labor that shall be performed, for the payment of all material and equipment furnished, and for the payment of material and equipment rental which is actually used or rented in the performance of the Contract.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Owner and Contractor have signed this Agreement in triplicate. One counterpart each has been delivered to Owner, Contractor, and Engineer. All portions of the Contract Documents have been signed, initialed or identified by Owner and Contractor or identified by Engineer on their behalf. 5/2/2022 | 10:19 AM MDT

This Agreement will be effective on	(which is the Effective Date of the Contract).
OWNER:	CONTRACTOR:
Town of Erie	A&M Renovations, LLC
DocuSigned by:	DocuSigned by:
By: Abok Hammer	By: Grig Counter
Title: Director of Parks and Recreation	Title:
DocuSigned by:	(If CONTRACTOR is a corporation, a partnership, or a joint venture, attach evidence of authority to sign.)
Attest:	Attest: Indy Carlson
Town Clerk Title:	Title: Project Executive

Address for giving notices:

Address for giving notices:

645 Holbrook	5800 East 58th
P.O. Box 750 Erie, CO 80516	Commerce City, CO 80022

License No.:

(where applicable)

END OF SECTION

PERFORMANCE BOND

CONTRACTOR (name and address):

SURETY (name and address of principal place of *business*):

OWNER (name and address):	CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT
Town of Erie	Effective Date of the Agreement:
645 Holbrook Street	Amount:
Erie, CO 80516	Description: Town of Coal Creek Park Final Phase
BOND	
Bond Number:	
Date (not earlier than the Effective Date of the Agreement of	the Construction Contract):
Amount:	
Modifications to this Bond Form: None	See Paragraph 16
Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound he	reby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause

this Performance Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative.

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL S		SURETY			
		(Seal)			(Seal)
Contract	or's Name and Corporate Seal		Surety's	Name and Corporate Seal	
By:			By:		
	Signature			Signature (Attach Power of Attorney)	
	Print Name		_	Print Name	
A ttoat:	Title		-	Title	
Attest:	Signature		_ Attest:	Signature	
	Title		_	Title	

Notes: (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable.

1. The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns to the Owner for the performance of the Construction Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference.

2. If the Contractor performs the Construction Contract, the Surety and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this Bond, except when applicable to participate in a conference as provided in Paragraph 3.

3. If there is no Owner Default under the Construction Contract, the Surety's obligation under this Bond shall arise after:

The Owner first provides notice to the Contractor and the 3.1 Surety that the Owner is considering declaring a Contractor Default. Such notice shall indicate whether the Owner is requesting a conference among the Owner, Contractor, and Surety to discuss the Contractor's performance. If the Owner does not request a conference, the Surety may, within five (5) business days after receipt of the Owner's notice, request such a conference. If the Surety timely requests a conference, the Owner shall attend. Unless the Owner agrees otherwise, any conference requested under this Paragraph 3.1 shall be held within ten (10) business days of the Surety's receipt of the Owner's notice. If the Owner, the Contractor, and the Surety agree, the Contractor shall be allowed a reasonable time to perform the Construction Contract, but such an agreement shall not waive the Owner's right, if any, subsequently to declare a Contractor Default:

3.2 The Owner declares a Contractor Default, terminates the Construction Contract and notifies the Surety; and

3.3 The Owner has agreed to pay the Balance of the Contract Price in accordance with the terms of the Construction Contract to the Surety or to a contractor selected to perform the Construction Contract.

4. Failure on the part of the Owner to comply with the notice requirement in Paragraph 3.1 shall not constitute a failure to comply with a condition precedent to the Surety's obligations, or release the Surety from its obligations, except to the extent the Surety demonstrates actual prejudice.

5. When the Owner has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 3, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense take one of the following actions:

5.1 Arrange for the Contractor, with the consent of the Owner, to perform and complete the Construction Contract;

5.2 Undertake to perform and complete the Construction Contract itself, through its agents or independent contractors;

5.3 Obtain bids or negotiated proposals from qualified contractors acceptable to the Owner for a contract for performance and completion of the Construction Contract, arrange for a contract to be prepared for execution by the Owner and a contractor selected with the Owners concurrence, to be secured with performance and payment bonds executed by a qualified surety equivalent to the bonds issued on the Construction Contract, and pay to the Owner

the amount of damages as described in Paragraph 7 in excess of the Balance of the Contract Price incurred by the Owner as a result of the Contractor Default; or

5.4 Waive its right to perform and complete, arrange for completion, or obtain a new contractor, and with reasonable promptness under the circumstances:

5.4.1 After investigation, determine the amount for which it may be liable to the Owner and, as soon as practicable after the amount is determined, make payment to the Owner; or

5.4.2 Deny liability in whole or in part and notify the Owner, citing the reasons for denial.

6. If the Surety does not proceed as provided in Paragraph 5 with reasonable promptness, the Surety shall be deemed to be in default on this Bond seven (7) days after receipt of an additional written notice from the Owner to the Surety demanding that the Surety perform its obligations under this Bond, and the Owner shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the Owner. If the Surety proceeds as provided in Paragraph 5.4, and the Owner refuses the payment or the Surety has denied liability, in whole or in part, without further notice the Owner shall be entitled to enforce any remedy available to the Owner.

7. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.2, or 5.3, then the responsibilities of the Surety to the Owner shall not be greater than those of the Contractor under the Construction Contract, and the responsibilities of the Owner to the Surety shall not be greater than those of the Owner under the Construction Contract. Subject to the commitment by the Owner to pay the Balance of the Contract Price, the Surety is obligated, without duplication for:

7.1 the responsibilities of the Contractor for correction of defective work and completion of the Construction Contract;

7.2 additional legal, design professional, and delay costs resulting from the Contractor's Default, and resulting from the actions or failure to act of the Surety under Paragraph 5; and

7.3 liquidated damages, or if no liquidated damages are specified in the Construction Contract, actual damages caused by delayed performance or non-performance of the Contractor.

8. If the Surety elects to act under Paragraph 5.1, 5.3, or 5.4, the Surety's liability is limited to the amount of this Bond.

9. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner or others for obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to the Construction Contract, and the Balance of the Contract Price shall not be reduced or set off on account of any such unrelated obligations. No right of action shall accrue on this Bond to any person or entity other than the Owner or its heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns.

10. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations.

11. Any proceeding, legal or equitable, under this Bond may be instituted in any court of competent jurisdiction in the location in which

the work or part of the work is located and shall be instituted within two years after a declaration of Contractor Default or within two years after the Contractor ceased working or within two years after the Surety refuses or fails to perform its obligations under this Bond, whichever occurs first. If the provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum periods of limitations available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable.

12. Notice to the Surety, the Owner, or the Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address shown on the page on which their signature appears.

13. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or other legal requirement in the location where the construction was to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein. When so furnished, the intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a common law bond.

14. Definitions

14.1 Balance of the Contract Price: The total amount payable by the Owner to the Contractor under the Construction Contract after all proper adjustments have been made including allowance for the Contractor for any amounts received or to be received by the Owner in settlement of insurance or other claims for damages to which the Contractor is entitled, reduced by all valid and proper payments made to or on behalf of the Contractor under the Construction Contract.

14.2 Construction Contract: The agreement between the Owner and Contractor identified on the cover page, including all Contract Documents and changes made to the agreement and the Contract Documents.

14.3 Contractor Default: Failure of the Contractor, which has not been remedied or waived, to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the Construction Contract.

14.4 Owner Default: Failure of the Owner, which has not been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor as required under the Construction Contract or to perform and complete or comply with the other material terms of the Construction Contract.

14.5 Contract Documents: All the documents that comprise the agreement between the Owner and Contractor.

15. If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a contractor and subcontractor, the term Contractor in this Bond shall be deemed to be Subcontractor and the term Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor.

16. Modifications to this Bond are as follows:

PAYMENT BOND

CONTRACTOR (name and address):

SURETY (name and address of principal place of business):

OWNER (name and address):	CONSTRUCTION CONTRACT
Town of Erie	Effective Date of the Agreement:
645 Holbrook Street	Amount:
Erie, CO 80516	Description: Town of Coal Creek Park Final Phase
BOND	
Bond Number:	
Date (not earlier than the Effective Date of the Agreeme	nt of the Construction Contract):
Amount:	
Modifications to this Bond Form: None	See Paragraph 18

Surety and Contractor, intending to be legally bound hereby, subject to the terms set forth below, do each cause this Payment Bond to be duly executed by an authorized officer, agent, or representative.

CONTRACTOR AS PRINCIPAL			SURETY		
		(Seal)			(Seal)
Contractor's Name and Corporate Seal			Surety's Name and Corporate Seal		
By:			By:		
	Signature			Signature (Attach Power of Attorney)	
	Print Name		_	Print Name	
Attest:	Title		Attest:	Title	
	Signature		_	Signature	
	Title		-	Title	

Notes: (1) Provide supplemental execution by any additional parties, such as joint venturers. (2) Any singular reference to Contractor, Surety, Owner, or other party shall be considered plural where applicable.

- 1. The Contractor and Surety, jointly and severally, bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns to the Owner to pay for labor, materials, and equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract, which is incorporated herein by reference, subject to the following terms.
- 2. If the Contractor promptly makes payment of all sums due to Claimants, and defends, indemnifies, and holds harmless the Owner from claims, demands, liens, or suits by any person or entity seeking payment for labor, materials, or equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract, then the Surety and the Contractor shall have no obligation under this Bond.
- 3. If there is no Owner Default under the Construction Contract, the Surety's obligation to the Owner under this Bond shall arise after the Owner has promptly notified the Contractor and the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 13) of claims, demands, liens, or suits against the Owner or the Owner's property by any person or entity seeking payment for labor, materials, or equipment furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract, and tendered defense of such claims, demands, liens, or suits to the Contractor and the Surety.
- 4. When the Owner has satisfied the conditions in Paragraph 3, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Owner against a duly tendered claim, demand, lien, or suit.
- 5. The Surety's obligations to a Claimant under this Bond shall arise after the following:
 - 5.1 Claimants who do not have a direct contract with the Contractor,
 - 5.1.1 have furnished a written notice of nonpayment to the Contractor, stating with substantial accuracy the amount claimed and the name of the party to whom the materials were, or equipment was, furnished or supplied or for whom the labor was done or performed, within ninety (90) days after having last performed labor or last furnished materials or equipment included in the Claim; and
 - 5.1.2 have sent a Claim to the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 13).
 - 5.2 Claimants who are employed by or have a direct contract with the Contractor have sent a Claim to the Surety (at the address described in Paragraph 13).
- 6. If a notice of non-payment required by Paragraph 5.1.1 is given by the Owner to the Contractor, that is

sufficient to satisfy a Claimant's obligation to furnish a written notice of non-payment under Paragraph 5.1.1.

- 7. When a Claimant has satisfied the conditions of Paragraph 5.1 or 5.2, whichever is applicable, the Surety shall promptly and at the Surety's expense take the following actions:
 - 7.1 Send an answer to the Claimant, with a copy to the Owner, within sixty (60) days after receipt of the Claim, stating the amounts that are undisputed and the basis for challenging any amounts that are disputed; and
 - 7.2 Pay or arrange for payment of any undisputed amounts.
 - 7.3 The Surety's failure to discharge its obligations under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2 shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver of defenses the Surety or Contractor may have or acquire as to a Claim, except as to undisputed amounts for which the Surety and Claimant have reached agreement. If, however, the Surety fails to discharge its obligations under Paragraph 7.1 or 7.2, the Surety shall indemnify the Claimant for the reasonable attorney's fees the Claimant incurs thereafter to recover any sums found to be due and owing to the Claimant.
- 8. The Surety's total obligation shall not exceed the amount of this Bond, plus the amount of reasonable attorney's fees provided under Paragraph 7.3, and the amount of this Bond shall be credited for any payments made in good faith by the Surety.
- 9. Amounts owed by the Owner to the Contractor under the Construction Contract shall be used for the performance of the Construction Contract and to satisfy claims, if any, under any construction performance bond. By the Contractor furnishing and the Owner accepting this Bond, they agree that all funds earned by the Contractor in the performance of the Construction Contract are dedicated to satisfy obligations of the Contractor and Surety under this Bond, subject to the Owner's priority to use the funds for the completion of the work.
- 10. The Surety shall not be liable to the Owner, Claimants, or others for obligations of the Contractor that are unrelated to the Construction Contract. The Owner shall not be liable for the payment of any costs or expenses of any Claimant under this Bond, and shall have under this Bond no obligation to make payments to or give notice on behalf of Claimants, or otherwise have any obligations to Claimants under this Bond.
- 11. The Surety hereby waives notice of any change, including changes of time, to the Construction Contract or to related subcontracts, purchase orders, and other obligations.
- 12. No suit or action shall be commenced by a Claimant under this Bond other than in a court of competent

jurisdiction in the state in which the project that is the subject of the Construction Contract is located or after the expiration of one year from the date (1) on which the Claimant sent a Claim to the Surety pursuant to Paragraph 5.1.2 or 5.2, or (2) on which the last labor or service was performed by anyone or the last materials or equipment were furnished by anyone under the Construction Contract, whichever of (1) or (2) first occurs. If the provisions of this paragraph are void or prohibited by law, the minimum period of limitation available to sureties as a defense in the jurisdiction of the suit shall be applicable.

- 13. Notice and Claims to the Surety, the Owner, or the Contractor shall be mailed or delivered to the address shown on the page on which their signature appears. Actual receipt of notice or Claims, however accomplished, shall be sufficient compliance as of the date received.
- 14. When this Bond has been furnished to comply with a statutory or other legal requirement in the location where the construction was to be performed, any provision in this Bond conflicting with said statutory or legal requirement shall be deemed deleted herefrom and provisions conforming to such statutory or other legal requirement shall be deemed incorporated herein. When so furnished, the intent is that this Bond shall be construed as a statutory bond and not as a common law bond.
- 15. Upon requests by any person or entity appearing to be a potential beneficiary of this Bond, the Contractor and Owner shall promptly furnish a copy of this Bond or shall permit a copy to be made.

16. Definitions

- 16.1 **Claim:** A written statement by the Claimant including at a minimum:
 - 1. The name of the Claimant;
 - 2. The name of the person for whom the labor was done, or materials or equipment furnished;
 - 3. A copy of the agreement or purchase order pursuant to which labor, materials, or equipment was furnished for use in the performance of the Construction Contract;
 - 4. A brief description of the labor, materials, or equipment furnished;
 - 5. The date on which the Claimant last performed labor or last furnished materials or equipment for use in the performance of the Construction Contract;

- 6. The total amount earned by the Claimant for labor, materials, or equipment furnished as of the date of the Claim;
- 7. The total amount of previous payments received by the Claimant; and
- 8. The total amount due and unpaid to the Claimant for labor, materials, or equipment furnished as of the date of the Claim.
- 16.2 Claimant: An individual or entity having a direct contract with the Contractor or with a subcontractor of the Contractor to furnish labor, materials, or equipment for use in the performance of the Construction Contract. The term Claimant also includes any individual or entity that has rightfully asserted a claim under an applicable mechanic's lien or similar statute against the real property upon which the Project is located. The intent of this Bond shall be to include without limitation in the terms of "labor, materials, or equipment" that part of the water, gas, power, light, heat, oil, gasoline, telephone service, or rental equipment used in the Construction Contract, architectural and engineering services required for performance of the work of the Contractor and the Contractor's subcontractors, and all other items for which a mechanic's lien may be asserted in the jurisdiction where the labor, materials, or equipment were furnished.
- 16.3 **Construction Contract:** The agreement between the Owner and Contractor identified on the cover page, including all Contract Documents and all changes made to the agreement and the Contract Documents.
- 16.4 **Owner Default**: Failure of the Owner, which has not been remedied or waived, to pay the Contractor as required under the Construction Contract or to perform and complete or comply with the other material terms of the Construction Contract.
- 16.5 **Contract Documents:** All the documents that comprise the agreement between the Owner and Contractor.
- 17. If this Bond is issued for an agreement between a contractor and subcontractor, the term Contractor in this Bond shall be deemed to be Subcontractor and the term Owner shall be deemed to be Contractor.

GENERAL CONDITIONS OF THE CMAR CONTRACT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE	1 – Definitions and Terminology	Page
1.01	Defined Terms	
1.02	Terminology	15
ARTICLE	2 – Preliminary Matters	
2.01	Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance	
2.02	Copies of Documents	
2.03	Before Starting Construction	16
2.04	Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives	17
2.05	Initial Acceptance of Schedules	17
2.06	Electronic Transmittals	17
ARTICLE	3 – Documents: Intent, Requirements, Reuse	
3.01	Intent	18
3.02	Reference Standards	18
3.03	Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies	18
3.04	Requirements of the Contract Documents	19
3.05	Reuse of Documents	19
ARTICLE	4 – Commencement and Progress of the Work	
4.01	Commencement of Contract Times; Notice to Proceed	20
4.02	Starting the Work	20
4.03	Reference Points and Line and Grade Stakes	20
4.04	Progress Schedule	20
4.05	Delays in Contractor's Progress	22
	5 – Availability of Lands; Subsurface and Physical Conditions; Hazardous ntal Conditions	
5.01	Availability of Lands	23
5.02	Use of Site and Other Areas	24
5.03	Subsurface and Physical Conditions	25
5.04	Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions	25
5.05	Underground Facilities and Utilities	27
5.06	Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site	29
ARTICLE	6 – Bonds and Insurance	
6.01	Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds	

6.02	Insurance—General Provisions
6.03	Contractor's Insurance
6.04	Owner's Liability Insurance
6.05	Property Insurance Error! Bookmark not defined
6.06	Waiver of Rights Error! Bookmark not defined
6.07	Receipt and Application of Property Insurance Proceeds Error! Bookmark not defined
6.08	Costs for Bonds and Insurance
ARTICLE 7	7 – Contractor's Responsibilities
7.01	Supervision and Superintendence
7.02	Labor; Working Hours
7.03	Services, Materials, and Equipment
7.04	"Or Equals"
7.05	Substitutes
7.06	Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others
7.07	Patent Fees and Royalties42
7.08	Permits
7.09	Taxes
7.10	Laws and Regulations
7.11	Record Documents
7.12	Safety and Protection
7.13	Safety Representative
7.14	Hazard Communication Programs
7.15	Emergencies
7.16	Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals
7.17	Contractor's General Warranty and Guarantee
7.18	Indemnification
7.19	Delegation of Professional Design Services
7.20	Value Engineering Change Proposal (VECP)
7.21	Request for Information
7.22	Equal Employment Opportunity Clause
ARTICLE 8	3 – Other Work at the Site
8.01	Other Work
8.02	Coordination
8.03	Legal Relationships
ARTICLE 9	9 – Owner's Responsibilities
9.01	Communications to Contractor

9.02	Replacement of Engineer	59
9.03	Furnish Data	59
9.04	Pay When Due	59
9.05	Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings	59
9.06	Insurance	59
9.07	Change Orders	59
9.08	Inspections, Tests, and Approvals	59
9.09	Limitations on Owner's Responsibilities	59
9.10	Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition	60
9.11	Evidence of Financial Arrangements	60
9.12	Safety Programs	60
CLE 1	0 – Engineer's Status During Construction	. 60
10.01	Owner's Representative	60
10.02	Visits to Site	60
10.03	Construction Manager	60
10.04	Rejecting Defective Work	63
10.05	Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments	64
10.06	Determinations for Unit Price Work	64
10.07	Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work	64
10.08	Limitations on Engineer's Authority and Responsibilities	64
10.09	Compliance with Safety Program	65
CLE 1	1 – Amending the Contract Documents; Changes in the Work	. 65
11.01	Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents	65
11.02	Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work	66
11.03	Unauthorized Changes in the Work	66
11.04	Change of Contract Price	66
11.05	Change of Contract Times	66
11.06	Change Proposals	67
11.07	Execution of Change Orders	67
11.08	Notification to Surety	68
CLE 1	2 – Claims	. 68
12.01	Claims	68
CLE 1	3 – Cost of the Work; Allowances; Unit Price Work	. 69
13.01	Cost of the Work	69
13.02	Allowances	72
13.03	Unit Price Work	72
	9.03 9.04 9.05 9.06 9.07 9.08 9.09 9.10 9.11 9.12 CLE 1 0.01 0.02 0.03 0.04 0.03 0.04 0.05 0.06 0.07 0.08 0.04 0.05 0.06 0.07 0.08 0.09 CLE 1 1.01 1.02 1.03 1.04 1.05 1.04 1.05 1.04 1.05 1.04 1.05 1.04 1.05 1.04 1.05 1.04 1.05 1.04 1.05 1.02 1.03 1.04 1.03 1.04 1.05 1.04 1.05 1.03 1.04 1.03 1.04 1.05 1.04 1.05 1.05 1.00 1.02 1.03 1.04 1.03 1.04 1.05 1.03 1.04 1.05 1.04 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.05 1.05	0.03 Furnish Data 0.04 Pay When Due 0.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings 0.06 Insurance 0.07 Change Orders 0.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals 0.09 Limitations on Owner's Responsibilities 0.00 Indisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition 0.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements 0.12 Safety Programs 0.12 Safety Programs 0.12 Safety Programs 0.12 Safety Programs 0.14 Evidence of Financial Arrangements 0.15 Safety Programs 0.16 Owner's Representative 0.10 Owner's Representative 0.10 Owner's Representative 0.10 Owner's Representative 0.10 Visits to Site 0.103 Construction Maager 1040 Rejecting Defective Work 1050 Bod Drawings, Change Orders and Payments 1006 Determinations for Unit Price Work 1007 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work

ARTICLE 1	4 – Tests and Inspections; Correction, Removal or Acceptance of Defective Work 73
14.01	Access to Work
14.02	Tests, Inspections, and Approvals73
14.03	Defective Work
14.04	Acceptance of Defective Work
14.05	Uncovering Work75
14.06	Owner May Stop the Work76
14.07	Owner May Correct Defective Work
ARTICLE	5 – Payments to Contractor; Set-Offs; Completion; Correction Period76
15.01	Progress Payments76
15.02	Contractor's Warranty of Title
15.03	Substantial Completion
15.04	Partial Use or Occupancy81
15.05	Final Inspection
15.06	Final Payment
15.07	Waiver of Claims
15.08	Correction Period
ARTICLE	6 – Suspension of Work and Termination
16.01	Owner May Suspend Work
16.02	Owner May Terminate for Cause
16.03	Owner May Terminate For Convenience
16.04	Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate
ARTICLE 1	7 – Final Resolution of Disputes
17.01	Methods and Procedures
ARTICLE 1	8 – Miscellaneous
18.01	Giving Notice
18.02	Computation of Times
18.03	Cumulative Remedies
18.04	Limitation of Damages
18.05	No Waiver
18.06	Survival of Obligations
18.07	Controlling Law
18.08	Headings

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS AND TERMINOLOGY

1.01 *Defined Terms*

- A. Wherever used in the RFP Requirements or Contract Documents, a term printed with initial capital letters, including the term's singular and plural forms, will have the meaning indicated in the definitions below. In addition to terms specifically defined, terms with initial capital letters in the Contract Documents include references to identified articles and paragraphs, and the titles of other documents or forms.
 - 1. *Act of God*—Earthquake, lightning strike, tornado, or any other cataclysmic phenomenon of nature beyond Contractor's control causing loss, damage, or injury to the Work.
 - 2. *Addenda*—Written or graphic instruments issued prior to the opening of Proposals which clarify, correct, or change the RFP Requirements or the proposed Contract Documents.
 - 3. *Admixture*—Material other than water, aggregates, hydraulic cement, and fiber reinforcement used as an ingredient of concrete or mortar and added to the batch immediately before or during mixing.
 - 4. *Advertisement*—Public announcement requesting services or bids for work or furnishing materials.
 - 5. *Agreement*—The written instrument, executed by Owner and Contractor, that sets forth the Contract Price and Contract Times, identifies the parties and the Engineer, and designates the specific items that are Contract Documents.
 - 6. *Alley*—Established pedestrian and vehicle access between or behind buildings abutting a street.
 - 7. *Application for Payment*—The form acceptable to Engineer which is to be used by Contractor during the course of the Work in requesting progress or final payments and which is to be accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents.
 - 8. *Arterial Street*—Main road, street, or avenue, primarily for through traffic, with collector roads, streets, or avenues joining it.
 - 9. *Auxiliary Lane*—Portion of roadway adjoining the through traveled way for parking, speed changes, or other purposes supplementary to through traffic movement.
 - 10. Avenue—See Street.
 - 11. Award—Acceptance of a proposal.
 - 12. *Award Date*—Date Owner notifies the successful Proposer of the award or Date of Issuance of the Notice of Award.
 - 13. Award Letter-Letter notifying the successful Proposer of the award.
 - 14. *Backfill*—Operation involving the placement and compaction of materials in a trench or excavation, or surrounding constructed improvements. Also, material(s) used in such an operation.
 - 15. *Base, Base Course*—Layer(s) of designed material constructed on a subbase or subgrade to support the surface material.
 - 16. *Bid*—The offer of a Bidder submitted on the prescribed form setting forth the prices for the Work to be performed.

- 17. *Bid Date*—Date indicated in the Contract Documents on or before which Owner must receive all proposals.
- 18. Bid Opening—Act of publicly declaring a portion or all of Bidder's proposal.
- 19. *Bid Time*—Time indicated in the Contract Documents on or before which Owner must receive all proposals.
- 20. Bidder—An individual or entity that submits a Bid to Owner.
- 21. Bidding Documents—The RFP, the proposed Contract Documents, and all Addenda.
- 22. *Blended Hydraulic Cement*—See ASTM C595, Standard Specification for Blended Hydraulic Cements.
- 23. *Bond*—A promissory note provided by a Surety.
- 24. Borrow Material-Material taken from the borrow pit.
- 25. Borrow Pit—Excavation site that provides material for use in another location.
- 26. *Borrow Site*—The source or approved material required for the construction of earthwork requirements, from locations shown in the plans or proposed by Contractor.
- 27. Brick Pavement-Existing brick streets.
- 28. *Calendar Day*—Every day, beginning and ending at midnight, shown on the calendar, including Sundays and holidays.
- 29. *Change Order*—A document which is signed by Contractor and Owner and authorizes an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work or an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or other revision to the Contract, issued on or after the Effective Date of the Contract.
- 30. *Change Proposal*—A written request by Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein, seeking an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the Contract Documents; challenging a set-off against payments due; or seeking other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract.
- 31. *Channel*—A natural or artificial waterway.
- 32. *Claim*—(a) A demand or assertion by Owner directly to Contractor, duly submitted in compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein: seeking an adjustment of Contract Price or Contract Times, or both; contesting an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or the acceptability of Work under the Contract Documents; contesting Engineer's decision regarding a Change Proposal; seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer has declined to address; or seeking other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract; or (b) a demand or assertion by Contractor directly to Owner, duly submitted in compliance with the procedural requirements set forth herein, contesting Engineer's decision regarding a Change Proposal; or seeking resolution of a contractual issue that Engineer has declined to address. A demand for money or services by a third party is not a Claim.
- 33. *Coarse Aggregate*—Mineral aggregate or portion of a mineral aggregate that retains on a #4 sieve.
- 34. *Collector Street*—Street providing access to abutting property that collects local street traffic and feeds an arterial street.

- 35. *Combined Sewers*—Sewer pipes conveying both sanitary and storm water flows. Combined sewers shall be treated as sanitary sewers.
- 36. *Completion Date*—Specific calendar date by which either on or before Contractor must complete all Work.
- 37. Constituent of Concern—Asbestos, petroleum, radioactive materials, polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), hazardous waste, and any substance, product, waste, or other material of any nature whatsoever that is or becomes listed, regulated, or addressed pursuant to (a) the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. §§9601 et seq. ("CERCLA"); (b) the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. §§5101 et seq.; (c) the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §§6901 et seq. ("RCRA"); (d) the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §§2601 et seq.; (e) the Clean Water Act, 33 U.S.C. §§1251 et seq.; (f) the Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C. §§7401 et seq.; or (g) any other federal, state, or local statute, law, rule, regulation, ordinance, resolution, code, order, or decree regulating, relating to, or imposing liability or standards of conduct concerning, any hazardous, toxic, or dangerous waste, substance, or material.
- 38. *Continuous Pavement*—Portion of pavement constructed during a single paving operation.
- 39. *Contract*—The entire and integrated written contract between the Owner and Contractor concerning the Work.
- 40. *Contract Bond*—Security executed by Contractor or its Surety, or sureties, guaranteeing completion of the specified Work and payment of all legal debts pertaining to the Work.
- 41. *Contract Documents*—Those items so designated in the Agreement, and which together comprise the Contract.
- 42. Contract Item—Specific work unit for which the Contract provides a price.
- 43. *Contract Price*—The money that Owner has agreed to pay Contractor for completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- 44. *Contract Times*—The number of days or the dates by which Contractor shall: (a) achieve Milestones, if any; (b) achieve Substantial Completion; and (c) complete the Work.
- 45. *Contractor*—The individual or entity with which Owner has contracted for performance of the Work.
- 46. Cost of the Work—See Paragraph 13.01 for definition.
- 47. *County*—Administrative subdivision of the State used to designate or identify the location of the proposed Work.
- 48. *Culvert*—Structure providing an opening under any roadway excluding bridges, transverse drainage tile, or other intakes designed to aid subsurface drainage. Culverts generally are opened ended on both sides.
- 49. *Department of Roads*—Department of the State of Colorado authorized by law to improve and maintain the State Road System.
- 50. *Detour*—A temporary official route using existing roads to divert traffic around a roadway project.
- 51. *Drainage Ditch*—Artificial open depression, excluding a roadway ditch, constructed for surface water movement.
- 52. *Drawings*—The part of the Contract that graphically shows the scope, extent, and character of the Work to be performed by Contractor.

- 53. *Effective Date of the Contract*—The date, indicated in the Agreement, on which the Contract becomes effective.
- 54. *Embankment*—Area of fill the top of which is constructed to be higher than the surrounding surface or the original surface.
- 55. Engineer—The individual or entity named as such in the Agreement.
- 56. *Engineer's Estimate*—Estimate compiled by Engineer of predicted cost based upon past experience and available information.
- 57. *Equipment*—Machinery, tools, apparatus, and supplies necessary to preserve, maintain, construct, and complete the Work.
- 58. *Excavation*—Operation involving the removal of earth or rock.
- 59. *Excavation Limits*—Vertical and horizontal boundaries established to control the excavation process.
- 60. *Field Order*—A written order issued by Engineer which requires minor changes in the Work but does not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times.
- 61. *Fine Aggregate*—Mineral aggregate or portion of a mineral aggregate that passes through a #4 sieve and retains on a #200 sieve.
- 62. *Foundation Rock*—Trench stabilization material consisting of three (3) inch maximum crushed rock meeting the gradation requirements of Size 2 of ASTM C33, Standard Specification for Concrete Aggregates.
- 63. *Furnished Materials*—Materials provided or made available to Contractor by Owner or other designated source at no cost to Contractor.
- 64. *Haul Road*—Traveled way designated for hauling equipment, materials, or machinery.
- 65. *Hazardous Environmental Condition*—The presence at the Site of Constituents of Concern in such quantities or circumstances that may present a danger to persons or property exposed thereto. The presence at the Site of materials that are necessary for the execution of the Work, or that are to be incorporated in the Work, and that are controlled and contained pursuant to industry practices, Laws and Regulations, and the requirements of the Contract, does not establish a Hazardous Environmental Condition.
- 66. *Incentive/Disincentive*—A Contract provision that compensates or deducts payment to Contractor for critical Work intended to minimize interference and inconvenience to the traveling public and/or reduce construction time.
- 67. Incidental—Minor expense or occurrence that accompanies an item of work.
- 68. *Incidental Work*—Work performed by Contractor that is not directly paid. The cost for providing the work is included in one or more other Contract Price(s).
- 69. *Inspector*—Engineer's authorized representative assigned to make detailed inspections of the Work performed and materials furnished by Contractor.
- 70. *Laws and Regulations; Laws or Regulations*—Any and all applicable laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances, codes, and orders of any and all governmental bodies, agencies, authorities, and courts having jurisdiction.
- 71. *Liens*—Charges, security interests, or encumbrances upon Contract-related funds, real property, or personal property.

- 72. *Liquidated Damages*—A reduction in payment intended to compensate for expenses incurred by Owner due to Contractor's failure to complete the Work on or before the Contract date or within the authorized number of calendar days. Such amounts are not to be considered penalties.
- 73. *Lump Sum*—Bid amount for all work necessary to satisfactorily complete a Contract Item that is not directly measured.
- 74. *Major Work Item*—Work item that Contractor must complete in order to occupy or use the Project for its intended purpose.
- 75. *Materials*—Substance specified for use in the completion of the Work contained in the Contract.
- 76. *Materials Testing Manual*—Manual developed by the City that indicates the testing or inspection guidelines for the Work.
- 77. *Median*—Planted or paved section between two (2) or more lanes in or near the center of the street and not intended for vehicular travel.
- 78. *Milestone*—A principal event in the performance of the Work that the Contract requires Contractor to achieve by an intermediate completion date or by a time prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work.
- 79. *Notice of Award*—The written notice by Owner to a Bidder of Owner's acceptance of the Bid.
- 80. *Notice to Bidders*—Public announcement requesting services or bids for work or furnishing materials.
- 81. *Notice to Proceed*—A written notice by Owner to Contractor fixing the date on which the Contract Times will commence to run and on which Contractor shall start to perform the Work.
- 82. *Owner*—The individual or entity with which Contractor has contracted regarding the Work, and which has agreed to pay Contractor for the performance of the Work, pursuant to the terms of the Contract.
- 83. Partial Payment-See Progress Payment.
- 84. *Pavement Repair*—Individual pavement panels or single lane widths or existing streets designated for reconstruction.
- 85. *Pavement Structure*—Pavement layer(s) constructed atop a subgrade supporting and distributing the traffic load to the roadbed.
- 86. Paving Lane—Full width and length of a layer of pavement constructed at a single time.
- 87. *Payment Bond*—Form of security furnished by Contractor and Surety as a guaranty that all bills and accounts for materials and labor used in the Work will be paid in full.
- 88. *Performance Bond*—Form of security furnished by Contractor and Surety as a guaranty that the Work will be completed in accordance with the terms of the Contract.
- 89. *Permanent Easement*—Strip of land within a larger area to which the property owner grants permanent right-of-access by an individual or legal entity.
- 90. *Plans*—Contract drawings or electronic digital images showing the location, character, and dimensions of the prescribed Work, including layouts, profiles, cross sections, and details.

- 91. *Pre-Approved Source*—A source that is deemed acceptable prior to the submittal of any information.
- 92. *Precast Concrete*—Conventionally reinforced (not pre-stressed) concrete products formed, cast, and cured in a casting yard and later incorporated into the Work.
- 93. *Precast Concrete Pavers*—Concrete bricks that are used in the construction of pavement surfaces (brick streets, crosswalks, etc.).
- 94. *Profile Grade*—Trace of a vertical plane intersecting the top surface of the proposed wearing surface of a road.
- 95. *Progress Payment*—Payment issued for completed portions of the Work or for materials required for the Work that are in inventory and stored on the Project or at a designated location on a specific date.
- 96. *Progress Schedule*—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, describing the sequence and duration of the activities comprising the Contractor's plan to accomplish the Work within the Contract Times.
- 97. *Project*—The total undertaking to be accomplished for Owner by engineers, contractors, and others, including planning, study, design, construction, testing, commissioning, and start-up, and of which the Work to be performed under the Contract Documents is a part.
- 98. *Project Manual*—The written documents prepared for, or made available for, procuring and constructing the Work, including but not limited to the Bidding Documents or other construction procurement documents, geotechnical and existing conditions information, the Agreement, bond forms, General Conditions, Supplementary Conditions, and Specifications. The contents of the Project Manual may be bound in one or more volumes.
- 99. Proposal—Written offer to perform the Work contained in the Contract.
- 100. Proposal Form-Form on which formal proposals are prepared and submitted.
- 101. *Proposal Guaranty*—Security furnished with a proposal guaranteeing the Bidder will enter into the Contract upon acceptance of the proposal.
- 102. *Punchlist* List compiled near the completion of Work indicating the Work remaining and items Contractor must furnish to complete the Work contained in the Contract.
- 103. *Quality Control*—All Contractor/supplier operational techniques and activities that are performed or conducted to fulfill the Contract requirements.
- 104. *Ramp*—Connecting pavement between intersecting surfaces at a grade-separated intersection.
- 105. *Random Crack*—A single crack within a single panel of pavement less than one-eighth $(\frac{1}{8})$ inch wide.
- 106. Rejected Proposal—Proposal rendered invalid by Owner.
- 107. *Resident Project Representative*—The authorized representative(s) of Engineer assigned to assist Engineer with daily observations at the Site.
- 108. *Resources*—Labor, equipment, and materials necessary to perform the Work contained in a Contract Bid Item or other element of Work.
- 109. Responsive Bid—Bid meeting all requirements in the Notice to Bidders.
- 110. *Right-of-Way*—Land, property, or interest acquired for or devoted to drainage, sewer, or transportation purposes.

- 111. Road—See Street.
- 112. *Roadbed*—Graded portion of a street or alley prepared as the subgrade for construction of a pavement structure and shoulders.
- 113. *Roadside*—Area adjoining the outer edge of a street.
- 114. *Samples*—Physical examples of materials, equipment, or workmanship that are representative of some portion of the Work and that establish the standards by which such portion of the Work will be judged.
- 115. *Schedule of Submittals*—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, of required submittals and the time requirements for Engineer's review of the submittals and the performance of related construction activities.
- 116. *Schedule of Values*—A schedule, prepared and maintained by Contractor, allocating portions of the Contract Price to various portions of the Work and used as the basis for reviewing Contractor's Applications for Payment.
- 117. Setback Line—A line outside of the right-of-way, established by public authority, on the road side of which the erection of building or other permanent improvements is controlled.
- 118. *Shop Drawings*—All drawings, diagrams, illustrations, schedules, and other data or information that are specifically prepared or assembled by or for Contractor and submitted by Contractor to illustrate some portion of the Work. Shop Drawings, whether approved or not, are not Drawings and are not Contract Documents.
- 119. *Shoulder*—Portion of the roadway adjacent to the traveled way that can accommodate stopped vehicles for emergency use and for lateral support of base and surface courses.
- 120. *Sidewalk*—Portion of the right-of-way constructed exclusively for pedestrian use.
- 121. *Sieve*—USA Standard Sieve, as defined in AASHTO M92, Standard Specification for Wire-Cloth Sieves for Testing Purposes.
- 122. *Site*—Lands or areas indicated in the Contract Documents as being furnished by Owner upon which the Work is to be performed, including rights-of-way and easements, and such other lands furnished by Owner which are designated for the use of Contractor.
- 123. *Slope*—Inclination of a line or surface.
- 124. *Special Provisions*—Additions, addendums, and revisions to the Standard and Supplemental Specifications applicable to an individual project.
- 125. Specialty Items—Contract Items requiring equipment, skills, or crafts not ordinarily associated with the types of Work in the Contract.
- 126. *Specifications*—The part of the Contract that consists of written requirements for materials, equipment, systems, standards, and workmanship as applied to the Work, and certain administrative requirements and procedural matters applicable to the Work.
- 127. Specified Starting Date—Date upon which Work must begin.
- 128. Sprinklers Distribution Line—Irrigation piping from the valve box to the sprinkler head.
- 129. Sprinklers Trunk Line—Irrigation piping from the water source to the valve box, typically pressurized.
- 130. *Stabilizing or Stabilization*—Incorporation of materials into soils or aggregates to increase load-bearing capacity, firmness, and resistance to weathering or displacement.

- 131. *Standard Plan*—A Colorado Department of Roads detailed drawing approved for repetitive use.
- 132. State—State of Colorado acting through its authorized representatives.
- 133. *Street*—General term denoting a public way for purposes of vehicular travel, including the entire area within the public right-of-way.
- 134. *Structure*—Building, bridge, pipe, culvert, fence, or other item not considered part of the roadway.
- 135. *Subbase Course*—Layer(s) of specified material placed upon a subgrade to support a base or surface course.
- 136. *Subcontractor*—An individual or entity having a direct contract with Contractor or with any other Subcontractor for the performance of a part of the Work.
- 137. *Subgrade*—Top layer of a roadbed upon which the pavement structure, shoulders, and curbs are constructed.
- 138. *Submittal*—Shop drawings, samples, and miscellaneous items or documents submitted by Contractor to Engineer for review. Typical submittals include, but are not limited to, product data and samples, construction schedules, material testing reports, certification letters, warranties, construction photographs, survey data, cost breakdown, permits, plans, and manufacturer installation recommendations.
- 139. Subsidiary—See Incidental.
- 140. *Substantial Completion*—The terms "substantially complete" and "substantially completed" as applied to all or part of the Work refer to Substantial Completion thereof. Unless otherwise indicated in the Contract Documents, "Substantial Completion" shall mean all items of Work have been completed and any acceptance testing requirements have been fulfilled.
- 141. *Successful Bidder*—The Bidder whose Bid the Owner accepts, and to which the Owner (on the basis of Owner's evaluation) makes an award of contract, subject to stated conditions.
- 142. Superintendent—Representative of Contractor charged with responsibility for the Work.
- 143. *Supplemental Specification*—Approved addition or revision to the Standard Specifications.
- 144. *Supplementary Conditions*—The part of the Contract that amends or supplements these General Conditions. Contract Documents may or may not include Supplementary Conditions.
- 145. *Supplier*—A manufacturer, fabricator, supplier, distributor, materialman, or vendor having a direct contract with Contractor or with any Subcontractor to furnish materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work by Contractor or a Subcontractor.
- 146. *Surety*—Individual or legal entity, other than Contractor, executing a bond furnished by Contractor.
- 147. *Surface Course*—Pavement structure layer(s) constructed atop all other pavement layers and designated to accommodate the traffic load.
- 148. *Technical Data*—Those items expressly identified as Technical Data in the Supplementary Conditions, with respect to either (a) subsurface conditions at the Site, or physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except

Underground Facilities) or (b) Hazardous Environmental Conditions at the Site. If no such express identifications of Technical Data have been made with respect to conditions at the Site, then the data contained in boring logs, recorded measurements of subsurface water levels, laboratory test results, and other factual, objective information regarding conditions at the Site that are set forth in any geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor are hereby defined as Technical Data with respect to conditions at the Site under Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.06.

- 149. *Temporary Easement*—Strip of land within a larger area over which the property owner grants a temporary right-of-access to an individual or legal entity.
- 150. *Temporary Pavement*—Pavement layer(s) constructed to provide a temporary service to vehicular traffic.
- 151. *Temporary Structure*—Structure required for maintaining traffic or access during the Work and dismantled upon completion of the Work.
- 152. *Testing Laboratory*—Firm designated to perform testing on any or all Work contained in the Contract.
- 153. *Traffic Control Device*—Sign, signal, marking, or device placed on, over, or adjacent to a street or highway by an authority of the public or official having jurisdiction to regulate, warn, or guide traffic.
- 154. *Traffic Control Zone*—Distance from the first advance warning sign to the point after the work area where traffic is no longer affected.
- 155. *Traffic Lane*—Portion of the traveled way designated for the movement of a single line of vehicles.
- 156. *Traveled Way*—Portion of the right-of-way designated for vehicle use, excluding shoulders and auxiliary lanes.
- 157. Tunneling—A general term for all methods of trenchless sewer construction.
- 158. Unauthorized Work—Work not contemplated by the Contract Documents and not authorized by Engineer or performed contrary to the instructions of Engineer.
- 159. *Unbalanced Proposal*—Proposal containing lump sum or unit priced items that do not reflect reasonable actual costs plus a reasonable proportionate share of Bidder's anticipated profit, overhead costs, and other indirect costs.
- 160. Underground Facilities—All underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, manholes, vaults, tanks, tunnels, or other such facilities or attachments, and any encasements containing such facilities, including but not limited to those that convey electricity, gases, steam, liquid petroleum products, telephone or other communications, fiber optic transmissions, cable television, water, wastewater, storm water, other liquids or chemicals, or traffic or other control systems not otherwise included in the definition of Utility.
- 161. *Unit*—A calculated partition of new pavement construction for the purposes of obtaining cores to determine constructed thicknesses of the new pavement and assessment of applicable pay factors. A unit is a driving lane with a length of four-hundred forty (440) feet. A driving lane is typically twelve (12) to thirteen (13) feet in width.
- 162. Unit Price Work—Work to be paid for on the basis of unit prices.
- 163. Unsuitable Materials—All materials that contain debris, roots, organic, or frozen materials, stones having a maximum dimension larger than three (3) inches for the upper

twelve (12) inches of fill, stones having a maximum dimension larger than six (6) inches for the remainder of the fill, or any other materials determined by Engineer to be unsuitable for providing a stable slope, embankment, backfill, or subgrade.

- 164. *Utility*—All underground pipelines, conduits, ducts, cables, wires, manholes, vaults, or other such facilities or attachments, and any encasements containing such utilities, owned by a company or owner notified by the State of Colorado's "One Call" notification system.
- 165. Waterway—A channel for the escape or passage of water.
- 166. *Work*—The entire construction or the various separately identifiable parts thereof required to be provided under the Contract Documents. Work includes and is the result of performing or providing all labor, services, and documentation necessary to produce such construction; furnishing, installing, and incorporating all materials and equipment into such construction; and may include related services such as testing, start-up, and commissioning, all as required by the Contract Documents.
- 167. *Work Change Directive*—A written directive to Contractor issued on or after the Effective Date of the Contract, signed by Owner and recommended by Engineer, ordering an addition, deletion, or revision in the Work.
- 168. *Working Drawing*—Drawing furnished by Contractor showing sufficient detailed information to build the object shown and described.

1.02 Terminology

- A. The words and terms discussed in the following paragraphs are not defined but, when used in the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents, have the indicated meaning.
- B. Intent of Certain Terms or Adjectives:
 - 1. The Contract Documents include the terms "as allowed," "as approved," "as ordered," "as directed" or terms of like effect or import to authorize an exercise of professional judgment by Engineer. In addition, the adjectives "reasonable," "suitable," "acceptable," "proper," "satisfactory," or adjectives of like effect or import are used to describe an action or determination of Engineer as to the Work. It is intended that such exercise of professional judgment, action, or determination will be solely to evaluate, in general, the Work for compliance with the information in the Contract Documents and with the design concept of the Project as a functioning whole as shown or indicated in the Contract Documents (unless there is a specific statement indicating otherwise). The use of any such term or adjective is not intended to and shall not be effective to assign to Engineer any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work, or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility contrary to the provisions of Article 10 or any other provision of the Contract Documents.
- C. Day:
 - 1. The word "day" means a calendar day of 24 hours measured from midnight to the next midnight, including Saturdays, Sundays and Holidays.
- D. Defective:
 - 1. The word "defective," when modifying the word "Work," refers to Work that is unsatisfactory, faulty, or deficient in that it:
 - a. does not conform to the Contract Documents; or
 - b. does not meet the requirements of any applicable inspection, reference standard, test, or approval referred to in the Contract Documents; or

- c. has been damaged prior to Engineer's recommendation of final payment (unless responsibility for the protection thereof has been assumed by Owner at Substantial Completion in accordance with Paragraph 15.03 or 15.04).
- E. Furnish, Install, Perform, Provide, Supply:
 - 1. The word "furnish" or the word "install" or the word "perform" or the word "provide" or the word "supply", or any combination or similar directive or usage thereof, shall mean furnishing and incorporating in the Work including all necessary labor, materials, equipment, and incidentals necessary to perform the Work indicated, unless specifically limited in the context used.
- F. Unless stated otherwise in the Contract Documents, words or phrases that have a well-known technical or construction industry or trade meaning are used in the Contract Documents in accordance with such recognized meaning.

ARTICLE 2 – PRELIMINARY MATTERS

2.01 Delivery of Bonds and Evidence of Insurance

- A. *Bonds*: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall also deliver to Owner such bonds as Contractor may be required to furnish.
- B. *Evidence of Contractor's Insurance*: When Contractor delivers the executed counterparts of the Agreement to Owner, Contractor shall also deliver to Owner, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, or elsewhere in the Contract), the certificates and other evidence of insurance required to be provided by Contractor in accordance with Article 6.
- C. *Evidence of Owner's Insurance*: After receipt of the executed counterparts of the Agreement and all required bonds and insurance documentation, Owner shall promptly deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, or otherwise), the certificates and other evidence of insurance required to be provided by Owner under Article 6.
- 2.02 *Copies of Documents*
 - A. Owner will furnish to Contractor four printed copies of the Contract Documents (including one fully executed counterpart of the Agreement). Contractor shall have one copy of the Contract Documents available on the Site at all times. Additional printed copies will be furnished upon request at the cost of reproduction.
 - B. Owner shall maintain and safeguard at least one original printed record version of the Contract, including Drawings and Specifications signed and sealed by Engineer and other design professionals. Owner shall make such original printed record version of the Contract available to Contractor for review. Owner may delegate the responsibilities under this provision to Engineer.
- 2.03 Before Starting Construction
 - A. *Preliminary Schedules*:
 - 1. a preliminary Progress Schedule indicating the times (numbers of days or dates) for starting and completing the various stages of the Work, including any Milestones specified in the Contract following the format and submittal procedure described in Article 4.04;
 - 2. a preliminary Schedule of Submittals; and

3. a preliminary Schedule of Values for all of the Work on Lump Sum projects which includes quantities and prices of items which when added together equal the Contract Price and subdivides the Work into component parts in sufficient detail to serve as the basis for progress payments during performance of the Work. Such prices will include an appropriate amount of overhead and profit applicable to each item of Work.

2.04 Preconstruction Conference; Designation of Authorized Representatives

- A. Before any Work at the Site is started, except for Work as allowed in Article 4.02, a preconstruction conference attended by Owner, Contractor, major Subcontractors, Engineer, and others as appropriate will be held to establish a working understanding among the parties as to the Work and to discuss the schedules referred to in Paragraph 2.03.A, procedures for handling Shop Drawings, Samples, and other submittals, processing Applications for Payment, electronic or digital transmittals, and maintaining required records.
- B. At this preconstruction conference Owner and Contractor each shall designate, in writing, a specific individual to act as its authorized representative with respect to the services and responsibilities under the Contract. Such individuals shall have the authority to transmit and receive information, render decisions relative to the Contract, and otherwise act on behalf of each respective party.

2.05 Initial Acceptance of Schedules

- A. Engineer shall review the preliminary Schedule. If the schedule is not acceptable to Engineer, Contractor shall have an additional 14 days after receiving comments from Engineer to make corrections and adjustments and to complete and resubmit the schedules. No progress payment shall be made to Contractor until acceptable schedules are submitted to Engineer.
 - 1. Contractor's Schedule of Submittals will be acceptable to Engineer if it provides a workable arrangement for reviewing and processing the required submittals.
 - 2. Contractor's Schedule of Values will be acceptable to Engineer as to form and substance if it provides a reasonable allocation of the Contract Price to the component parts of the Work.

2.06 *Electronic Transmittals*

- A. Except as otherwise stated elsewhere in the Contract, the Owner, Engineer, and Contractor may transmit, and shall accept, Project-related correspondence, text, data, documents, drawings, information, and graphics, including but not limited to Shop Drawings and other submittals, in electronic media or digital format, either directly, or through access to a secure Project website.
- B. If the Contract does not establish protocols for electronic or digital transmittals, then Owner, Engineer, and Contractor shall jointly develop such protocols.
- C. When transmitting items in electronic media or digital format, the transmitting party makes no representations as to long term compatibility, usability, or readability of the items resulting from the recipient's use of software application packages, operating systems, or computer hardware differing from those used in the drafting or transmittal of the items, or from those established in applicable transmittal protocols.

ARTICLE 3 – DOCUMENTS: INTENT, REQUIREMENTS, REUSE

3.01 Intent

- A. The Contract Documents are complementary; what is required by one is as binding as if required by all.
- B. It is the intent of the Contract Documents to describe a functionally complete project (or part thereof) to be constructed in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- C. Unless otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, if there is a discrepancy between the electronic or digital versions of the Contract Documents (including any printed copies derived from such electronic or digital versions) and the printed record version, the printed record version shall govern.
- D. The Contract supersedes prior negotiations, representations, and agreements, whether written or oral.
- E. Engineer will issue clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents as provided herein.
- F. *Third Party Beneficiary Clause:* The parties executing this Contract specifically agree that the intent of the Contract is not to create any individual or legal entity as a third-party beneficiary. Furthermore, the Contract does not authorize any individual or legal entity not party to the Contract to maintain an action for damages under said Contract provisions.
- 3.02 *Reference Standards*
 - A. Standards Specifications, Codes, Laws and Regulations
 - 1. Reference in the Contract Documents to standard specifications, manuals, standard plates, standard plans, reference standards, or codes of any technical society, organization, or association, or to Laws or Regulations, whether such reference be specific or by implication, shall mean the standard specification, manual, standard plate, standard plan, reference standard, code, or Laws or Regulations in effect at the time of opening of Bids (or on the Effective Date of the Contract if there were no Bids), except as may be otherwise specifically stated in the Contract Documents.
 - 2. No provision of any such standard specification, manual, standard plate, standard plan, reference standard, or code, or any instruction of a Supplier, shall be effective to change the duties or responsibilities of Owner, Contractor, or Engineer, or any of their subcontractors, consultants, agents, or employees, from those set forth in the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer. No such provision or instruction shall be effective to assign to Owner, Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, any duty or authority to supervise or direct the performance of the Work or any duty or authority to undertake responsibility inconsistent with the provisions of the part of the Contract Documents prepared by or for Engineer.

3.03 *Reporting and Resolving Discrepancies*

- A. Reporting Discrepancies:
 - 1. Contractor's Verification of Figures and Field Measurements: Before undertaking each part of the Work, Contractor shall carefully study the Contract Documents, and check and verify pertinent figures and dimensions therein. Contractor shall also compare the Contract Documents with all applicable field measurements. Contractor shall report in writing to Engineer within 24 hours any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy that

Contractor discovers, or has actual knowledge of, and shall not proceed with any Work affected thereby until the conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or interpretation by Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents issued pursuant to Paragraph 11.01.

- 2. *Contractor's Review of Contract Documents*: If, before or during the performance of the Work, Contractor discovers any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy within the Contract Documents, or between the Contract Documents and (a) any applicable Law or Regulation, (b) actual field conditions, (c) any standard specification, manual, standard plate, standard plan, reference standard, or code, or (d) any instruction of any Supplier, then Contractor shall report it to Engineer in writing within 24 hours of discovery. Contractor shall not proceed with the Work affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15) until the conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy is resolved, by a clarification or interpretation by Engineer, or by an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents issued pursuant to Paragraph 11.01.
- 3. Contractor shall not be liable to Owner or Engineer for failure to report any conflict, error, ambiguity, or discrepancy in the Contract Documents unless Contractor had actual knowledge thereof.
- B. Resolving Discrepancies:
 - 1. Engineer shall make a determination in writing upon notification of a discrepancy. Any adjustment by Contractor without such a determination shall be at Contractor's own risk and expense.
- 3.04 *Requirements of the Contract Documents*
 - A. During the performance of the Work and until final payment, Contractor and Owner shall submit to the Engineer all matters in question concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents (sometimes referred to as requests for information or interpretation—RFIs), or relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents, as soon as possible after such matters arise. Engineer will be the initial interpreter of the requirements of the Contract Documents, and judge of the acceptability of the Work thereunder.
 - B. Engineer will render a written clarification, interpretation, or decision on the issue submitted, or initiate an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents. Engineer's written clarification, interpretation, or decision will be final and binding on Contractor, unless it appeals by submitting a Change Proposal, and on Owner, unless it appeals by filing a Claim.
 - C. If a submitted matter in question concerns terms and conditions of the Contract Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will give written notice to Owner and Contractor that Engineer is unable to provide a decision or interpretation. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on resolution of such a matter in question, either party may pursue resolution as provided in Article 12.
- 3.05 *Reuse of Documents*
 - A. Contractor and its Subcontractors and Suppliers shall not:
 - 1. have or acquire any title to or ownership rights in any of the Drawings, Specifications, or other documents (or copies of any thereof) prepared by or bearing the seal of Engineer or its consultants, including electronic media editions, or reuse any such Drawings, Specifications, other documents, or copies thereof on extensions of the Project or any other

project without written consent of Owner and Engineer and specific written verification or adaptation by Engineer; or

- 2. have or acquire any title or ownership rights in any other Contract Documents, reuse any such Contract Documents for any purpose without Owner's express written consent, or violate any copyrights pertaining to such Contract Documents.
- B. The prohibitions of this Paragraph 3.05 will survive final payment, or termination of the Contract. Nothing herein shall preclude Contractor from retaining copies of the Contract Documents for record purposes.

ARTICLE 4 – COMMENCEMENT AND PROGRESS OF THE WORK

- 4.01 Commencement of Construction Phase Services Contract Times; Construction Phase Services Notice to Proceed
 - A. The Contract Times will commence to run on the day indicated in the Notice to Proceed. A Notice to Proceed for the pre-construction phase services is expected to be provided within fourteen (14) calendar days of execution of the agreement.
 - B. The Contract Times will commence to run on the day indicated in the Notice to Proceed. A Notice to Proceed for the construction phase services may be given at any time within thirty (30) calendar days after the Effective Date of the GMP.
- 4.02 *Starting the Work*
 - A. Contractor shall start to perform the Work on the date when the Contract Times commence to run. No Work shall be done at the Site prior to such date, except as allowed in this Article.
- 4.03 *Reference Points and Line and Grade Stakes*
 - A. Owner shall provide engineering surveys to establish reference points for construction and to establish lines and grades. Contractor shall provide Owner 48 regular working hours' notice for construction reference points and line and grade stakes. Contractor is responsible for the Work conforming to such points and stakes. Contractor shall be responsible for laying out the Work, shall protect and preserve the established reference points, line and grade stakes and property monuments, and shall make no changes or relocations without the prior written approval of Owner. Contractor shall report to Engineer whenever any reference point or property monument is lost or destroyed or requires relocation because of necessary changes in grades or locations-
 - B. Should Contractor, during the course of construction, damage or destroy any established property corners or reference points, such monuments shall be replaced by Owner at Contractor's sole and exclusive expense. The Owner's cost for replacement shall be deducted from the Contractor's final payment.
- 4.04 Progress Schedule
 - A. Contractor shall adhere to the Progress Schedule established in accordance with Paragraph 2.05 as it may be adjusted monthly, or as provided below.
 - 1. Contractor shall submit to Engineer for acceptance (to the extent indicated in Paragraph 2.05) proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will not result in changing the Contract Times. Failure to submit acceptable Progress Schedule updates monthly, or as agreed to by Engineer, may result in Owner withholding all or part of progress payments.
 - 2. Proposed adjustments in the Progress Schedule that will change the Contract Times shall be submitted in accordance with the requirements of Article 11.

- B. Progress Schedule Submittal Requirements:
 - 1. For all contracts:
 - a. Contractor shall use a commercially available scheduling software package, including Primavera, ProLog, SureTrak, Microsoft Project, or other software programs approved by Engineer.
 - b. Provide Progress Schedule electronic file in software format being used to create the schedule, if requested by the Engineer.
 - c. Submit two 11" X 17" color copies of the schedule along with a PDF file of the Progress Schedule.
 - d. The submitted schedules shall be legible using no smaller than a 10 pt font for the text on the printed page.
 - e. Title Block: Show name of Project and Owner, OPW Number, date submitted, revision or update number, and name of scheduler. Updated Progress Schedules shall indicate data date.
 - f. No activity duration, exclusive of those for Submittals review and product fabrication/delivery, shall be less than 1 day or more than 14 days, unless otherwise approved by the Engineer.
 - g. Progress Schedule shall begin with the date of Notice to Proceed and conclude with the date of Final Completion showing all Milestone dates.
 - h. Progress Schedule Float shall comply with the following:
 - 1) Float is a project resource available to both parties to meet contract Milestones and Contract Times.
 - 2) Use of float suppression techniques such as preferential sequencing or logic, special lead/lag logic restraints, and extended activity times are prohibited and use of float time disclosed or implied by use of alternate float-suppression techniques shall be shared to proportionate benefit of Owner and Contractor.
 - 3) Pursuant to above float-sharing requirement, no time extensions will be granted nor delay damages paid until a delay occurs which (i) impacts Project's critical path, (ii) consumes available float or contingency time, and (iii) extends Work beyond contract completion date.
 - i. Show progress of Work to within 5 working days prior to submission.
 - 2. For contracts greater than \$3,000,000.00, Contractor shall provide a Progress Schedule utilizing the Critical Path Method (CPM). The CPM shall define the sequential path of activities through a network diagram from beginning to end of project which provides for the completion of the project in the least amount of time within the Contract Times. The requirements of a CPM are as follows:
 - a. Sequence and interdependence of all construction tasks.
 - b. Sequence and interdependence of all concurrent utility work (if any).
 - c. Activity descriptions for each construction task.
 - d. Activity duration by number of calendar days for each construction task.
 - e. Early Start, Early Finish, Late Start, Late Finish dates for each construction task.

- f. Highlight critical path in red.
- g. Amount of float for each construction task.
- C. Progress of the Work
 - 1. If Contractor falls behind Baseline Schedule the following shall apply to the extent Contractor is attributable:
 - a. Engineer reserves the right to:
 - 1) Order Contractor to take steps deemed necessary to expedite the completion of the Work.
 - 2) Direct Contractor to submit, for approval, a recovery Schedule identifying the order of Work remaining to be completed, what concurrent operations will be taking place and the starting and completion times for each task necessary to expedite the Work. The recovery Schedule shall show the Work being completed within the current Contract Times.
 - 3) Order Contractor to submit a detailed written statement as to how Contractor intends to correct the nonperformance and return to the most current Schedule.
 - 4) To the extent Contractor is not attributable, Contractor has the right to recover associated Cost & Time.
 - 2. Contractor shall submit a recovery Schedule, for approval, whenever Contractor's progress falls behind the approved Baseline Schedule, does not meet the above-mentioned criteria, and/or when requested by Engineer. The revised Schedule shall be submitted within seven (7) days of falling behind schedule or within seven (7) days of Engineer's request. Contractor agrees that failure to submit the revised Schedule within seven (7) days shall be cause for the suspension of Progress Payments until the revised Schedule is submitted.
 - 3. Actions by Contractor to expedite and complete the Work within the allowable Contract Times shall not be justification for additional compensation.
 - 4. Failure to make satisfactory arrangements to adjust the Work schedule and/or make the necessary changes to expedite the progress of the Project may result in disqualification of Contractor from submitting proposals for future work until Contractor's performance and schedule demonstrate that Contractor can complete the Contract within the Contract Times.
- D. Contractor shall carry on the Work and adhere to the Progress Schedule during all disputes or disagreements with Owner. No Work shall be delayed or postponed pending resolution of any disputes or disagreements, or during any appeal process, except as permitted by Paragraph 16.04, or as Owner and Contractor may otherwise agree in writing.
- 4.05 Delays in Contractor's Progress
 - A. If Owner, Engineer, or anyone for whom Owner is responsible, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the performance or progress of the Work, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Times and Contract Price. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times.
 - B. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor. Delay, disruption, and interference attributable to and within the control of a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed to be within the control of Contractor.

- C. If Contractor's performance or progress is delayed, disrupted, or interfered with by unanticipated causes not the fault of and beyond the control of Owner, Contractor, and those for which they are responsible, then Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Times. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times. Requests for adjustment in Contract Times shall be submitted with documentation detailing actual delays in completion of the Work within the Contract Times. Such an adjustment shall be Contractor's sole and exclusive remedy for the delays, disruption, and interference described in this paragraph. Causes of delay, disruption, or interference that may give rise to an adjustment in Contract Times under this paragraph include but are not limited to the following:
 - 1. severe and unavoidable natural catastrophes such as fires, floods, epidemics, and earthquakes;
 - 2. abnormal weather conditions;
 - 3. acts or failures to act of utility owners (other than those performing other work at or adjacent to the Site by arrangement with the Owner, as contemplated in Article 8); and
 - 4. acts of war or terrorism.
 - 5. Federal, state or local orders, rules or regulations restricting in-person contact or requiring the public to stay home.
 - 6. Inability to obtain parts or materials due to supply chain issues restricting third-party vendors from completing deliveries.
- D. Delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting from the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, an Underground Facility that was not shown or indicated by the Contract Documents, or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, and those resulting from Hazardous Environmental Conditions, are governed by Article 5.
- E. Paragraph 8.03 governs delays, disruption, and interference to the performance or progress of the Work resulting from the performance of certain other work at or adjacent to the Site.
- F. Contractor shall not be entitled to an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times for any delay, disruption, or interference if such delay is concurrent with a delay, disruption, or interference caused by or within the control of Contractor.
- G. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the commencement of the delaying, disrupting, or interfering event.

ARTICLE 5 – AVAILABILITY OF LANDS; SUBSURFACE AND PHYSICAL CONDITIONS; HAZARDOUS ENVIRONMENTAL CONDITIONS

- 5.01 Availability of Lands
 - A. Owner shall furnish the Site. Owner shall notify Contractor of any encumbrances or restrictions not of general application but specifically related to use of the Site with which Contractor must comply in performing the Work.
 - B. Upon reasonable written request, Owner shall furnish Contractor with a current statement of record legal title and legal description of the lands upon which permanent improvements are

to be made and Owner's interest therein as necessary for giving notice of or filing a mechanic's or construction lien against such lands in accordance with applicable Laws and Regulations.

- C. Contractor shall provide for all additional lands and access thereto that may be required for temporary construction facilities or storage of materials and equipment.
- 5.02 Use of Site and Other Areas
 - A. Limitation on Use of Site and Other Areas:
 - Contractor shall confine construction equipment, temporary construction facilities, the 1. storage of materials and equipment, and the operations of workers to the Site, adjacent areas that Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or otherwise, and other adjacent areas permitted by Laws and Regulations, and shall not unreasonably encumber the Site and such other adjacent areas with construction equipment or other materials or equipment. Contractor shall assume full responsibility for (a) damage to the Site; (b) damage to any such other adjacent areas used for Contractor's operations; (c) damage to any other adjacent land or areas; and (d) for injuries and losses sustained by the owners or occupants of any such land or areas; provided that such damage or injuries result from the performance of the Work or from other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible. Contractor shall not enter upon nor use property adjacent to the Site of the Work, not under Owner control, until appropriate easements have been executed and a copy is on file at the Site. Contractor shall minimize interfering with traffic during performance of the Work. Contractor shall start the Work as required by the Contract Documents unless otherwise approved in writing by Engineer.
 - If a damage or injury claim is made by the owner or occupant of any such land or area 2. because of the performance of the Work, or because of other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible, Contractor shall (a) take immediate corrective or remedial action as required by Paragraph 7.12, or otherwise; (b) promptly attempt to settle the claim as to all parties through negotiations with such owner or occupant, or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding, or at law; and (c) to the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, indemnify, defend and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against any such claim, and against all costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any claim or action, legal or equitable, brought by any such owner or occupant against Owner, Engineer, or any other party indemnified hereunder to the extent caused directly or indirectly, in whole or in part by the negligent acts or omissions related to Contractor's performance of the Work, or because of other actions or conduct of the Contractor or those for which Contractor is responsible.
 - B. *Removal of Debris During Performance of the Work*: During the progress of the Work the Contractor shall keep the Site and other adjacent areas free from accumulations of waste materials, rubbish, and other debris. Removal and disposal of such waste materials, rubbish, and other debris shall conform to applicable Laws and Regulations.
 - C. *Cleaning*: Prior to Substantial Completion of the Work Contractor shall clean the Site and the Work and make it ready for utilization by Owner. At the completion of the Work Contractor shall remove from the Site and adjacent areas all tools, appliances, construction equipment and machinery, and surplus materials and shall restore to original condition all property not designated for alteration by the Contract Documents.

- D. *Loading of Structures*: Contractor shall not load nor permit any part of any structure to be loaded in any manner that will endanger the structure, nor shall Contractor subject any part of the Work or adjacent structures or land to stresses or pressures that will endanger them.
- 5.03 Subsurface and Physical Conditions
 - A. *Reports and Drawings*: The Supplementary Conditions, if any, identify:
 - 1. those reports known to Owner of explorations and tests of subsurface conditions at or adjacent to the Site;
 - 2. those drawings known to Owner of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site (except Underground Facilities); and
 - 3. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings.
 - B. *Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized*: Contractor may rely upon the accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, with respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely upon the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. Except for such reliance on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, with respect to:
 - 1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor's purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or
 - 2. other data, interpretations, opinions, and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings; or
 - 3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any such other data, interpretations, opinions, or information.
- 5.04 Differing Subsurface or Physical Conditions
 - A. *Notice by Contractor*: If Contractor believes that any subsurface or physical condition that is uncovered or revealed at the Site either:
 - 1. is of such a nature as to establish that any Technical Data on which Contractor is entitled to rely as provided in Paragraph 5.03 is materially inaccurate; or
 - 2. is of such a nature as to require a change in the Drawings or Specifications; or
 - 3. differs materially from that shown or indicated in the Contract Documents; or
 - 4. is of an unusual nature, and differs materially from conditions ordinarily encountered and generally recognized as inherent in work of the character provided for in the Contract Documents;

then Contractor shall, within seven (7) days, after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing the subsurface or physical conditions or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15), notify Owner and Engineer in writing about such condition. Contractor shall not further disturb such condition or perform any Work in connection therewith (except with respect to an emergency) until receipt of a written statement permitting Contractor to do so.

- B. *Engineer's Review*: After receipt of written notice as required by the preceding paragraph, Engineer will review the subsurface or physical condition in question; determine the necessity of Owner's obtaining additional exploration or tests with respect to the condition; conclude whether the condition falls within any one or more of the differing site condition categories in Paragraph 5.04.A above; obtain any pertinent cost or schedule information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the Contractor's resumption of Work in connection with the subsurface or physical condition in question and the need for any change in the Drawings or Specifications; and advise Owner in writing of Engineer's findings, conclusions, and recommendations.
- C. Owner's Statement to Contractor Regarding Site Condition: After receipt of Engineer's written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such condition, indicating whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or rejecting Engineer's written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, in whole or in part.
- D. Possible Price and Times Adjustments:
 - 1. Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, to the extent that the existence of a differing subsurface or physical condition, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or decrease in Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following:
 - a. such condition must fall within any one or more of the categories described in Paragraph 5.04.A;
 - b. with respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03; and
 - c. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times.
 - 2. Contractor shall not be entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times with respect to a subsurface or physical condition if:
 - a. Contractor knew of the existence of such condition at the time Contractor made a commitment to Owner with respect to Contract Price and Contract Times by the submission of a Bid or becoming bound under a negotiated contract, or otherwise; or
 - b. the existence of such condition reasonably could have been discovered or revealed as a result of any examination, investigation, exploration, test, or study of the Site and contiguous areas expressly required by the Bidding Requirements or Contract Documents to be conducted by or for Contractor prior to Contractor's making such commitment; or
 - c. Contractor failed to give the written notice as required by Paragraph 5.04.A.
 - 3. If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor's entitlement to and the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order.
 - 4. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later than 30

days after Owner's issuance of the Owner's written statement to Contractor regarding the subsurface or physical condition in question.

- 5.05 Underground Facilities and Utilities
 - A. *Contractor's Responsibilities*: The information and data shown or indicated in the Contract Documents with respect to existing Underground Facilities and Utilities at or adjacent to the Site is based on information and data furnished to Owner or Engineer by the owners of such Underground Facilities and Utilities, including Owner, or by others. Unless it is otherwise expressly provided in the Supplementary Conditions:
 - 1. Owner and Engineer do not warrant or guarantee the accuracy or completeness of any such information or data provided by others; and
 - 2. the cost of all of the following will be included in the Contract Price, and Contractor shall have full responsibility for:
 - a. reviewing and checking all information and data regarding existing Underground Facilities and Utilities at the Site;
 - b. locating all Underground Facilities and Utilities shown or indicated in the Contract Documents as being at the Site;
 - c. coordination of the Work with the owners (including Owner) of such Underground Facilities and Utilities, during construction; and
 - d. the safety and protection of all existing Underground Facilities and Utilities at the Site, and repairing any damage thereto resulting from the Work.
 - B. *Notice by Contractor*: If Contractor believes that an Underground Facility or Utility that is uncovered or revealed at the Site was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, or was not shown or indicated within reasonable accuracy, then Contractor shall, promptly after becoming aware thereof and before further disturbing conditions affected thereby or performing any Work in connection therewith (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15), identify the owner of such Underground Facility or Utility and give written notice to that owner and to Owner and Engineer.
 - C. *Engineer's Review*: Engineer will promptly review the Underground Facility or Utility and conclude whether such Underground Facility or Utility was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents, obtain any pertinent cost or schedule information from Contractor; prepare recommendations to Owner regarding the Contractor's resumption of Work in connection with the Underground Facility or Utility in question; determine the extent, if any, to which a change is required in the Drawings or Specifications to reflect and document the consequences of the existence or location of the Underground Facility or Utility; and advise Owner in writing of Engineer's findings, conclusions, and recommendations. During such time, Contractor shall be responsible for the safety and protection of such Underground Facility or Utility.
 - D. Owner's Statement to Contractor Regarding Underground Facility: After receipt of Engineer's written findings, conclusions, and recommendations, Owner shall issue a written statement to Contractor (with a copy to Engineer) regarding the Underground Facility or Utility in question, addressing the resumption of Work in connection with such Underground Facility or Utility, indicating whether any change in the Drawings or Specifications will be made, and adopting or rejecting Engineer's written findings, conclusions, and recommendations in whole or in part.

- E. *Possible Price and Times Adjustments*:
 - 1. Contractor shall be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, to the extent that any existing Underground Facility or Utility at the Site that was not shown or indicated in the Contract Documents or not shown or indicated with reasonable accuracy, or any related delay, disruption, or interference, causes an increase or decrease in Contractor's cost of, or time required for, performance of the Work; subject, however, to the following:
 - a. Contractor did not know of and could not reasonably have been expected to be aware of or to have anticipated the existence or actual location of the Underground Facility or Utility in question;
 - b. With respect to Work that is paid for on a unit price basis, any adjustment in Contract Price will be subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03;
 - c. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times; and
 - d. Contractor gave the notice required in Paragraph 5.05.B.
 - 2. If Owner and Contractor agree regarding Contractor's entitlement to and the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then any such adjustment shall be set forth in a Change Order.
 - 3. An equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Time, if any, shall be defined as, and limited to, the time, equipment and labor necessary to affect the change required to address the Underground Facility or Utility. No adjustment will be made for idle equipment or labor while addressing the Underground Facility or Utility.
 - 4. Contractor may submit a Change Proposal regarding its entitlement to or the amount or extent of any adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, no later than 30 days after Owner's issuance of the Owner's written statement to Contractor regarding the Underground Facility or Utility in question.
- F. Utilities
 - 1. Contractor is responsible for notifying all utility companies, pipeline owners, or other parties affected by the work. Contractor shall contact the State of Colorado "One-Call" system for assistance in locating all utilities, pipelines, and other installations in the project. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating the Work with all utility owners to remove and rearrange underground or overhead utilities to avoid service interruption or duplicate work by the utility owner. Contractor shall use work procedures that protect utilities or appurtenances that remain in place during construction.
 - 2. Contractor agrees that Owner will not provide any additional compensation due to delays, inconvenience, or damages sustained by interference from said utilities or appurtenances or the operation of relocating said utilities.
 - 3. Contractor shall notify the appropriate utility of any service interruption resulting from breakage, within the construction limits or otherwise, by Contractor's operations, and cooperate during service restoration. Contractor is responsible for correcting and/or paying for repairs for damage to utilities resulting from Contractor's operations. Contractor shall restore damaged facilities to the pre-existing condition.
 - 4. Engineer will decide whether to adjust or relocate utility facilities or appurtenances found but not shown or indicated in Contract Documents or not shown or indicated with
reasonable accuracy. Engineer shall make any necessary arrangements with the utility owner or Contractor to perform any necessary unidentified work not indicated in the Contract Documents. Engineer will use the provisions of the Contract Documents to make compensable or non-compensable adjustments to the Contract because of revised or added work.

5.06 Hazardous Environmental Conditions at Site

- A. *Reports and Drawings*: The Supplementary Conditions, if any, identify:
 - 1. those reports and drawings known to Owner relating to Hazardous Environmental Conditions that have been identified at or adjacent to the Site; and
 - 2. Technical Data contained in such reports and drawings.
- B. *Reliance by Contractor on Technical Data Authorized*: Contractor may rely upon the accuracy of the Technical Data expressly identified in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, with respect to such reports and drawings, but such reports and drawings are not Contract Documents. If no such express identification has been made, then Contractor may rely on the accuracy of the Technical Data (as defined in Article 1) contained in any geotechnical or environmental report prepared for the Project and made available to Contractor. Except for such reliance on Technical Data, Contractor may not rely upon or make any claim against Owner or Engineer, or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors with respect to:
 - 1. the completeness of such reports and drawings for Contractor's purposes, including, but not limited to, any aspects of the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures of construction to be employed by Contractor and safety precautions and programs incident thereto; or
 - 2. other data, interpretations, opinions and information contained in such reports or shown or indicated in such drawings; or
 - 3. any Contractor interpretation of or conclusion drawn from any Technical Data or any such other data, interpretations, opinions or information.
- C. Contractor shall not be responsible for removing or remediating any Hazardous Environmental Condition encountered, uncovered, or revealed at the Site unless such removal or remediation is expressly identified in the Contract Documents to be within the scope of the Work.
- D. Contractor shall be responsible for controlling, containing, and duly removing all Constituents of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or anyone else for whom Contractor is responsible, and for any associated costs; and for the costs of removing and remediating any Hazardous Environmental Condition created by the presence of any such Constituents of Concern.
- E. If Contractor encounters, uncovers, or reveals a Hazardous Environmental Condition whose removal or remediation is not expressly identified in the Contract Documents as being within the scope of the Work, or if Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is responsible creates a Hazardous Environmental Condition, then Contractor shall immediately: (1) secure or otherwise isolate such condition; (2) stop all Work in connection with such condition and in any area affected thereby (except in an emergency as required by Paragraph 7.15); (3) notify Owner and Engineer (and promptly thereafter confirm such notice in writing); and (4) continue working in other areas of the Project unless otherwise directed. Owner shall promptly consult with Engineer concerning the necessity for Owner to retain a qualified expert to evaluate such condition or take corrective action, if any. Promptly after consulting with Engineer, Owner shall take such actions as are necessary to permit Owner to timely obtain required permits and

provide Contractor the written notice required by Paragraph 5.06.F. If Contractor or anyone for whom Contractor is responsible created the Hazardous Environmental Condition in question, then Owner may remove and remediate the Hazardous Environmental Condition, and impose a set-off against payments to account for the associated costs.

- F. Contractor shall not resume Work in connection with such Hazardous Environmental Condition or in any affected area until after Owner has obtained any required permits related thereto, and delivered written notice to Contractor either (1) specifying that such condition and any affected area is or has been rendered safe for the resumption of Work, or (2) specifying any special conditions under which such Work may be resumed safely.
- G. If Owner and Contractor cannot agree as to entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, as a result of such Work stoppage or such special conditions under which Work is agreed to be resumed by Contractor, then within 30 days of Owner's written notice regarding the resumption of Work, Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may impose a set-off.
- H. If after receipt of such written notice Contractor does not agree to resume such Work based on a reasonable belief it is unsafe, or does not agree to resume such Work under such special conditions, then Owner may order the portion of the Work that is in the area affected by such condition to be deleted from the Work, following the contractual change procedures in Article 11. Owner may have such deleted portion of the Work performed by Owner's own forces or others in accordance with Article 8.
- I. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Contractor, Subcontractors, and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to a Hazardous Environmental Condition, provided that such Hazardous Environmental Condition (1) was not shown or indicated in the Drawings, Specifications, or other Contract Documents, identified as Technical Data entitled to limited reliance pursuant to Paragraph 5.06.B, or identified in the Contract Documents to be included within the scope of the Work, and (2) was not created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 5.06.I shall obligate Owner to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual's or entity's own negligence.
- J. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) to the extent arising out of or relating to the failure to control, contain, or remove a Constituent of Concern brought to the Site by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible, or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition created by Contractor or by anyone for whom Contractor is responsible. Nothing in this Paragraph 5.06.J shall obligate Contractor to indemnify any individual or entity from and against the consequences of that individual's or entity's own negligence.
- K. Owner shall not consider Contractor the "Generator, Owner, or Responsible Party" for any hazardous waste or hazardous material discovered in the normal performance of Work associated with this Contract, nor during the performance of any "Extra Work" unless such material has been brought to the site by Contractor.

- L. Contractor shall maintain sole responsibility for workers' health and safety including, but not necessarily limited to, interpreting monitoring or sampling results provided by Owner or any another governmental agency, or performing Contractor's own monitoring or sampling to ensure worker health and safety.
- M. The provisions of Paragraphs 5.03, 5.04, and 5.05 do not apply to the presence of Constituents of Concern or to a Hazardous Environmental Condition uncovered or revealed at the Site.

ARTICLE 6 – BONDS AND INSURANCE

6.01 *Performance, Payment, and Other Bonds*

- A. Contractor shall furnish a performance bond and a payment bond, each in an amount at least equal to the Contract Price, as security for the faithful performance and payment of all of Contractor's obligations under the Contract. These bonds shall remain in effect until two years after the date when final payment becomes due or until completion of the correction period specified in Paragraph 15.08, whichever is later, except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations, the Supplementary Conditions, if any, or other specific provisions of the Contract. Contractor shall also furnish such other bonds as are required by the Supplementary Conditions, if any, or other specific provisions of the Contract.
- B. All bonds shall be in the form prescribed by the Contract except as provided otherwise by Laws or Regulations, and shall be executed by such sureties as are named in "Companies Holding Certificates of Authority as Acceptable Sureties on Federal Bonds and as Acceptable Reinsuring Companies" as published in Circular 570 (as amended and supplemented) by the Financial Management Service, Surety Bond Branch, U.S. Department of the Treasury. A bond signed by an agent or attorney-in-fact must be accompanied by a certified copy of that individual's authority to bind the surety. The evidence of authority shall show that it is effective on the date the agent or attorney-in-fact signed the accompanying bond.
- C. Contractor shall obtain the required bonds from surety companies that are duly licensed or authorized in the jurisdiction in which the Project is located to issue bonds in the required amounts.
- D. If the surety on a bond furnished by Contractor is declared bankrupt or becomes insolvent, or its right to do business is terminated in any state or jurisdiction where any part of the Project is located, or the surety ceases to meet the requirements above, then Contractor shall promptly notify Owner and Engineer and shall, within 28 days after the event giving rise to such notification, provide another bond and surety, both of which shall comply with the bond and surety requirements above.
- E. If Contractor has failed to obtain a required bond, Owner may exclude the Contractor from the Site and exercise Owner's termination rights under Article 16.
- F. Upon request, Owner shall provide a copy of the payment bond to any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other person or entity claiming to have furnished labor or materials used in the performance of the Work.

6.02 Insurance—General Provisions

- A. Owner and Contractor shall obtain and maintain insurance as required in this Article and in the Supplementary Conditions, if any.
- B. All insurance required by the Contract to be purchased and maintained by Owner or Contractor shall be obtained from insurance companies that are duly licensed or authorized, in the state or jurisdiction in which the Project is located, to issue insurance policies for the required limits

and coverages. Unless a different standard is indicated in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, all companies that provide insurance policies required under this Contract shall have an A.M. Best rating of A-VII or better.

- C. Contractor shall deliver to Owner, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in this Article, in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, or elsewhere in the Contract), certificates of insurance establishing that Contractor has obtained and is maintaining the policies, coverages, and endorsements required by the Contract. Upon request by Owner or any other insured, Contractor shall also furnish other evidence of such required insurance, including but not limited to copies of policies and endorsements, and documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles. Contractor may block out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in any policy or endorsement furnished under this provision.
- D. Owner shall deliver to Contractor, with copies to each named insured and additional insured (as identified in this Article, the Supplementary Conditions, if any, or elsewhere in the Contract), certificates of insurance establishing that Owner has obtained and is maintaining the policies, coverages, and endorsements required of Owner by the Contract (if any). Upon request by Contractor or any other insured, Owner shall also provide other evidence of such required insurance (if any), including but not limited to copies of policies and endorsements, and documentation of applicable self-insured retentions and deductibles. Owner may block out (redact) any confidential premium or pricing information contained in any policy or endorsement furnished under this provision.
- E. Failure of Owner or Contractor to demand such certificates or other evidence of the other party's full compliance with these insurance requirements, or failure of Owner or Contractor to identify a deficiency in compliance from the evidence provided, shall not be construed as a waiver of the other party's obligation to obtain and maintain such insurance.
- F. If either party does not purchase or maintain all of the insurance required of such party by the Contract, such party shall notify the other party in writing of such failure to purchase prior to the start of the Work, or of such failure to maintain prior to any change in the required coverage.
- G. If Contractor has failed to obtain and maintain required insurance, Owner may exclude the Contractor from the Site, impose an appropriate set-off against payment, and exercise Owner's termination rights under Article 16.
- H. Without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if a party has failed to obtain required insurance, the other party may elect to obtain equivalent insurance to protect such other party's interests at the expense of the party who was required to provide such coverage, and the Contract Price shall be adjusted accordingly.
- I. Owner does not represent that insurance coverage and limits established in this Contract necessarily will be adequate to protect Contractor or Contractor's interests.
- J. The insurance and insurance limits required herein shall not be deemed as a limitation on Contractor's liability under the indemnities granted to Owner and other individuals and entities in the Contract.

6.03 Contractor's Insurance

- A. *Workers' Compensation*: Contractor shall purchase and maintain workers' compensation and employer's liability insurance for:
 - 1. claims under workers' compensation, disability benefits, and other similar employee benefit acts.

- 2. claims for damages because of bodily injury, occupational sickness or disease, or death of Contractor's employees (by stop-gap endorsement in monopolist worker's compensation states).
- 3. The limits of liability for the insurance required by Paragraph 6.03.A shall provide coverage for not less than the following amounts or greater where required by Laws and Regulations:
 - a. State: Statutory.
 - b. Applicable Federal (e.g., Longshoreman's): Statutory.
 - c. Employer's Liability:
 - 1) \$500,000 each Person.
 - 2) \$500,000 each Accident.
 - 3) \$500,000 each Disease.
- B. *Commercial General Liability—Claims Covered*: Contractor shall purchase and maintain commercial general liability insurance, covering all operations by or on behalf of Contractor, on an occurrence basis, against:
 - 1. claims for damages because of bodily injury, sickness or disease, or death of any person other than Contractor's employees.
 - 2. claims for damages insured by reasonably available personal injury liability coverage.
 - 3. claims for damages, other than to the Work itself, because of injury to or destruction of tangible property wherever located, including loss of use resulting therefrom.
- C. *Commercial General Liability—Form and Content*: Contractor's commercial liability policy shall be written on a 1996 (or later) ISO commercial general liability form (occurrence form) and include the following coverages and endorsements:
 - 1. Products and completed operations coverage:
 - a. Such insurance shall be maintained for three years after final payment.
 - b. Contractor shall furnish Owner and each other additional insured (as identified in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, or elsewhere in the Contract) evidence of continuation of such insurance at final payment and three years thereafter.
 - 2. Blanket contractual liability coverage, to the extent permitted by law, including but not limited to coverage of Contractor's contractual indemnity obligations in Paragraph 7.18.
 - a. The limits of liability for the insurance required by Paragraph 6.03.C.2 shall provide coverage for not less than the following amounts or greater where required by Laws and Regulations:
 - 1) Bodily Injury:
 - i) Each Accident: \$1,000,000.
 - ii) Annual Aggregate: \$2,000,000.
 - 2) Property Damage:
 - i) Each Accident: \$1,000,000.
 - ii) Annual Aggregate: \$2,000,000.

- 3. Broad form property damage coverage.
- 4. Severability of interest.
- 5. Underground, explosion, and collapse coverage.
- 6. Personal injury coverage.
- 7. Additional insured endorsements that include both ongoing operations and products and completed operations coverage through ISO Endorsements CG 20 10 10 01 and CG 20 37 10 01 (together); or CG 20 10 07 04 and CG 20 37 07 04 (together); or their equivalent.
- 8. For design professional additional insureds, ISO Endorsement CG 20 32 07 04, "Additional Insured—Engineers, Architects or Surveyors Not Engaged by the Named Insured" or its equivalent.
- 9. Contractor's general liability insurance shall include a per project or per location endorsement, which shall be identified in the certificate of insurance provided to Owner.
- 10. The limits of liability for the insurance required by Paragraph 6.03.C shall provide coverage for not less than the following amounts or greater where required by Laws and Regulations:
 - a. General Aggregate: \$2,000,000.
 - b. Products—Completed Operations Aggregate: \$2,000,000.
 - c. Personal and Advertising Injury (per Person/Organization): \$1,000,000.
 - d. Each Occurrence (Bodily Injury and Property Damage): \$1,000,000.
 - e. Property Damage liability insurance will provide Explosion, Collapse, and Underground coverages where applicable.
- D. *Automobile liability*: Contractor shall purchase and maintain automobile liability insurance against claims for damages because of bodily injury or death of any person or property damage arising out of the ownership, maintenance, or use of any motor vehicle. The automobile liability policy shall be written on an occurrence basis.
 - 1. The limits of liability for the insurance required by Paragraph 6.03.D shall provide coverage for not less than the following amounts or greater where required by Laws and Regulations:
 - a. Bodily Injury:
 - 1) Each Person: \$1,000,000.
 - 2) Each Accident: \$1,000,000.
 - b. Property Damage:
 - 1) Each Accident: \$1,000,000.
 - c. Combined Single Limit of \$1,000,000.
- E. Umbrella or excess liability: Contractor shall purchase and maintain umbrella or excess liability insurance written over the underlying employer's liability, commercial general liability, and automobile liability insurance described in the paragraphs above. Subject to industry-standard exclusions, the coverage afforded shall follow form as to each and every one of the underlying policies.

- 1. The limits of liability for the insurance required by Paragraph 6.03.E shall provide coverage for not less than the following amounts or greater where required by Laws and Regulations:
 - a. General Aggregate: \$2,000,000 for Contract Values \$200,000 or under; \$5,000,000 for Contract Values over \$200,000.
 - b. Each Occurrence: \$2,000,000 for Contract Values \$200,000 or under; \$5,000,000 for Contract Values over \$200,000.
- F. Additional insureds: The Contractor's commercial general liability, automobile liability, umbrella or excess, and pollution liability policies shall include and list as additional insureds Owner and Engineer, and any individuals or entities identified in the Supplementary Conditions, if any; include coverage for the respective officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of all such additional insureds; and the insurance afforded to these additional insureds shall provide primary coverage for all claims covered thereby (including as applicable those arising from both ongoing and completed operations) on a non-contributory basis. Contractor shall obtain all necessary endorsements to support these requirements.
- G. *General provisions*: The policies of insurance required by this Paragraph 6.03 shall:
 - 1. include at least the specific coverages provided in this Article.
 - 2. be written for not less than the limits of liability provided in this Article and in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, or required by Laws or Regulations, whichever is greater.
 - 3. contain a provision or endorsement that the coverage afforded will not be canceled, materially changed, or renewal refused until at least 14 days prior written notice has been given to Contractor. Within three days of receipt of any such written notice, Contractor shall provide a copy of the notice to Owner, Engineer, and each other insured under the policy.
 - 4. remain in effect at least until final payment (and longer if expressly required in this Article) and at all times thereafter when Contractor may be correcting, removing, or replacing defective Work as a warranty or correction obligation, or otherwise, or returning to the Site to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents.
 - 5. be appropriate for the Work being performed and provide protection from claims that may arise out of or result from Contractor's performance of the Work and Contractor's other obligations under the Contract Documents, whether it is to be performed by Contractor, any Subcontractor or Supplier, or by anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or by anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable.
- H. The coverage requirements for specific policies of insurance must be met by such policies, and not by reference to excess or umbrella insurance provided in other policies.
- I. With respect to all insurance required by this Paragraph 6.03, Contractor agrees to waive all rights of subrogation against Owner, Engineer, and each additional insured identified in the Supplementary Conditions, if any.

6.04 *Owner's Liability Insurance*

A. In addition to the insurance required to be provided by Contractor under Paragraph 6.03, Owner, at Owner's option, may purchase and maintain at Owner's expense Owner's own liability insurance as will protect Owner against claims which may arise from operations under the Contract Documents.

- B. Owner's liability policies, if any, operate separately and independently from policies required to be provided by Contractor, and Contractor cannot rely upon Owner's liability policies for any of Contractor's obligations to the Owner, Engineer, or third parties.
- 6.05 Costs for Bonds and Insurance
 - A. The cost of providing bonds and insurance is incidental to the Work and may be included as costs of the Project unless otherwise indicated in the Contract Documents.

ARTICLE 7 – CONTRACTOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES

- 7.01 Supervision and Superintendence
 - A. Contractor shall supervise, inspect, and direct the Work competently and efficiently, devoting such attention thereto and applying such skills and expertise as may be necessary to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents. Contractor shall be solely responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction.
 - B. Contractor shall cooperate with Engineer, any Project Representatives, Owner, and other contractors at all times. Contractor shall designate one competent Superintendent, employed by Contractor, to coordinate and communicate with Engineer. Superintendent shall reasonably attempt to be on the project site at all times when Work is being performed, regardless of the individuals or legal entities performing the Work. Superintendent shall be experienced, capable of understanding the plans and specifications, and have the authority to execute any order or direction given by Engineer. Superintendent is responsible for supplying any materials, equipment, labor, or other incidentals necessary to complete the Work. Engineer reserves the right to halt the work if Superintendent is not present during the Work.

7.02 *Labor; Working Hours*

- A. Contractor shall provide a sufficient amount of competent, suitably qualified personnel to perform the construction in an efficient manner, stay on schedule and complete all work as required by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall at all times maintain good discipline and order at the Site. Incompetent, incorrigible or otherwise unsuitable employees shall be dismissed from the Project by Contractor or their representatives when requested by Engineer or Owner, and such persons shall not again be permitted to return to the Work without written consent from Engineer or Owner.
- B. Except as otherwise required for the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent thereto, and except as otherwise stated in the Contract Documents, all Work at the Site shall be performed during regular working hours (7:00 am to 6:00 pm), Monday through Friday. Contractor will not perform Work on a Weekend or any legal holiday. Contractor may perform Work outside regular working hours or on Weekends or legal holidays only with Owner's written consent. Contractor shall request in writing a minimum of 14 days prior to performing any Work outside of the regular working hours.
- C. Contractor shall reimburse Owner for Owner's or Engineer's Construction Management and construction observation personnel costs for onsite personnel overtime work resulting from Contractor's overtime operations necessary to prevent delay to overall completion schedule due to Contractor's failure to maintain progress in accordance with approved Progress Schedule.
- 7.03 Services, Materials, and Equipment
 - A. Unless otherwise specified in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall provide and assume full responsibility for all services, materials, equipment, labor, transportation, construction

equipment and machinery, tools, appliances, fuel, power, light, heat, telephone, water, sanitary facilities, temporary facilities, and all other facilities and incidentals necessary for the performance, testing, start up, and completion of the Work, whether or not such items are specifically called for in the Contract Documents.

- 1. Unless otherwise indicated in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall remove any existing structures that are not to remain in place. Existing structures are to remain in place until the replacement structures are complete unless such existing structures interfere with the Work. As directed by Engineer, any materials deemed fit for use elsewhere shall remain the property of Owner. Contractor shall remove such materials without damage in readily transportable sections.
- 2. Contractor shall mow all areas of the Project where vegetation growth exceeds 18 inches in height at no additional cost to Owner. Contractor shall cut such vegetation as close to the ground as possible. Contractor shall rake and remove the cuttings from the premise immediately.
- B. All materials and equipment incorporated into the Work shall be of good quality and new, except as otherwise provided in the Contract Documents. All special warranties and guarantees required by the Specifications shall expressly run to the benefit of Owner. If required by Engineer, Contractor shall furnish satisfactory evidence (including reports of required tests) as to the source, kind, and quality of materials and equipment.
 - 1. Owner reserves the right to retain ownership of all surplus materials. As directed by Engineer, Contractor shall deliver any retained surplus materials to a designated Owner facility. Contractor shall remove and dispose of any obstructions or surplus materials encountered and not retained by Owner at no additional expense to Owner. Contractor shall thoroughly clean any pavement, walks, gutter lines, or other constructed items to remove soil or other foreign materials throughout the course of the Project as directed by Engineer.
 - 2. Contractor shall remove and dispose of all discarded materials, rubbish, or debris at no additional expense to Owner, and in accordance with all Local, State, and Federal laws and regulations.
 - 3. All excess materials removed from the Project Site(s) shall be disposed of at locations acceptable to Owner. Contractor shall identify in writing the location of his disposal site and provide this to Engineer at the pre-construction meeting. During the Project, Contractor shall keep Engineer informed of all disposal dates, locations, and approximate material quantity.
 - 4. Contractor shall handle and store materials to preserve their quality and avoid segregation or contamination. Engineer may allow Contractor to store materials on Owner property as directed by the Contract Documents. Contractor shall restrict operations on Owner property to the areas authorized by the Engineer. Contractor shall hold and save Owner and its personnel free and harmless from any liability because of unauthorized use, trespassing, or damage to equipment or materials stored on Owner property.
 - 5. Contractor may store materials or equipment within the right-of-way at locations determined by Engineer. Contractor shall restore or repair any damage to such storage areas upon completion of the Work. Contractor shall obtain any additional storage space necessary at no additional cost to Owner.
 - 6. Contractor shall protect all materials, regardless of the manner of protection, at no additional cost to Owner. Contractor shall store materials covered on a hard, clean surface

when directed by Engineer. Contractor may construct a temporary storage building on the Project only with written permission from Engineer. Any temporary storage installations are the property of Contractor. Contractor shall remove such installations at the completion of the Work.

- 7. Engineer reserves the right to reject any materials not conforming to the requirements of the Contract Documents. Contractor shall remove any unacceptable materials from the Project. Engineer shall cause removal of any unacceptable materials not removed by Contractor. Engineer shall deduct the cost of such removal from monies due to Contractor.
- 8. Contractor shall furnish all materials necessary to complete the Work except those materials furnished by Owner as indicated in the Contract Documents. Owner shall deliver or make available such materials as directed in the Contract Documents. Contractor shall include the cost of obtaining, handling, and placing furnished materials in the Contract Price for the related items. Contractor is responsible for all furnished materials given to Contractor by Owner. Contractor shall bear the replacement cost of furnished materials due to loss or damage not the fault of Owner.
- C. All materials and equipment shall be stored, applied, installed, connected, erected, protected, used, cleaned, and conditioned in accordance with instructions of the applicable Supplier, except as otherwise may be provided in the Contract Documents.
 - 1. Where the Work requires equipment be furnished, due to the lack of standardization of equipment as produced by the various manufacturers, it may become necessary to make minor modifications in the structures, buildings, piping, mechanical work, electrical work, accessories, controls, or other work, to accommodate the particular equipment offered. Contractor's Bid Price for any equipment offered shall include the cost of making any necessary changes subject to the approval of Engineer.
 - 2. All trucks and other equipment using pavement or structures must comply with the laws governing the operation of such equipment on the streets of the City. Contractor is responsible for any damage resulting from the operations of such equipment. Special permits do not relieve Contractor of such responsibility.
 - 3. Contractor must keep any vehicle transporting material clean and in proper working condition. Such vehicles must transport materials in a manner to prevent the loss of materials.
 - 4. Contractor may operate pneumatic tire earth moving equipment on PCC, BST, or ACC surface or base provided the tire pressures and load on any single axle are less than or equal to 40 psi and 20,000 pounds, respectively. Contractor shall not operate any machines with metal lugs or other projections on the treads on ACC, PCC, or BST surface or base.
 - 5. Engineer must approve any equipment operation on new pavement. All equipment shall maintain a horizontal distance of two (2) feet or greater from the edge of such pavement. Approval by Engineer does not relieve Contractor of liability for any damage incurred due to operation of such equipment. All equipment operating on new pavement shall move on and off the pavement using a ramp comprised of materials intended to prevent damage. The ramp shall support the equipment in a manner to prevent any impact loading on the edge of the pavement or curb.
 - 6. Contractor shall obtain all necessary oversized and/or overweight permits for all equipment used on the project at no additional cost to Owner. All track-mounted equipment shall cross bridges only at a speed and location relative to centerline acceptable to Engineer.

- 7. Contractor shall position any material transfer vehicles to prevent excessive pressures on a single wheel or support. Contractor shall not operate or position any dragline, power shovel, or crane on any surface or base pavement layer.
- 7.04 *"Or Equals"*
 - A. Whenever an item of material or equipment is specified or described in the Contract Documents by using the name of a proprietary item or the name of a particular Supplier, the Contract Price has been based upon Contractor furnishing such item as specified. The specification or description of such an item is intended to establish the type, function, appearance, and quality required. Unless the specification or description contains or is followed by words reading that no like, equivalent, or "or equal" item is permitted, Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other items of material or equipment, or items from other proposed suppliers under the circumstances described below.
 - 1. If Engineer in its sole discretion determines that an item of material or equipment proposed by Contractor is functionally equal to that named and sufficiently similar so that no change in related Work will be required, Engineer shall deem it an "or equal" item. For the purposes of this paragraph, a proposed item of material or equipment will be considered functionally equal to an item so named if:
 - a. in the exercise of reasonable judgment Engineer determines that:
 - 1) it is at least equal in materials of construction, quality, durability, appearance, strength, and design characteristics;
 - 2) it will reliably perform at least equally well the function and achieve the results imposed by the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole;
 - 3) it has a proven record of performance and availability of responsive service; and
 - 4) it is not objectionable to Owner.
 - b. Contractor certifies that, if approved and incorporated into the Work:
 - 1) there will be no increase in cost to the Owner or increase in Contract Times; and
 - 2) it will conform substantially to the detailed requirements of the item named in the Contract Documents.
 - B. *Contractor's Expense*: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed "or equal" item at Contractor's expense.
 - C. *Engineer's Evaluation and Determination*: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to evaluate each "or-equal" request. Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed "or-equal" item. Engineer will be the sole judge of acceptability. No "or-equal" item will be ordered, furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer's review is complete and Engineer determines that the proposed item is an "or-equal", which will be evidenced by a reviewed Shop Drawing or other written communication. Engineer will advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination.
 - D. *Effect of Engineer's Determination*: Neither review nor denial of an "or-equal" request shall result in any change in Contract Price. The Engineer's denial of an "or-equal" request shall be final and binding, and may not be reversed through an appeal under any provision of the Contract Documents.

E. *Treatment as a Substitution Request*: If Engineer determines that an item of material or equipment proposed by Contractor does not qualify as an "or-equal" item, Contractor may request that Engineer consider the proposed item as a substitute pursuant to Paragraph 7.05.

7.05 *Substitutes*

- A. Unless the specification or description of an item of material or equipment required to be furnished under the Contract Documents contains or is followed by words reading that no substitution is permitted, Contractor may request that Engineer authorize the use of other items of material or equipment under the circumstances described below. To the extent possible such requests shall be made before commencement of related construction at the Site.
 - 1. Contractor shall submit sufficient information as provided below to allow Engineer to determine if the item of material or equipment proposed is functionally equivalent to that named and an acceptable substitute therefor. Engineer will not accept requests for review of proposed substitute items of material or equipment from anyone other than Contractor.
 - 2. The requirements for review by Engineer will be as set forth in Paragraph 7.05.B, as supplemented by the Specifications, and as Engineer may decide is appropriate under the circumstances.
 - 3. Contractor shall make written application to Engineer for review of a proposed substitute item of material or equipment that Contractor seeks to furnish or use. The application:
 - a. shall certify that the proposed substitute item will:
 - 1) perform adequately the functions and achieve the results called for by the general design,
 - 2) be similar in substance to that specified, and
 - 3) be suited to the same use as that specified.
 - b. will state:
 - 1) the extent, if any, to which the use of the proposed substitute item will necessitate a change in Contract Times,
 - 2) whether use of the proposed substitute item in the Work will require a change in any of the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with Owner for other work on the Project) to adapt the design to the proposed substitute item, and
 - 3) whether incorporation or use of the proposed substitute item in connection with the Work is subject to payment of any license fee or royalty.
 - c. will identify:
 - 1) all variations of the proposed substitute item from that specified, and
 - 2) available engineering, sales, maintenance, repair, and replacement services.
 - d. shall contain an itemized estimate of all costs or credits that will result directly or indirectly from use of such substitute item, including but not limited to changes in Contract Price, shared savings, costs of redesign, and claims of other contractors affected by any resulting change.
- B. *Engineer's Evaluation and Determination*: Engineer will be allowed a reasonable time to evaluate each substitute request, and to obtain comments and direction from Owner. Engineer may require Contractor to furnish additional data about the proposed substitute item. Engineer

will be the sole judge of acceptability. No substitute will be ordered, furnished, installed, or utilized until Engineer's review is complete and Engineer determines that the proposed item is an acceptable substitute. Engineer's determination will be evidenced by a Field Order or a proposed Change Order accounting for the substitution itself and all related impacts, including changes in Contract Price or Contract Times. Engineer will advise Contractor in writing of any negative determination. No payment shall be made for substitute items incorporated into the Work prior to being submitted to Engineer for review and acceptance.

- C. *Special Guarantee*: Owner may require Contractor to furnish at Contractor's expense a special performance guarantee or other surety with respect to any substitute.
- D. *Reimbursement of Engineer's Cost*: Engineer will record Engineer's costs in evaluating a substitute proposed or submitted by Contractor. Whether or not Engineer approves a substitute so proposed or submitted by Contractor, Contractor shall reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for evaluating each such proposed substitute. Contractor shall also reimburse Owner for the reasonable charges of Engineer for making changes in the Contract Documents (or in the provisions of any other direct contract with Owner) resulting from the acceptance of each proposed substitute.
- E. *Contractor's Expense*: Contractor shall provide all data in support of any proposed substitute at Contractor's expense.
- F. *Effect of Engineer's Determination*: If Engineer approves the substitution request; Contractor shall execute the proposed Change Order and proceed with the substitution. The Engineer's denial of a substitution request shall be final and binding, and may not be reversed through an appeal under any provision of the Contract Documents. Contractor may challenge the scope of reimbursement costs imposed under Paragraph 7.05.D, by timely submittal of a Change Proposal.
- 7.06 Concerning Subcontractors, Suppliers, and Others
 - A. Contractor may retain Subcontractors and Suppliers for the performance of parts of the Work. Such Subcontractors and Suppliers must be acceptable to Owner. Contractor shall identify all major Subcontractors and Suppliers in the Proposal.
 - B. Contractor shall retain specific Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for the performance of designated parts of the Work if required by the Contract to do so.
 - C. Subsequent to the submittal of Contractor's Proposal, Owner may not require Contractor to retain any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity to furnish or perform any of the Work against which Contractor has reasonable objection.
 - D. Prior to entry into any binding subcontract or purchase order, Contractor shall submit to Owner the identity of the proposed Subcontractor or Supplier (unless Owner has already deemed such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier acceptable, during the bidding process or otherwise). Such proposed Subcontractor or Supplier shall be deemed acceptable to Owner unless Owner raises a substantive, reasonable objection within 7 days.
 - E. Owner may require the replacement of any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity retained by Contractor to perform any part of the Work. Owner also may require Contractor to retain specific replacements; provided, however, that Owner may not require a replacement to which Contractor has a reasonable objection. If Contractor has submitted the identity of certain Subcontractors, Suppliers, or other individuals or entities for acceptance by Owner, and Owner has accepted it (either in writing or by failing to make written objection thereto), then Owner may subsequently revoke the acceptance of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity so identified solely on the basis of substantive,

reasonable objection after due investigation. Contractor shall submit an acceptable replacement for the rejected Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity.

- F. If Owner revokes acceptance of any Subcontractor, Supplier or other individual or entity, Contractor shall submit an acceptable substitute without an increase in Contract Price or Contract Time.
- G. No acceptance by Owner of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity, whether initially or as a replacement, shall constitute a waiver of the right of Owner to the completion of the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
- H. On a monthly basis Contractor shall submit to Engineer a complete list of all Subcontractors and Suppliers having a direct contract with Contractor, and of all other Subcontractors and Suppliers known to Contractor at the time of submittal.
- I. Contractor shall be fully responsible to Owner and Engineer for all acts and omissions of the Subcontractors, Suppliers, and other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work just as Contractor is responsible for Contractor's own acts and omissions.
- J. Contractor shall be solely responsible for scheduling and coordinating the work of Subcontractors, Suppliers, and all other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work.
- K. Contractor shall restrict all Subcontractors, Suppliers, and such other individuals or entities performing or furnishing any of the Work from communicating with Engineer or Owner, except through Contractor or in case of an emergency, or as otherwise expressly allowed herein.
- L. The divisions and sections of the Specifications and the identifications of any Drawings shall not control Contractor in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or Suppliers or delineating the Work to be performed by any specific trade.
- M. All Work performed for Contractor by a Subcontractor or Supplier shall be pursuant to an appropriate contractual agreement that specifically binds the Subcontractor or Supplier to the applicable terms and conditions of the Contract Documents for the benefit of Owner and Engineer.
- N. Owner may furnish to any Subcontractor or Supplier, to the extent practicable, information about amounts paid to Contractor on account of Work performed for Contractor by the particular Subcontractor or Supplier.
- O. Nothing in the Contract Documents:
 - 1. shall create for the benefit of any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity any contractual relationship between Owner or Engineer and any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity; nor
 - 2. shall create any obligation on the part of Owner or Engineer to pay or to see to the payment of any money due any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity except as may otherwise be required by Laws and Regulations.

7.07 Patent Fees and Royalties

A. Contractor shall pay all license fees and royalties and assume all costs incident to the use in the performance of the Work or the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device which is the subject of patent rights or copyrights held by others. If a particular invention, design, process, product, or device is specified in the Contract Documents for use in the performance of the Work and if, to the actual knowledge of Owner

or Engineer, its use is subject to patent rights or copyrights calling for the payment of any license fee or royalty to others, the existence of such rights shall be disclosed by Owner in the Contract Documents.

- B. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Owner shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Contractor, and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals, and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device specified in the Contract Documents, but not identified as being subject to payment of any license fee or royalty to others required by patent rights or copyrights.
- C. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to any infringement of patent rights or copyrights incident to the use in the performance of the Work or resulting from the incorporation in the Work of any invention, design, process, product, or device not specified in the Contract Documents.

7.08 Permits

A. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, Contractor shall obtain and pay for all construction permits and licenses. Owner shall assist Contractor, when necessary, in obtaining such permits and licenses. Contractor shall pay all governmental charges and inspection fees necessary for the prosecution of the Work which are applicable at the time of the submission of Contractor's Bid. Unless otherwise provided in the Contract Documents, Owner shall pay all charges of utility owners for connections for providing permanent service to the Work.

7.09 *Taxes*

- A. Contractor shall pay all sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes required to be paid by Contractor in accordance with the Laws and Regulations of the place of the Project which are applicable during the performance of the Work.
- B. Owner may be exempt from payment of sales and compensating use taxes of the State of Colorado and of cities and counties thereof on all materials to be incorporated into the Work.
 - 1. Owner will furnish the required certificates of tax exemption to Contractor for use in the purchase of supplies and materials to be incorporated into the Work.
 - 2. Owner's exemption does not apply to construction tools, machinery, equipment, or other property purchased by or leased by Contractor, or to supplies or materials not incorporated into the Work.

7.10 *Laws and Regulations*

A. Contractor shall give all notices required by and shall comply with all Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Except where otherwise expressly required by applicable Laws and Regulations, neither Owner nor Engineer shall be responsible for monitoring Contractor's compliance with any Laws or Regulations.

- B. If Contractor performs any Work or takes any other action knowing or having reason to know that it is contrary to Laws or Regulations, Contractor shall bear all resulting costs and losses, and shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) to the extent arising out of or relating to such Work or other action. It shall not be Contractor's responsibility to make certain that the Work described in the Contract Documents is in accordance with Laws and Regulations, but this shall not relieve Contractor of Contractor's obligations under Paragraph 3.03.
- C. Owner or Contractor may give notice to the other party of any changes after the submission of Contractor's Bid in Laws or Regulations having an effect on the cost or time of performance of the Work, including but not limited to changes in Laws or Regulations having an effect on procuring permits and on sales, use, value-added, consumption, and other similar taxes. If Owner and Contractor are unable to agree on entitlement to or on the amount or extent, if any, of any adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times resulting from such changes, then within 30 days of such notice Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may initiate a Claim.
 - 1. To the extent allowed by law, the Contractor shall take all appropriate measures to prevent the nesting of migratory birds in the construction area. This will include, but not be limited to, taking proactive measures to discourage migratory bird nesting activity, performing daily inspections of the site, equipment, machinery and other possible migratory bird nesting areas to ensure that migratory bird nesting activity is not occurring, and where necessary take proactive measures. Should new or previously unknown active migratory bird, raptor, eagle, or otherwise protected bird nests or wildlife be discovered within the limits of construction after start of construction, the Owner will, in consultation with the NGPC and USFWS, attempt to mitigate such discovered protected bird nests or wildlife, to continue to allow the Contractor access to construction areas in accordance with the Contractor's approved critical path schedule. If the discovered protected bird nest or wildlife activity is considered outside the Contractor's control and should delays or limitations of Contractor's work caused by the presence of a previously unknown protected bird nest or wildlife species result in changes to the approved critical path schedule, such days of delay may be considered for inclusion into a Change Order. No additional cost for the delay will be considered. For discovery of active nests prior to Contract Times commencement, the Contractor shall comply with Article 4.02.B. and 4.02.C.
- D. While not intended to be inclusive of all Laws or Regulations for which Contractor may be responsible under Paragraph 7.10, the following Laws or Regulations are included as mandated by statute or for the convenience of Contractor:
 - 1. Contractor and its Subcontractors shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment, to be employed in the performance of the Work under these Contract Documents, with respect to its hire, tenure, terms, conditions, or privileges of employment, because of its race, color, creed, religion, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity, national origin, age, or disability.

7.11 *Record Documents*

A. Contractor shall maintain in a safe place at the Site one digital record copy of all Drawings, Specifications, Addenda, Change Orders, Work Change Directives, Field Orders, written interpretations and clarifications, and reviewed Shop Drawings. Contractor shall keep such record documents in good order and annotate them to show changes made during construction. These record documents, together with all approved Samples, will be available to Engineer for reference. Upon completion of the Work, Contractor shall deliver these record documents to Engineer.

7.12 Safety and Protection

- A. Contractor shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in connection with the Work. Such responsibility does not relieve Subcontractors of their responsibility for the safety of persons or property in the performance of their work, nor for compliance with applicable safety Laws and Regulations. Contractor shall take all necessary precautions for the safety of, and shall provide the necessary protection to prevent damage, injury, or loss to:
 - 1. all persons on the Site or who may be affected by the Work;
 - 2. all the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the Site; and
 - 3. other property at the Site or adjacent thereto, including trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, structures, other work in progress, utilities, and Underground Facilities and Utilities not designated for removal, relocation, or replacement in the course of construction.
- B. Contractor shall comply with all applicable Laws and Regulations relating to the safety of persons or property, or to the protection of persons or property from damage, injury, or loss; and shall erect and maintain all necessary safeguards for such safety and protection. Contractor shall notify Owner; the owners of adjacent property, Underground Facilities, and other utilities; and other contractors and utility owners performing work at or adjacent to the Site, when prosecution of the Work may affect them, and shall cooperate with them in the protection, removal, relocation, and replacement of their property or work in progress.
- C. Contractor shall comply with the applicable requirements of Owner's safety programs, if any. The Supplementary Conditions, if any, identify any Owner's safety programs that are applicable to the Work.
- D. Contractor shall inform Owner and Engineer of the specific requirements of Contractor's safety program with which Owner's and Engineer's employees and representatives must comply while at the Site.
- E. All damage, injury, or loss to any property referred to in Paragraph 7.12.A.2 or 7.12.A.3 caused, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, by Contractor, any Subcontractor, Supplier, or any other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, shall be remedied by Contractor at its expense (except damage or loss attributable to the fault of Drawings or Specifications or to the acts or omissions of Owner or Engineer or anyone employed by any of them, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, and not attributable, directly or indirectly, in whole or in part, to the fault or negligence of Contractor or any Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them).
- F. Contractor's duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall continue until Engineer has issued a notice to Owner and Contractor in accordance with Paragraph 15.06.B that the Work is acceptable (except as otherwise expressly provided in connection with Substantial Completion).

- G. Contractor's duties and responsibilities for safety and protection shall resume whenever Contractor or any Subcontractor or Supplier returns to the Site to fulfill warranty or correction obligations, or to conduct other tasks arising from the Contract Documents.
- H. Contractor shall provide for the orderly safe movement of traffic through or around the Work at all times.

7.13 Safety Representative

- A. Contractor shall designate a qualified and experienced safety representative at the Site whose duties and responsibilities shall be the prevention of accidents and the maintaining and supervising of safety precautions and programs.
- 7.14 Hazard Communication Programs
 - A. Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating any exchange of material safety data sheets or other hazard communication information required to be made available to or exchanged between or among employers at the Site in accordance with Laws or Regulations.
- 7.15 Emergencies
 - A. In emergencies affecting the safety or protection of persons or the Work or property at the Site or adjacent thereto, Contractor is obligated to act to prevent threatened damage, injury, or loss. Contractor shall give Engineer prompt written notice if Contractor believes that any significant changes in the Work or variations from the Contract Documents have been caused thereby or are required as a result thereof. If Engineer determines that a change in the Contract Documents is required because of the action taken by Contractor in response to such an emergency, a Work Change Directive or Change Order will be issued.
- 7.16 Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals
 - A. Shop Drawing and Sample Submittal Requirements:
 - 1. Before submitting a Shop Drawing or Sample, Contractor shall have:
 - a. reviewed and coordinated the Shop Drawing or Sample with other Shop Drawings and Samples and with the requirements of the Work and the Contract Documents;
 - b. determined and verified all field measurements, quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, installation requirements, materials, catalog numbers, and similar information with respect thereto;
 - c. determined and verified the suitability of all materials and equipment offered with respect to the indicated application, fabrication, shipping, handling, storage, assembly, and installation pertaining to the performance of the Work; and
 - d. determined and verified all information relative to Contractor's responsibilities for means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures of construction, and safety precautions and programs incident thereto.
 - 2. Each submittal shall bear a stamp or specific written certification that Contractor has satisfied Contractor's obligations under the Contract Documents with respect to Contractor's review and checking of that submittal, and that Contractor approves the submittal. Contractor's stamp or certification shall include project name, Contractor's reviewer name, and date of Contractor's approval.
 - 3. With each submittal, Contractor shall give Engineer specific written notice of any variations that the Shop Drawing or Sample may have from the requirements of the Contract Documents. This notice shall be set forth in a written communication separate

from the Shop Drawings or Sample submittal; and, in addition, in the case of Shop Drawings by a specific notation made on each Shop Drawing submitted to Engineer for review of each such variation, unless approved, Contractor will execute the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

- B. *Submittal Procedures for Shop Drawings and Samples*: Contractor shall submit required Shop Drawings and Samples to Engineer for review in accordance with the accepted Schedule of Submittals. Each submittal will be submitted with a Transmittal of Contractor's Submittal form provided by the Engineer.
 - 1. Preparation of Shop Drawings and Submittals:
 - a. Scope of any shop drawing, submittal, and letter of transmittal shall be:
 - 1) Limited to one (1) Specification Section.
 - 2) Within one Specification Section, Contractor shall provide complete systems in one submittal package.
 - 3) Contractor shall provide all of the submittal information to the Engineer from one specification section in one submittal package, unless approved by Engineer.
 - 2. Numbering of transmittals:
 - a. Include as prefix the Specification Section number followed by a series number, "xx", beginning with "01" and increasing sequentially with each additional transmittal.
 - b. If more than one (1) submittal under any Specification Section is approved by Engineer, assign consecutive series numbers to subsequent transmittal letters.
 - 3. Describing transmittal contents:
 - a. Provide listing of each component or item in submittal capable of receiving an independent review action.
 - b. Identify for each item:
 - 1) Manufacturer and Manufacturer's Drawing or data number.
 - 2) Contract Document tag number(s).
 - 3) Unique page numbers for each page of each separate item listed in the transmittal.
 - c. When submitting "or-equal" items that are not the products of named manufacturers, include the words "or-equal" in the item description.
 - 4. Contractor shall not use red color for marks on transmittals.
 - 5. Shop Drawings:
 - a. Contractor shall submit the electronic file or the number of copies required as identified below.
 - 1) Unless specifically prohibited elsewhere in the Contract Documents, each submittal may be made in an electronic format. Electronic submittals shall consist of a single electronic file and include the transmittal cover sheet.

- 2) Electronic submittals shall be in the Adobe Acrobat Portable Document Format (PDF). Use the latest version available at the time of execution of the Agreement. PDF files shall meet the following requirements:
 - i) Electronic files which contain more than 10 pages shall contain internal book-marking from an index page to major sections of the document.
 - ii) Shall be unsecured, unencrypted and not password protected.
 - iii) Allow the following actions:
 - (a) Printing.
 - (b) Assembling.
 - (c) Content copying or extraction.
 - (d) Extraction for Access.
 - (e) Commenting.
 - (f) Fitting of form fields.
 - (g) Signing.
 - (h) Creation of duplicate information.
- 3) Hard copy submittals shall consist of a minimum of four (4) copies for Engineer and up to a maximum of five (5) for the Contractor (9 total) of the entire submittal package including separate transmittal cover sheets.
- b. Data shown on the Shop Drawings will be complete with respect to quantities, dimensions, specified performance and design criteria, materials, and similar data to show Engineer the services, materials, and equipment Contractor proposes to provide and to enable Engineer to review the information for the limited purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D.
- c. When Shop Drawings are submitted for the purpose of showing the installation in greater detail, their review shall not excuse Contractor from requirements shown in the Contract Documents.
- d. For-Information-Only submittals upon which Engineer is not expected to conduct review or take responsive action may be so identified in the Contract Documents.
- e. When the Contract Documents require an engineered system to be provided by the Contractor such as an anchoring system or retaining wall, a Professional Engineer certified in the State of Colorado must design and stamp the Shop Drawings
- 6. Samples:
 - a. Contractor shall submit the required number of Samples required in the Contract Documents.
 - b. Contractor shall clearly identify each Sample as to material, Supplier, pertinent data such as catalog numbers, the use for which intended and other data as Engineer may require to enable Engineer to review the submittal for the limited purposes required by Paragraph 7.16.D.
- 7. Where a Shop Drawing or Sample is required by the Contract Documents or the Schedule of Submittals, any related Work performed prior to Engineer's review and approval of the pertinent submittal will be at the sole expense and responsibility of Contractor.

- C. *Other Submittals*: Contractor shall submit other required submittals to Engineer in accordance with the accepted Schedule of Submittals, and pursuant to the applicable terms of the Contract Documents and as identified below.
 - 1. Submit number of required submittals specified in the Contract Documents or as identified below.
 - a. Electronic submittals shall consist of a single electronic file. Electronic submittals shall be in the Adobe Acrobat Portable Document Format (PDF) meeting the requirements of Paragraph 7.16.B.5.a.2.
 - b. Hard copy submittals shall consist of a minimum of four (4) copies for Engineer and up to a maximum of five (5) for the Contractor (9 total) of the entire submittal package including separate transmittal cover sheets.
 - 2. When other submittals are submitted for the purpose of showing the installation in greater detail, their review shall not excuse Contractor from requirements shown in the Contract Documents.
 - 3. Miscellaneous other submittals upon which Engineer is not expected to conduct review or take responsive action may be so identified in the Contract Documents.
- D. Engineer's Review:
 - 1. Engineer will provide timely review of required submittals in accordance with the approved Schedule of Submittals. Engineer's review will be only to determine if the items covered by the submittals will, after installation or incorporation in the Work, conform to the information given in the Contract Documents and be compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. Contractor is responsible to field verify all dimensions, mating surfaces, and component connections to provide a proper fit.
 - 2. Engineer's review will not extend to means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction or to safety precautions or programs incident thereto.
 - 3. Engineer's review of a separate item as such will not indicate full review of the assembly in which the item functions.
 - 4. Engineer's review of a required submittal shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for any variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents unless Contractor has complied with the requirements of Paragraph 7.16.A.3 and Engineer has given written acknowledgement of each such variation by specific written notation thereof incorporated in or accompanying the submittal. Engineer will document any such approved variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents in a Field Order.
 - 5. Engineer's review of required submittal shall not relieve Contractor from responsibility for complying with the requirements of Paragraph 7.16.A and B.
 - 6. Engineer's review of a required submittals, or of a variation from the requirements of the Contract Documents, shall not, under any circumstances, change the Contract Times or Contract Price, unless such changes are included in a Change Order.
 - 7. Neither Engineer's receipt or review, of required submittals shall result in such item(s) becoming a Contract Document.
 - 8. Contractor shall perform the Work in compliance with the requirements and commitments set forth in reviewed Shop Drawings and Samples, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 7.16.D.4.

- 9. Review Action:
 - a. Shop Drawings and Samples.
 - 1) Items within transmittals will be reviewed for overall design intent and will receive one of the following actions:
 - i) A FURNISH AS SUBMITTED.
 - ii) B FURNISH AS NOTED.
 - iii) C REVISE AND RESUBMIT.
 - iv) D REJECTED.
 - v) E REVIEW NOT REQUIRED.
 - b. Submittals received will be initially reviewed to ascertain inclusion of Contractor's approval stamp or written certification. Submittals without a written certification, not stamped by the Contractor, or stamped with a stamp containing language other than that specified herein will not be reviewed for technical content and will be returned without any action.
 - c. Submittals returned with Action "A" or "B" are considered ready for fabrication and installation.
 - d. If for any reason a submittal that has an "A" or "B" Action is resubmitted, it must be accompanied by a letter defining the changes that have been made and the reason for the resubmittal.
 - e. Destroy or conspicuously mark "SUPERSEDED" all documents having previously received "A" or "B" Action that are superseded by a resubmittal.
 - f. Failure to include any specific information specified under the submittal paragraphs of the Specifications section will result in the submittal being returned to the Contractor with "C" or "D" Action.
 - g. Calculations required in individual Specification Sections will be received for information purposes only, as evidence calculations have been performed by individuals meeting specified qualifications, and will be returned stamped "E. Review Not Required" to acknowledge receipt.
 - h. Transmittals of submittals which the Engineer considers as "Not Required" submittal information, which is supplemental to but not essential to prior submitted information, or items of information in a transmittal which have been reviewed and received "A" or "B" Action in a prior submittal, will be returned with Action "E. Review Not Required."
 - i. Samples may be retained for comparison purposes.
 - j. Remove samples when directed.
 - k. Approved samples submitted or constructed, constitute criteria for judging completed work.
 - 1. Finished work or items not equal to samples will be rejected.
- E. *Resubmittal Procedures*:
 - 1. Resubmittal Preparation:

- a. Number with original root number and a suffix letter starting with "A" on a (new) duplicate transmittal form.
- b. Do not increase the scope of any prior transmittal.
- c. Account for all components of prior transmittal.
- d. If items in prior transmittal received "A" or "B" Action code, list them and indicate "A" or "B" as appropriate.
- e. Do not include submittal information for items listed with prior "A" or "B" Action in resubmittal.
- f. Provide all information in one resubmittal unless approved by Engineer and indicate "Outstanding-To Be Resubmitted at a Later Date" for any prior "C" or "D" Action item not included in resubmittal.
- 2. Contractor shall make corrections identified by Engineer and shall return the required number of corrected copies of resubmittals for review. Contractor shall direct specific attention in writing to revisions other than the corrections identified by Engineer on previous submittals.
- 3. Contractor shall furnish required resubmittals with sufficient information and accuracy to receive an "A" or "B" Action code for the resubmittal (second submittal). Engineer will record Engineer's time for reviewing a third or subsequent resubmittal required to achieve an "A" or "B" Action code, and Contractor shall be responsible for Engineer's charges to Owner for such time. Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for such charges.
- 4. If Contractor requests a change of a previously reviewed submittal item, Contractor shall be responsible for Engineer's charges to Owner for its review time, and Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor to secure reimbursement for such charges, unless the need for such change is beyond the control of Contractor.
- 7.17 Contractor's General Warranty and Guarantee
 - A. Contractor warrants and guarantees to Owner that all Work will be in accordance with the Contract Documents and will not be defective. Engineer and its officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, and subcontractors shall be entitled to rely on Contractor's warranty and guarantee.
 - B. Contractor is responsible for protecting the Work from damage due to weather or other causes until Engineer accepts the Work in writing, including any time that the Work is suspended. Contractor's warranty and guarantee hereunder excludes defects or damage caused by:
 - 1. abuse, modification, or improper maintenance or operation by persons other than Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or any other individual or entity for whom Contractor is responsible;
 - 2. normal wear and tear under normal usage; or
 - 3. Anything else not attributable to Contractor other than that which could have been prevented by Contractor reasonably protecting the Work.
 - C. Contractor's obligation to perform and complete the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents shall be absolute. None of the following will constitute an acceptance of Work that is not in accordance with the Contract Documents or a release of Contractor's obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents:

- 1. observations by Engineer;
- 2. recommendation by Engineer or payment by Owner of any progress or final payment;
- 3. the issuance of a certificate of Substantial Completion by Engineer or any payment related thereto by Owner;
- 4. use or occupancy of the Work or any part thereof by Owner;
- 5. any review of a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal;
- 6. the issuance of a notice of acceptability by Engineer;
- 7. any inspection, test, or approval by others; or
- 8. any correction of defective Work by Owner.
- D. If the Contract requires the Contractor to accept the assignment of a contract entered into by Owner, then the specific warranties, guarantees, and correction obligations contained in the assigned contract shall govern with respect to Contractor's performance obligations to Owner for the Work described in the assigned contract.

7.18 Indemnification

- A. To the fullest extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, and in addition to any other obligations of Contractor under the Contract or otherwise, Contractor shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to the performance of the Work, provided that any such claim, cost, loss, or damage is attributable to bodily injury, sickness, disease, or death, or to injury to or destruction of tangible property (other than the Work itself), including the loss of use resulting therefrom but only to the extent caused by any negligent act or omission of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable.
- B. In any and all claims against Owner or Engineer or any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors by any employee (or the survivor or personal representative of such employee) of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or any individual or entity directly or indirectly employed by any of them to perform any of the Work, or anyone for whose acts any of them may be liable, the indemnification obligation under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for Contractor or any such Subcontractor, Supplier, or other individual or entity under workers' compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other employee benefit acts.
- C. The indemnification obligations of Contractor under Paragraph 7.18.A shall not extend to the liability of Engineer and Engineer's officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors arising out of:
 - 1. the preparation or approval of, or the failure to prepare or approve maps, Drawings, opinions, reports, surveys, Change Orders, designs, or Specifications; or
 - 2. giving directions or instructions, or failing to give them, if that is the primary cause of the injury or damage.

7.19 Delegation of Professional Design Services

- A. Contractor will not be required to provide professional design services unless such services are specifically required by the Contract Documents for a portion of the Work or unless such services are required to carry out Contractor's responsibilities for construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures. Contractor shall not be required to provide professional services in violation of applicable Laws and Regulations.
- B. If professional design services or certifications by a design professional related to systems, materials, or equipment are specifically required of Contractor by the Contract Documents, Owner and Engineer will specify all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy. Contractor shall cause such services or certifications to be provided by a properly licensed professional in the State of Colorado, whose signature and seal shall appear on all drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications, and other submittals prepared by such professional. Shop Drawings and other submittals related to the Work designed or certified by such professional, if prepared by others, shall bear such professional's written approval when submitted to Engineer.
- C. Owner and Engineer shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy, and completeness of the services, certifications, or approvals performed by such design professionals, provided Owner and Engineer have specified to Contractor all performance and design criteria that such services must satisfy.
- D. Pursuant to this paragraph, Engineer's review of design calculations and design drawings will be only for the limited purpose of checking for conformance with performance and design criteria given and the design concept expressed in the Contract Documents. Engineer's review of Shop Drawings and other submittals (except design calculations and design drawings) will be only for the purpose stated in Paragraph 7.16.D.1.
- E. Contractor shall not be responsible for the adequacy of the performance or design criteria specified by Owner or Engineer.

7.20 Value Engineering Change Proposal (VECP)

- A. Prior to Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP) development, the Contractor shall support design completion with development of value engineering suggestions which if accepted will be included in the development of the GMP without including incentive sharing as indicated below. Following the development and mutual agreement of the GMP and during construction, the Contractor is encouraged to develop, prepare, and submit Value Engineering Change Proposals (VECPs) voluntarily for consideration by the Owner and Engineer. The Contractor shall share in any net savings realized from accepted VECPs post-GMP development, in accordance with the incentive sharing provision below.
- B. These requirements apply to all proposals initiated, developed, and identified as VECPs by Contractor. To be qualified as a VECP, a proposal must be identified as a VECP at the time of its submission to Engineer.
- C. Change Proposal Requests initiated by Owner or Engineer will not be considered as VECPs.
- D. Contractor shall submit VECPs in writing to the Engineer with the understanding that Engineer is not required to approve them. If a VECP is accepted by Owner, an amount of 25 percent of the resultant net savings will be paid to Contractor.
- E. Each VECP must result in a net cost savings without impairing essential functions and characteristics of the item(s) or of any other part of the project, including but not limited to service life, reliability, operation and maintenance costs, desired aesthetics, and safety. Net savings is calculated by subtracting Owner VECP implementation costs from the Contractor's

proposed cost reduction. Owner implementation costs may include Engineering review and redesign and Owner review costs.

- F. As a minimum, the following information shall be submitted with each VECP:
 - 1. A statement that the proposal is submitted as a VECP.
 - 2. A statement concerning the basis for the VECP and benefits to Owner. Basis and benefits statement shall include a description of the difference between the existing contract requirement and the proposed requirement, the comparative advantages and disadvantages of each, a justification when an item's function or characteristics are being altered, the effect of the change on the end item's performance, potential impact on environmental and other permits, and any pertinent objective test data.
 - 3. An itemized list and analysis of the Contract items and requirements that must be changed if the VECP is accepted.
 - 4. A separate, detailed comparison of the estimated costs under (i) the affected portions of the existing Contract requirements and (ii) the Contract modified by the VECP. The cost reduction associated with the VECP shall take into account the Contractor's allowable VECP implementation costs, including any amount attributable to subcontracts. Contractor shall use the mark ups for overhead and profit allowed by the conditions of the Contract.
 - 5. Proposed specifications, specification revisions, and recommendations as to how such VECP changes are to be accomplished.
 - 6. A description of additional potential costs the Owner may incur in implementing the VECP, such as test and evaluation, operating and maintenance costs, and permit requirements.
 - 7. A statement indicating the time and date by which a Change Order adopting the VECP must be issued so as to obtain the maximum cost effectiveness, noting any effect on the contract completion time or delivery schedule. This statement shall include confirmation from suppliers of availability and proposed delivery dates of materials and equipment.
 - 8. Designs shall be signed and sealed by a registered Professional Engineer licensed in the State of Colorado.
 - 9. Construction costs shall include as a minimum the following:
 - a. Detailed listing of quantities of materials and equipment.
 - b. Unit prices of materials and equipment.
 - c. Labor hours and hourly rates for installation labor.
 - d. Detailed listing of equipment and equipment rates used in the installation.
 - e. Subcontract and Contractor mark ups.
 - f. Permit fees and license costs.
 - 10. Identification of any previous submissions of the VECP, including the dates submitted and previous Owner actions, if known.
- G. Engineer's Action.
 - 1. Engineer shall track the costs for VECP review on a time and materials cost basis. As part of the review, Engineer will estimate Owner costs associated with implementation of the proposed changes.

- 2. Engineer will provide the Owner with comments on the VECP and an estimate of Owner costs.
- 3. Engineer and Owner shall review the VECP and Engineer comments to allow the Owner to make a decision to accept or reject the VECP.
- 4. The Engineer will process VECPs expeditiously; however, it shall not be liable for any delay in acting upon a VECP.
- 5. If the VECP is not accepted, the Engineer shall notify the Contractor in writing, explaining the reasons for rejection. The Contractor may withdraw any VECP, in whole or in part, at any time before it is accepted by Owner. The Contractor shall not be reimbursed for expenditures for VECP preparation and submission, other than implementation costs, if the VECP is accepted. The Owner will pay for Owner's and Engineer's costs to review the first rejected VECP. For additional VECPs submitted and rejected, the Engineer and Owner will record all costs for review on a time and material basis and the Contractor will be back charged for the review costs.
- H. Accepted VECPs will be processed in the same manner prescribed for any other proposal which would necessitate issuance of a Change Order. Owner may accept in whole or in part any VECP by issuing a Change Order which identifies the VECP on which it is based and made before contract performance is completed. The Owner's decision to accept or reject all or part of any VECP and the decision as to which of the sharing rates applies shall be final and not subject to the Disputes clause or otherwise subject to litigation or appeal. Owner will not be liable to Contractor for failure to accept or act upon any VECP submitted pursuant to these requirements or for any delays to the work attributable to any such proposal. The preparation, submission or consideration of a VECP does not entitle the Contractor to a schedule extension.
 - 1. Until Owner approves a VECP by a Change Order, Contractor shall be obligated to the terms and conditions of the existing Contract. If an executed Change Order or a Work Order has not been issued by the date specified in Contractor's VECP, or another date Contractor may subsequently have specified in writing, the VECP shall be deemed rejected.
- I. The Change Order effecting the necessary Contract modification will establish the net savings agreed upon, will provide for adjustment in the Contract prices, and will indicate the net savings to be equally divided between Contractor and Owner.
 - 1. Contractor shall prepare and submit the VECP at no additional cost to Owner. Owner reserves the right to include in the VECP any conditions it deems appropriate for consideration, approval, and implementation of the VECP. Contractor's share of the net savings constitutes full compensation for designing and developing the VECP and effecting all changes pursuant to the agreement.
- J. Acceptance of the VECP by Owner and performance of the Work by Contractor will not change the Contract time limit unless specifically addressed in the Change Order authorizing the VECP.
- K. Owner expressly reserves the right to adopt a VECP for general use in its contracts. VECPs identical or similar to previously accepted VECPs will be eligible for consideration and compensation provided they were not previously adopted for general application by Owner. When a VECP is adopted for general use, compensation for it will be applied only to those contracts awarded and for which the subject VECP has been submitted before the date of its general adoption.
- L. The following will not normally be considered acceptable VECPs:

- 1. Changes to basic bridge design.
- 2. Changes to basic pavement designs.
- 3. Changes requiring different right-of-way limits.
- 4. Requirements set by permit conditions.
- M. VECPs based on prior changes to Owner contracts and/or procedures are not acceptable.
- 7.21 Request for Information
 - A. Contractor may, after exercising due diligence to locate required information, request from Engineer clarification or interpretation of the requirements of the Contract Documents. Engineer shall respond to such Contractors' requests for clarification or interpretation.
- 7.22 Equal Employment Opportunity Clause
 - A. During the performance of this Contract, Contractor agrees as follows:
 - 1. Contractor shall not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, creed, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity, age, disability or national origin. Contractor shall take affirmative action to ensure that applicants are employed and that employees are treated during employment without regard to their race, religion, color, sex or national origin. As used herein, the word "treated" shall mean and include, without limitation, the following: recruited, whether by advertising or by other means; compensated; selected for training, including apprenticeship; promoted; upgraded; demoted; downgraded; transferred; laid off; and terminated. Contractor agrees to and shall post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for employment, notices to be provided by the contracting officers setting forth the provisions of this nondiscrimination clause.
 - 2. Contractor shall, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on behalf of Contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for employment without regard to race, religion, color, creed, sex, marital status, sexual orientation, gender identity, national origin, age, or disability.
 - 3. Contractor shall send to each representative of workers with which it has a collective bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding a notice advising the labor union or workers' representative of Contractor's commitments under the equal employment opportunity clause of the City and shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees and applicants for employment.
 - 4. Contractor shall furnish to the Human Rights and Relations Director all federal forms containing the information and reports required by the federal government for federal contracts under federal rules and regulations, including the information required by Sections 10-192 to 10-194, inclusive, and shall permit reasonable access to its records. Records accessible to the Human Rights and Relations Director shall be those which are related to Paragraphs 7.22.B.1 through 7.22.B.7 of this subsection and only after reasonable notice is given Contractor. The purpose of this provision is to provide for investigation to ascertain compliance with the program provided for herein.
 - 5. Contractor shall take such actions with respect to any Subcontractor as Owner may direct as a means of enforcing the provisions of Paragraphs 7.22.B.1 through 7.22.B.7 herein, including penalties and sanctions for noncompliance; however, in the event Contractor becomes involved in or is threatened with litigation as the result of such directions by Owner, Owner will enter into such litigation as is necessary to protect the interests of Owner and to effectuate the provisions of this division; and, in the case of contracts

receiving federal assistance, Contractor or Owner may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect the interests of the United States.

- 6. Contractor shall file and shall cause their Subcontractors, if any, to file compliance reports with Contractor in the same form and to the same extent as required by the federal government for federal contracts under federal rules and regulations. Such compliance reports shall be filed with the Human Rights and Relations Director. Compliance reports filed at such times as directed shall contain information as to the employment practices, policies, programs and statistics of Contractor and their Subcontractors.
- 7. Contractor shall include the provisions of Paragraphs 7.22.B.1 through 7.22.B.7 of this section, "Equal Employment Opportunity Clause," and section 10-193 in every subcontract or purchase order so that such provisions will be binding upon each Subcontractor or Supplier.

ARTICLE 8 – OTHER WORK AT THE SITE

- 8.01 Other Work
 - A. In addition to and apart from the Work under the Contract Documents, Owner may perform other work at or adjacent to the Site. Such other work may be performed by Owner's employees, or through contracts between Owner and third parties. Owner may also arrange to have third-party utility owners perform work on their utilities and facilities at or adjacent to the Site.
 - B. If Owner performs other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner's employees, or through contracts for such other work, then Owner shall give Contractor written notice thereof prior to starting any such other work. If Owner has advance information regarding the start of any utility work at or adjacent to the Site, Owner shall provide such information to Contractor.
 - C. Contractor shall afford each other contractor that performs such other work, each utility owner performing other work, and Owner, if Owner is performing other work with Owner's employees, proper and safe access to the Site, and provide a reasonable opportunity for the introduction and storage of materials and equipment and the execution of such other work. Contractor shall do all cutting, fitting, and patching of the Work that may be required to properly connect or otherwise make its several parts come together and properly integrate with such other work. Contractor shall not endanger any work of others by cutting, excavating, or otherwise altering such work; provided, however, that Contractor may cut or alter others' work with the written consent of Engineer and the others whose work will be affected.
 - D. If the proper execution or results of any part of Contractor's Work depends upon work performed by others under this Article 8, Contractor shall inspect such other work and promptly report to Engineer in writing any delays, defects, or deficiencies in such other work of which Contractor discovers that render it unavailable or unsuitable for the proper execution and results of Contractor's Work. Contractor's failure to so report will constitute an acceptance of such other work as fit and proper for integration with Contractor's Work except for latent defects and deficiencies in such other work.

8.02 Coordination

A. If Owner intends to contract with others for the performance of other work at or adjacent to the Site, to perform other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner's employees, or to arrange to have utility owners perform work at or adjacent to the Site, the following will be set forth in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, or provided to Contractor prior to the start of any such other work:

- 1. the identity of the individual or entity that will have authority and responsibility for coordination of the activities among the various contractors;
- 2. an itemization of the specific matters to be covered by such authority and responsibility; and
- 3. the extent of such authority and responsibilities.
- B. Unless otherwise provided in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, Owner shall have sole authority and responsibility for such coordination.
- 8.03 Legal Relationships
 - A. If, in the course of performing other work at or adjacent to the Site for Owner, Owner's employees, any other contractor working for Owner, or any utility owner for whom the Owner is responsible causes damage to the Work or to the property of Contractor or its Subcontractors, or delays, disrupts, interferes with, or increases the scope or cost of the performance of the Work, through actions or inaction, then Contractor may be entitled to an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an equitable adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Times under this paragraph within 30 days of the damaging, delaying, disrupting, or interfering event. The entitlement to, and extent of, any such equitable adjustment shall take into account information (if any) regarding such other work that was provided to Contractor in the Contract Documents prior to the submittal of the Bid. When applicable, any such equitable adjustment in Contract Price shall be conditioned on Contractor assigning to Owner all Contractor's rights against such other contractor or utility owner with respect to the damage, delay, disruption, or interference that is the subject of the adjustment. Contractor's entitlement to an adjustment of the Contract Times is conditioned on such adjustment being essential to Contractor's ability to complete the Work within the Contract Times.
 - B. Contractor shall take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damaging, delaying, disrupting, or interfering with the work of Owner, any other contractor, or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site. If Contractor fails to take such measures and as a result damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any such other contractor or utility owner, then Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor, and assign to such other contractor or utility owner the Owner's contractual rights against Contractor with respect to the breach of the obligations set forth in this paragraph.
 - C. When Owner is performing other work at or adjacent to the Site with Owner's employees, Contractor shall be liable to Owner for damage to such other work, and for the reasonable direct delay, disruption, and interference costs incurred by Owner as a result of Contractor's failure to take reasonable and customary measures with respect to Owner's other work. In response to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference, Owner may impose a set-off against payments due to Contractor.
 - D. If Contractor damages, delays, disrupts, or interferes with the work of any other contractor, or any utility owner performing other work at or adjacent to the Site, through Contractor's failure to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid such impacts, or if any claim arising out of Contractor's actions, inactions, or negligence in performance of the Work at or adjacent to the Site is made by any such other contractor or utility owner against Contractor, Owner, or Engineer, then Contractor shall (1) promptly attempt to settle the claim as to all parties through negotiations with such other contractor or utility owner, or otherwise resolve the claim by arbitration or other dispute resolution proceeding or at law, and (2) indemnify, defend and hold harmless Owner and Engineer, and the officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants and subcontractors of each and any of them from and against any such

claims, and against all costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) to the extent arising out of or relating to such damage, delay, disruption, or interference.

ARTICLE 9 – OWNER'S RESPONSIBILITIES

- 9.01 *Communications to Contractor*
 - A. Except as otherwise provided in these General Conditions, Owner shall issue all communications to Contractor through Engineer.
- 9.02 *Replacement of Engineer*
 - A. Owner may at its discretion appoint an engineer to replace Engineer, provided Contractor makes no reasonable objection to the replacement engineer. The replacement engineer's status under the Contract Documents shall be that of the former Engineer.
- 9.03 Furnish Data
 - A. Owner shall promptly furnish the data required of Owner under the Contract Documents.
- 9.04 Pay When Due
 - A. Owner shall make payments to Contractor when they are due as provided in the Agreement.
- 9.05 Lands and Easements; Reports, Tests, and Drawings
 - A. Owner's duties with respect to providing lands and easements are set forth in Paragraph 5.01.
 - B. Owner's duties with respect to providing engineering surveys to establish reference points are set forth in Paragraph 4.03.
 - C. Article 5 refers to Owner's identifying and making available to Contractor copies of reports of explorations and tests of conditions at or adjacent to the Site, and drawings of physical conditions relating to existing surface or subsurface structures at the Site that have been utilized by Engineer in preparing the Contract Documents.
- 9.06 Insurance
 - A. Owner's responsibilities, if any, with respect to purchasing and maintaining liability and property insurance are set forth in Article 6.
- 9.07 Change Orders
 - A. Owner's responsibilities with respect to Change Orders are set forth in Article 11.
- 9.08 Inspections, Tests, and Approvals
 - A. Owner's responsibility with respect to certain inspections, tests, and approvals is set forth in Paragraph 14.02.B.
- 9.09 Limitations on Owner's Responsibilities
 - A. Owner shall not supervise, direct, or have control or authority over, nor be responsible for, Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Owner will not be responsible for Contractor's failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.

- B. Owner or Owner's authorized representatives shall not be liable, either personally or as employees of Owner, for any action taken in performance of their authorized duties.
- 9.10 Undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition
 - A. Owner's responsibility in respect to an undisclosed Hazardous Environmental Condition is set forth in Paragraph 5.06.
- 9.11 Evidence of Financial Arrangements
 - A. Upon request of Contractor, Owner shall furnish Contractor reasonable evidence that financial arrangements have been made to satisfy Owner's obligations under the Contract Documents (including obligations under proposed changes in the Work).
- 9.12 Safety Programs
 - A. While at the Site, Owner's employees and representatives shall comply with the specific applicable requirements of Contractor's safety programs of which Owner has been informed.
 - B. Owner shall furnish copies of any applicable Owner safety programs to Contractor.

ARTICLE 10 – ENGINEER'S STATUS DURING CONSTRUCTION

- 10.01 Owner's Representative
 - A. Engineer will be Owner's representative during the construction period. The duties and responsibilities and the limitations of authority of Engineer as Owner's representative during construction are set forth in the Contract.
- 10.02 Visits to Site
 - A. Engineer will make visits to the Site at intervals appropriate to the various stages of construction as Engineer deems necessary in order to observe as an experienced and qualified design professional the progress that has been made and the quality of the various aspects of Contractor's executed Work. Based on information obtained during such visits and observations, Engineer, for the benefit of Owner, will determine, in general, if the Work is proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents. Engineer will not be required to make exhaustive or continuous inspections on the Site to check the quality or quantity of the Work. Engineer's efforts will be directed toward providing for Owner a greater degree of confidence that the completed Work will conform generally to the Contract Documents. On the basis of such visits and observations, Engineer will keep Owner informed of the progress of the Work and will endeavor to guard Owner against defective Work.
 - B. Engineer's visits and observations are subject to all the limitations on Engineer's authority and responsibility set forth in Paragraph 10.08. Particularly, but without limitation, during or as a result of Engineer's visits or observations of Contractor's Work, Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work.
- 10.03 Construction Manager
 - A. If Owner and Engineer have agreed that Engineer will furnish a Construction Manager (CM), as needed to represent Engineer at the Site and assist Engineer in observing the progress and quality of the Work, then the authority and responsibilities of any such CM will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, and limitations on the responsibilities thereof will be as provided in Paragraph 10.08. CM is Engineer's agent at the Site, will act as directed by and

under the supervision of Engineer, and will confer with Engineer regarding CM's actions. CM's dealings in matters pertaining to Contractor's work in progress shall in general be with Engineer and Contractor, keeping Owner advised as necessary. CM's dealings with Subcontractors shall only be through or with the full knowledge and approval of Contractor. CM shall generally communicate with Owner with the knowledge of and under the direction of Engineer. CM may, at their discretion, delegate such duties as needed to a Resident Project Representative (RPR). RPR's primary function is to observe the Work on a daily basis and assist the CM as directed. If Owner designates another representative or agent to represent Owner at the Site who is not Engineer's consultant, agent, or employee, the responsibilities and authority and limitations thereon of such other individual or entity will be as provided in the Supplementary Conditions, if any.

- B. Duties and responsibilities of CM include:
 - 1. *Schedules:* Review the progress schedule, schedule of Shop Drawing, Sample, and Other Submittals, and schedule of values prepared by Contractor and consult with Engineer concerning acceptability.
 - 2. *Conferences and Meetings:* Attend meetings with Contractor, such as preconstruction conferences, progress meetings, job conferences, and other Project-related meetings, and prepare and circulate copies of minutes thereof.
 - 3. Liaison:
 - a. Serve as Engineer's liaison with Contractor, working principally through Contractor's Superintendent, assist in providing information regarding the intent of the Contract Documents.
 - b. Assist Engineer in serving as Owner's liaison with Contractor when Contractor's operations affect Owner's on-site operations.
 - c. Assist in obtaining from Owner additional details or information when required for proper execution of the Work.
 - 4. *Interpretation of Contract Documents:* Report to Engineer when clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents are needed and transmit to Contractor clarifications and interpretations as issued by Engineer.
 - 5. Shop Drawings, Samples, and Other Submittals:
 - a. Record date of receipt of Samples, Shop Drawings, and other Submittals.
 - b. Receive Samples which are furnished at the Site by Contractor, and notify Engineer of availability of Samples for examination.
 - c. Advise Engineer and Contractor of the commencement of any portion of the Work requiring a Shop Drawing or Sample submittal for which CM believes that the submittal has not been reviewed by Engineer.
 - 6. *Modifications:* Consider and evaluate Contractor's suggestions for modifications in the Contract Documents and report such suggestions, together with CM's recommendations, to Engineer. Transmit to Contractor in writing decisions as issued by Engineer.
 - 7. Review of Work and Rejection of Defective Work:
 - a. Conduct on-Site observations of Contractor's work in progress to assist Engineer in determining if the Work is in general proceeding in accordance with the Contract Documents.

- b. Report to Engineer whenever CM believes that any part of Contractor's work in progress will not produce a completed Project that conforms generally to the Contract Documents or will imperil the integrity of the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated in the Contract Documents, or has been damaged, or does not meet the requirements of any inspection, test or review required to be made; and advise Engineer of that part of work in progress that CM believes should be corrected or rejected or should be uncovered for observation, or requires special testing, inspection or review.
- 8. Inspections, Tests, and System Startups:
 - a. Consult with Engineer in advance of scheduled major inspections, tests, and systems startups of important phases of the Work.
 - b. Verify that tests, equipment, and systems start-ups and operating and maintenance training are conducted in the presence of appropriate Owner's personnel, and that Contractor maintains adequate records thereof.
 - c. Observe, record, and report to Engineer appropriate details relative to the test procedures and systems startups.
 - d. Accompany visiting inspectors representing public or other agencies having jurisdiction over the Project, record the results of these inspections, and report to Engineer.
- 9. Records:
 - a. Maintain at the Site orderly files for correspondence, reports of job conferences, reproductions of original Contract Documents including all Change Orders, Field Orders, Change Proposal Requests, Work Change Directives, Addenda, additional Drawings issued subsequent to the execution of the Contract, Engineer's clarifications and interpretations of the Contract Documents, progress reports, Shop Drawing, Sample and Other Submittals received from and delivered to Contractor, and other Project-related documents.
 - b. Prepare a daily report, recording Contractor's and Subcontractor's hours on the Site, weather conditions, data relative to questions of Change Orders, Field Orders, Change Proposal Requests, Work Change Directives, or changed conditions, Site visitors, daily activities, decisions, observations in general, and specific observations in more detail as in the case of observing test procedures; and send copies to Engineer.
 - c. Record names, addresses, fax numbers, e-mail addresses, web site locations, and telephone numbers of all Contractors, Subcontractors, and major Suppliers of materials and equipment.
- 10. Reports:
 - a. Furnish to Engineer periodic reports as required of progress of the Work and of Contractor's compliance with the Progress Schedule and Schedule of Shop Drawing, Sample, and Other Submittals.
 - b. Draft, and recommend to Engineer, proposed Change Orders, Change Proposal Requests, Work Change Directives, and Field Orders. Obtain backup material from Contractor.
 - c. Furnish to Engineer and Owner copies of all inspection, test, and system startup reports.

- d. Immediately notify Engineer of the occurrence of any Site accidents, emergencies, acts of God endangering the Work, damage to property by fire or other causes, or the discovery of any Constituent of Concern.
- 11. *Payment Requests:* Review Applications for Payment with Contractor for compliance with the established procedure for their submission and forward with recommendations to Engineer, noting particularly the relationship of the payment requested to the schedule of values, for Lump Sum Work completed, materials and equipment delivered at the Site but not incorporated in the Work, and submission of updated Progress Schedule.
- 12. *Certificates, Operation and Maintenance Manuals:* During the course of the Work, verify that materials and equipment certificates, operation and maintenance manuals and other data required by the Contract Documents to be assembled and furnished by Contractor are applicable to the items actually installed and in accordance with the Contract Documents, and have these submittals delivered to Engineer for review and forwarding to Owner prior to payment for that part of the Work.
- 13. *Completion:*
 - a. Participate in a Substantial Completion inspection, assist in the determination of Substantial Completion, preparation of a punch list of items to be completed or corrected, and issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion.
 - b. Participate in a final inspection in the company of Engineer, Owner and Contractor and prepare a final punch list of items to be completed and deficiencies to be remedied.
 - c. Observe whether all items on the final punch list have been completed or corrected and make recommendations to Engineer concerning acceptance of the Work.
- C. Limitations of Authority of CM: CM shall not:
 - 1. Authorize any deviation from the Contract Documents or substitution of materials or equipment (including "or-equal" items).
 - 2. Exceed limitations of Engineer's authority as set forth in the Agreement or the Contract Documents.
 - 3. Undertake any of the responsibilities of Contractor, Subcontractors, Suppliers, or Contractor's Superintendent.
 - 4. Advise on, issue directions relative to, or assume control over any aspect of the means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures of Contractor's work unless such advice or directions are specifically required by the Contract Documents.
 - 5. Advise on, issue directions regarding, or assume control over safety practices, precautions, and programs in connection with the activities or operations of Owner or Contractor.
 - 6. Participate in specialized field or laboratory tests or inspections conducted off-site by others except as specifically authorized by Engineer.
 - 7. Accept Shop Drawing, Sample or Other submittals from anyone other than Contractor.
 - 8. Authorize Owner to occupy the Project in whole or in part.

10.04 Rejecting Defective Work

A. Engineer has the authority to reject Work in accordance with Article 14.

B. The acceptance of materials or equipment by or on behalf of Owner at any time shall not preclude future rejection if they are subsequently found to be defective, inferior in quality, not equal to the material or equipment specified, or are not as otherwise represented to Engineer or Owner.

10.05 Shop Drawings, Change Orders and Payments

- A. Engineer's authority and limitations thereof, as to Shop Drawings and Samples, are set forth in Paragraph 7.16.
- B. Engineer's authority and limitations thereof, as to design calculations and design drawings submitted in response to a delegation of professional design services, if any, are set forth in Paragraph 7.19.
- C. Engineer's authority as to Change Orders is set forth in Article 11.
- D. Engineer's authority as to Applications for Payment is set forth in Article 15.
- 10.06 Determinations for Unit Price Work
 - A. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor as set forth in Paragraph 13.03. Contractor acknowledges that the quantities contained in the Bid Form, unless otherwise indicated in the Contract Documents, are estimates that may vary.
- 10.07 Decisions on Requirements of Contract Documents and Acceptability of Work
 - A. Engineer will render decisions regarding the requirements of the Contract Documents, and judge the acceptability of the Work, pursuant to the specific procedures set forth herein for initial interpretations, Change Proposals, and acceptance of the Work. In rendering such decisions and judgments, Engineer will not show partiality to Owner or Contractor, and will not be liable to Owner, Contractor, or others in connection with any proceedings, interpretations, decisions, or judgments conducted or rendered in good faith.
- 10.08 Limitations on Engineer's Authority and Responsibilities
 - A. Neither Engineer's authority or responsibility under this Article 10 or under any other provision of the Contract, nor any decision made by Engineer in good faith either to exercise or not exercise such authority or responsibility or the undertaking, exercise, or performance of any authority or responsibility by Engineer, shall create, impose, or give rise to any duty in contract, tort, or otherwise owed by Engineer to Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or to any surety for or employee or agent of any of them.
 - B. Engineer will not supervise, direct, control, or have authority over or be responsible for Contractor's means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or for any failure of Contractor to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to the performance of the Work. Engineer will not be responsible for Contractor's failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents.
 - C. Engineer will not be responsible for the acts or omissions of Contractor or of any Subcontractor, any Supplier, or of any other individual or entity performing any of the Work.
 - D. Engineer's review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation and all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates of inspection, tests and approvals, and other documentation required to be delivered by Paragraph 15.06.A will only be to determine generally that their content complies with the requirements
of, and in the case of certificates of inspections, tests, and approvals, that the results certified indicate compliance with the Contract Documents.

- E. The limitations upon authority and responsibility set forth in this Paragraph 10.08 shall also apply to the Construction Manager and Resident Project Representative, if any.
- 10.09 Compliance with Safety Program
 - A. While at the Site, Engineer's employees and representatives will comply with the specific applicable requirements of Owner's and Contractor's safety programs (if any) of which Engineer has been informed.

ARTICLE 11 - AMENDING THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS; CHANGES IN THE WORK

- 11.01 Amending and Supplementing Contract Documents
 - A. The Contract Documents may be amended or supplemented by a Change Order, a Work Change Directive, or a Field Order.
 - 1. Change Orders:
 - a. If an amendment or supplement to the Contract Documents includes a change in the Contract Price or the Contract Times, such amendment or supplement must be set forth in a Change Order. A Change Order also may be used to establish amendments and supplements of the Contract Documents that do not affect the Contract Price or Contract Times.
 - b. Owner and Contractor may amend those terms and conditions of the Contract Documents that do not involve (1) the performance or acceptability of the Work, (2) the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or (3) other engineering or technical matters, without the recommendation of the Engineer. Such an amendment shall be set forth in a Change Order.
 - 2. *Work Change Directives*: A Work Change Directive will not change the Contract Price or the Contract Times but is evidence that the parties expect that the modification ordered or documented by a Work Change Directive will be incorporated in a subsequently issued Change Order, following negotiations by the parties as to the Work Change Directive's effect, if any, on the Contract Price and Contract Times; or, if negotiations are unsuccessful, by a determination under the terms of the Contract Documents governing adjustments, expressly including Paragraph 11.04 regarding change of Contract Price. Contractor must submit any Change Proposal seeking an adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, no later than 30 days after the completion of the Work set out in the Work Change Directive. Owner must submit any Claim seeking an adjustment of the Contract Price or the Contract Price or the Contract Times, or both, no later than 60 days after issuance of the Work Change Directive.
 - 3. *Field Orders*: Engineer may authorize changes in the Work if the changes are compatible with the design concept of the completed Project as a functioning whole as indicated by the Contract Documents. The changes may include, but are not limited to, Contract item quantities; construction details; roadway, sewer, structure or facility grade or alignment; construction sequencing or phasing; or roadway restrictions and detours. Alterations will not waive or invalidate any Contract provisions. Such changes will be accomplished by a Field Order and will be binding on Owner and also on Contractor, which shall perform the Work involved promptly. If Contractor believes that a Field Order justifies an adjustment in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or both, then before proceeding with the Work at issue, Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal as provided herein.

- 11.02 Owner-Authorized Changes in the Work
 - A. Without invalidating the Contract and without notice to any surety, Owner may, at any time or from time to time, order additions, deletions, or revisions in the Work. Such changes shall be supported by Engineer's recommendation, to the extent the change involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other engineering or technical matters. Such changes may be accomplished by a Change Order, if Owner and Contractor have agreed as to the effect, if any, of the changes on Contract Times or Contract Price; or by a Work Change Directive. Upon receipt of any such document, Contractor shall promptly proceed with the Work involved; or, in the case of a deletion in the Work, promptly cease construction activities with respect to such deleted Work. Added or revised Work shall be performed under the applicable conditions of the Contract Documents. Nothing in this paragraph shall obligate Contractor to undertake work that Contractor reasonably concludes cannot be performed in a manner consistent with Contractor's safety obligations under the Contract Documents or Laws and Regulations.

11.03 Unauthorized Changes in the Work

- A. Contractor shall not be entitled to an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times with respect to any work performed that is not required by the Contract Documents, as amended, modified, or supplemented, except in the case of an emergency as provided in Paragraph 7.15 or in the case of uncovering Work as provided in Paragraph 14.05.
- 11.04 *Change of Contract Price*
 - A. The Contract Price may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an adjustment in the Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06. Any Claim for an adjustment of Contract Price shall comply with the provisions of Article 12.
 - B. An adjustment in the Contract Price will be determined as follows:
 - 1. where the Work involved is covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, then by application of such unit prices to the quantities of the items involved (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03); or
 - 2. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, then by a mutually agreed unit price and estimated quantity (subject to the provisions of Paragraph 13.03); or
 - 3. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents, then by a mutually agreed lump sum (which may include an allowance for overhead and profit not necessarily in accordance with Paragraph 11.04.C.2); or
 - 4. where the Work involved is not covered by unit prices contained in the Contract Documents and the parties do not reach mutual agreement to a lump sum, then on the basis of the Cost of the Work (determined as provided in Paragraph 13.01) plus a Contractor's fee for overhead and profit (determined as provided in Paragraph 11.04.C).
 - C. *Contractor's Fee*: When applicable, the Contractor's fee for overhead and profit shall be determined as follows:
 - a. a mutually acceptable fixed fee. ;

11.05 Change of Contract Times

A. The Contract Times may only be changed by a Change Order. Any Change Proposal for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Paragraph 11.06. Any Claim for an adjustment in the Contract Times shall comply with the provisions of Article 12.

B. An adjustment of the Contract Times shall be subject to the limitations set forth in Paragraph 4.05, concerning delays in Contractor's progress.

11.06 Change Proposals

- A. Contractor shall submit a Change Proposal to Engineer to request an adjustment in the Contract Times or Contract Price; appeal an initial decision by Engineer concerning the requirements of the Contract Documents or relating to the acceptability of the Work under the Contract Documents; contest a set-off against payment due; or seek other relief under the Contract. The Change Proposal shall specify any proposed change in Contract Times or Contract Price, or both, or other proposed relief, and explain the reason for the proposed change, with citations to any governing or applicable provisions of the Contract Documents.
 - 1. *Procedures*: Contractor shall submit each Change Proposal to Engineer promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto, or after such initial decision. Contractor shall submit supporting data, including the proposed change in Contract Price or Contract Time (if any), to Engineer and Owner within 15 days after the submittal of the Change Proposal. The supporting data shall be accompanied by a written statement that the supporting data are accurate and complete, and that any requested time or price adjustment is the entire adjustment to which Contractor believes it is entitled as a result of said event. Engineer will advise Owner regarding the Change Proposal, and consider any comments or response from Owner regarding the Change Proposal.
 - 2. *Engineer's Action*: Engineer will review each Change Proposal and, within 30 days after receipt of the Contractor's supporting data, either deny the Change Proposal in whole, approve it in whole, or deny it in part and approve it in part. Such actions shall be in writing, with a copy provided to Owner and Contractor. If Engineer does not take action on the Change Proposal within 30 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at any time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of Engineer's inaction the Change Proposal is deemed denied, thereby commencing the time for appeal of the denial under Article 12.
 - 3. *Binding Decision*: Engineer's decision will be final and binding upon Owner and Contractor, unless Owner or Contractor appeals the decision by filing a Claim under Article 12.
- B. *Resolution of Certain Change Proposals*: If the Change Proposal does not involve the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or other engineering or technical matters, then Engineer will notify the parties that the Engineer is unable to resolve the Change Proposal. For purposes of further resolution of such a Change Proposal, such notice shall be deemed a denial, and Contractor may choose to seek resolution under the terms of Article 12.
- 11.07 *Execution of Change Orders*
 - A. Owner and Contractor shall execute appropriate Change Orders covering:
 - 1. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times which are agreed to by the parties, including any undisputed sum or amount of time for Work actually performed in accordance with a Work Change Directive;
 - 2. changes in Contract Price resulting from an Owner set-off, unless Contractor has duly contested such set-off;
 - 3. changes in the Work which are: (a) ordered by Owner pursuant to Paragraph 11.02, (b) required because of Owner's acceptance of defective Work under Paragraph 14.04 or Owner's correction of defective Work under Paragraph 14.07, or (c) agreed to by the

parties, subject to the need for Engineer's recommendation if the change in the Work involves the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), or other engineering or technical matters; and

- 4. changes in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other changes, which embody the substance of any final and binding results under Paragraph 11.06, or Article 12.
- B. If Owner or Contractor refuses to execute a Change Order that is required to be executed under the terms of this Paragraph 11.07, it shall be deemed to be of full force and effect, as if fully executed.
- 11.08 Notification to Surety
 - A. If the provisions of any bond require notice to be given to a surety of any change affecting the general scope of the Work or the provisions of the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, Contract Price or Contract Times), the giving of any such notice will be Contractor's responsibility. The amount of each applicable bond will be adjusted to reflect the effect of any such change.

ARTICLE 12 – CLAIMS

- 12.01 Claims
 - A. *Claims Process*: The following disputes between Owner and Contractor shall be submitted to the Claims process set forth in this Article:
 - 1. Appeals by Owner or Contractor of Engineer's decisions regarding Change Proposals;
 - 2. Owner demands for adjustments in the Contract Price or Contract Times, or other relief under the Contract Documents; and
 - 3. Disputes that Engineer has been unable to address because they do not involve the design (as set forth in the Drawings, Specifications, or otherwise), the acceptability of the Work, or other engineering or technical matters.
 - B. Submittal of Claim: The party submitting a Claim shall deliver it directly to the other party to the Contract promptly (but in no event later than 30 days) after the start of the event giving rise thereto; in the case of appeals regarding Change Proposals within 30 days of the decision under appeal. The party submitting the Claim shall also furnish a copy to the Engineer, for its information only. The responsibility to substantiate a Claim shall rest with the party making the Claim. In the case of a Claim by Contractor seeking an increase in the Contract Times or Contract Price, or both, Contractor shall certify that the Claim is made in good faith, that the supporting data are accurate and complete, and that to the best of Contractor's knowledge and belief the amount of time or money requested accurately reflects the full amount to which Contractor is entitled. Supporting data shall include, but is not limited to, references to the Progress Schedule, detailed accounting of costs, and other information as required by the Contract Documents.
 - C. *Review and Resolution*: The party receiving a Claim shall review it thoroughly, giving full consideration to its merits. The two parties shall seek to resolve the Claim through the exchange of information and direct negotiations. The parties may extend the time for resolving the Claim by mutual agreement. All actions taken on a Claim shall be stated in writing and submitted to the other party, with a copy to Engineer.

- D. Mediation:
 - 1. At any time after initiation of a Claim, Owner and Contractor may mutually agree to mediation of the underlying dispute. The agreement to mediate shall stay the Claim submittal and response process.
 - 2. If Owner and Contractor agree to mediation, then after 60 days from such agreement, either Owner or Contractor may unilaterally terminate the mediation process, and the Claim submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the termination. If the mediation proceeds but is unsuccessful in resolving the dispute, the Claim submittal and decision process shall resume as of the date of the mediation, as determined by the mediator.
 - 3. Owner and Contractor shall each pay one-half of the mediator's fees and costs.
- E. *Partial Approval*: If the party receiving a Claim approves the Claim in part and denies it in part, such action shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of such action the other party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for final resolution of disputes.
- F. *Denial of Claim*: If efforts to resolve a Claim are not successful, the party receiving the Claim may deny it by giving written notice of denial to the other party. If the receiving party does not take action on the Claim within 90 days, then either Owner or Contractor may at any time thereafter submit a letter to the other party indicating that as a result of the inaction, the Claim is deemed denied, thereby commencing the time for appeal of the denial. A denial of the Claim shall be final and binding unless within 30 days of the denial the other party invokes the procedure set forth in Article 17 for the final resolution of disputes.
- G. *Final and Binding Results*: If the parties reach a mutual agreement regarding a Claim, whether through approval of the Claim, direct negotiations, mediation, or otherwise; or if a Claim is approved in part and denied in part, or denied in full, and such actions become final and binding; then the results of the agreement or action on the Claim shall be incorporated in a Change Order to the extent they affect the Contract, including the Work, the Contract Times, or the Contract Price.

ARTICLE 13 – COST OF THE WORK; ALLOWANCES; UNIT PRICE WORK

- 13.01 *Cost of the Work*
 - A. *Purposes for Determination of Cost of the Work*: The term Cost of the Work means the sum of all costs necessary for the proper performance of the Work at issue, as further defined below. The provisions of this Paragraph 13.01 are used for two distinct purposes:
 - 1. To determine Cost of the Work when Cost of the Work is a component of the Contract Price, under cost-plus-fee, time-and-materials, or other cost-based terms; or
 - 2. To determine the value of a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in Contract Price. When the value of any such adjustment is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor is entitled only to those additional or incremental costs required because of the change in the Work or because of the event giving rise to the adjustment.
 - B. *Costs Included*: Except as otherwise may be agreed to in writing by Owner, costs included in the Cost of the Work shall be in amounts no higher than those prevailing in the locality of the Project, shall not include any of the costs itemized in Paragraph 13.01.C, and shall include only the following items:

- 1. Payroll costs for employees in the direct employ of Contractor in the performance of the Work under schedules of job classifications agreed upon by Owner and Contractor. Such employees shall include, without limitation, the Superintendent, other superintendents, foremen, and other personnel employed full time on the Work. Payroll costs for employees not employed full time on the Work shall be apportioned on the basis of their time spent on the Work. Payroll costs shall include, but not be limited to, salaries and wages plus the cost of fringe benefits, which shall include social security contributions, unemployment, excise, and payroll taxes, workers' compensation, health and retirement benefits, bonuses, sick leave, and vacation and holiday pay applicable thereto. The expenses of performing Work outside of regular working hours, on Saturday, Sunday, or legal holidays, shall be included in the above to the extent authorized by Owner.
- 2. Cost of all materials and equipment furnished and incorporated in the Work, including costs of transportation and storage thereof, and Suppliers' field services required in connection therewith. All cash discounts shall accrue to Contractor unless Owner deposits funds with Contractor with which to make payments, in which case the cash discounts shall accrue to Owner. All trade discounts, rebates, and refunds and returns from sale of surplus materials and equipment shall accrue to Owner, and Contractor shall make provisions so that they may be obtained.
- 3. Payments made by Contractor to Subcontractors for Work performed by Subcontractors. If required by Owner, Contractor shall obtain competitive bids from subcontractors acceptable to Owner and Contractor and shall deliver such bids to Owner, who will then determine, with the advice of Engineer, which bids, if any, will be acceptable. If any subcontract provides that the Subcontractor is to be paid on the basis of Cost of the Work plus a fee, the Subcontractor's Cost of the Work and fee shall be determined in the same manner as Contractor's Cost of the Work and fee as provided in this Paragraph 13.01.
- 4. Costs of special consultants (including but not limited to engineers, architects, testing laboratories, surveyors, attorneys, and accountants) employed for services specifically related to the Work.
- 5. Supplemental costs including the following:
 - a. The proportion of necessary transportation, travel, and subsistence expenses of Contractor's employees incurred in discharge of duties connected with the Work.
 - b. Cost, including transportation and maintenance, of all materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, appliances, office, and temporary facilities at the Site, and hand tools not owned by the workers, which are consumed in the performance of the Work, and cost, less market value, of such items used but not consumed which remain the property of Contractor.
 - c. Construction Equipment and Machinery:
 - 1) Rentals of all construction equipment and machinery, and the parts thereof in accordance with rental agreements approved by Owner with the advice of Engineer, and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal thereof. All such costs shall be in accordance with the terms of said rental agreements. The rental of any such equipment, machinery, or parts shall cease when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the Work.
 - 2) Costs for equipment and machinery owned by Contractor will be paid at a rate shown for such equipment in the current edition of RS Means Construction

Cost Data. An hourly rate will be computed by dividing the monthly rates by 176.

- 3) These computed rates will include all operating costs. Costs will include the time the equipment or machinery is in use on the changed Work and the costs of transportation, loading, unloading, assembly, dismantling, and removal when directly attributable to the changed Work. The cost of any such equipment or machinery, or parts thereof, shall cease to accrue when the use thereof is no longer necessary for the changed Work. Equipment or machinery with a value of less than \$1,000 will be considered small tools, and as such will be excluded from the cost of Work.
- d. Sales, consumer, use, and other similar taxes related to the Work, and for which Contractor is liable, as imposed by Laws and Regulations.
- e. Deposits lost for causes other than negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, and royalty payments and fees for permits and licenses.
- f. Losses and damages (and related expenses) caused by damage to the Work, not compensated by insurance or otherwise, sustained by Contractor in connection with the performance of the Work (except losses and damages within the deductible amounts of property insurance established in accordance with Paragraph 6.05), provided such losses and damages have resulted from causes other than the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable. Such losses shall include settlements made with the written consent and approval of Owner. No such losses, damages, and expenses shall be included in the Cost of the Work for the purpose of determining Contractor's fee.
- g. The cost of utilities, fuel, and sanitary facilities at the Site.
- h. Minor expenses such as communication service at the Site, express and courier services, and similar petty cash items in connection with the Work.
- i. The costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance that Contractor is required by the Contract Documents to purchase and maintain.
- C. Costs Excluded: The term Cost of the Work shall not include any of the following items:
 - 1. Payroll costs and other compensation of Contractor's officers, executives, principals (of partnerships and sole proprietorships), general managers, safety managers, engineers, architects, estimators, attorneys, auditors, accountants, purchasing and contracting agents, expediters, timekeepers, clerks, and other personnel employed by Contractor, whether at the Site or in Contractor's principal or branch office for general administration of the Work and not specifically included in the agreed upon schedule of job classifications referred to in Paragraph 13.01.B.1 or specifically covered by Paragraph 13.01.B.4. The payroll costs and other compensation excluded here are to be considered administrative costs covered by the Contractor's fee.
 - 2. Expenses of Contractor's principal and branch offices other than Contractor's office at the Site.
 - 3. Any part of Contractor's capital expenses, including interest on Contractor's capital employed for the Work and charges against Contractor for delinquent payments.

- 4. Costs due to the negligence of Contractor, any Subcontractor, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or for whose acts any of them may be liable, including but not limited to, the correction of defective Work, disposal of materials or equipment wrongly supplied, and making good any damage to property.
- 5. Other overhead or general expense costs of any kind and the costs of any item not specifically and expressly included in Paragraph 13.01.B.
- D. *Contractor's Fee:* When the Work as a whole is performed on the basis of cost-plus, Contractor's fee shall be determined as set forth in the agreed upon Proposal. When the value of any Work covered by a Change Order, Change Proposal, Claim, set-off, or other adjustment in Contract Price is determined on the basis of Cost of the Work, Contractor's fee shall be determined as set forth in Paragraph 11.04.C.
- E. *Documentation*: Whenever the Cost of the Work for any purpose is to be determined pursuant to this Article 13, Contractor will establish and maintain records thereof in accordance with generally accepted accounting practices and submit in a form acceptable to Engineer an itemized cost breakdown together with supporting data, AKA Open Book.

13.02 Allowances

- A. It is understood that Contractor has included in the Contract Price all allowances so named in the Contract Documents and shall cause the Work so covered to be performed for such sums and by such persons or entities as may be acceptable to Owner and Engineer.
- B. Cash Allowances: Contractor agrees that:
 - 1. the cash allowances include the cost to Contractor (less any applicable trade discounts) of materials and equipment required by the allowances to be delivered at the Site, and all applicable taxes; and
 - 2. Contractor's costs for unloading and handling on the Site, labor, installation, overhead, profit, and other expenses contemplated for the cash allowances have been included in the Contract Price and not in the allowances, and no demand for additional payment on account of any of the foregoing will be valid.
- C. *Contingency Allowance*: The Owner intends for a collaborative approach with the Contractor to be applied with regards to how the contingency allowance, if any, is developed, managed and utilized, and that the contingency allowance approach will be finalized prior to development and mutual agreement of the Guaranteed Maximum Price (GMP).
- D. Prior to final payment, an appropriate Change Order will be issued as recommended by Engineer to reflect actual amounts due Contractor on account of Work covered by allowances, and the Contract Price shall be correspondingly adjusted.

13.03 Unit Price Work

- A. Where the Contract Documents provide that all or part of the Work is to be Unit Price Work, initially the Contract Price will be deemed to include for all Unit Price Work an amount equal to the sum of the unit price for each separately identified item of Unit Price Work times the estimated quantity of each item as indicated in the Agreement.
- B. The estimated quantities of items of Unit Price Work are not guaranteed and are solely for the purpose of comparison of Bids and determining an initial Contract Price. Payments to Contractor for Unit Price Work will be based on actual quantities. Contractor shall accept payment for Work quantities that vary from Contract quantities at the original Contract Prices. Owner shall not make any allowances or adjustments due to increased expense, loss of expected reimbursement, or loss of anticipated profits resulting from alteration of the Work or

unbalanced bidding. Engineer reserves the right to eliminate Contract items. Contractor may request reimbursement for all tangible costs incurred before notification of elimination. Engineer shall decide the validity of any such request.

- C. Each unit price will be deemed to include an amount considered by Contractor to be adequate to cover Contractor's overhead and profit for each separately identified item. Work described in the Contract Documents or reasonably inferred as required for a functionally complete installation, but not identified in the listing of unit price items, shall be considered incidental to Unit Price Work listed and the cost of incidental work included as a part of the unit price.
- D. Engineer will determine the actual quantities and classifications of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor. Engineer will review with Contractor the Engineer's preliminary determinations on such matters before rendering a written decision thereon (by recommendation of an Application for Payment or otherwise). Engineer's written decision thereon will be final and binding (except as modified by Engineer to reflect changed factual conditions or more accurate data) upon Owner and Contractor, subject to the provisions of the following paragraph.
- E. Within 30 days of Engineer's written decision under the preceding paragraph, Contractor may submit a Change Proposal, or Owner may file a Claim, seeking an adjustment in the Contract Price if:
 - 1. The total amount earned differs from the original Contract Price by more than 25 percent; and
 - 2. the final quantity of a particular item of Unit Price Work performed by Contractor differs by more than 25 percent from the estimated quantity of such item indicated in the Agreement; and
 - 3. there is no corresponding adjustment with respect to any other item of Work; and
 - 4. Contractor believes that it is entitled to an increase in Contract Price as a result of having incurred additional expense or Owner believes that Owner is entitled to a decrease in Contract Price.

ARTICLE 14 – TESTS AND INSPECTIONS; CORRECTION, REMOVAL OR ACCEPTANCE OF DEFECTIVE WORK

- 14.01 Access to Work
 - A. Owner, Engineer, their consultants and other representatives and personnel of Owner, independent testing laboratories, and authorities having jurisdiction will have access to the Site and the Work, including all material fabrication facilities, at all times for their observation, inspection, and testing. Contractor shall provide them proper and safe conditions for such access and advise them of Contractor's safety procedures and programs so that they may comply therewith as applicable.

14.02 Tests, Inspections, and Approvals

- A. Contractor shall give Engineer timely notice of readiness of the Work (or specific parts thereof) for all required inspections and tests, and shall cooperate with inspection and testing personnel to facilitate required inspections and tests.
- B. Owner shall retain and pay for the services of an independent inspector, testing laboratory, or other qualified individual or entity to perform all inspections and tests expressly required by the Contract Documents to be furnished and paid for by Owner, except that costs incurred in connection with tests or inspections of covered Work shall be governed by the provisions of

Paragraph 14.05. Referenced test standards shall be the most current version available on Bid Day unless otherwise indicated in the Contract Documents. The costs of all inspections, tests, and approvals not meeting the specification requirements will be paid for by Owner but will be deducted from Contractor's Final Payment.

- C. If Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction require any Work (or part thereof) specifically to be inspected, tested, or approved by an employee or other representative of such public body, Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such inspections, tests, or approvals, pay all costs in connection therewith, and furnish Engineer the required certificates of inspection or approval.
- D. Contractor shall be responsible for arranging, obtaining, and paying for all inspections and tests required:
 - 1. by the Contract Documents, unless the Contract Documents expressly allocate responsibility for a specific inspection or test to Owner;
 - 2. to attain Owner's and Engineer's acceptance of materials or equipment to be incorporated in the Work;
 - 3. by manufacturers of equipment furnished under the Contract Documents;
 - 4. for testing, adjusting, and balancing of mechanical, electrical, and other equipment to be incorporated into the Work; and
 - 5. for acceptance of materials, mix designs, or equipment submitted for approval prior to Contractor's purchase thereof for incorporation in the Work.

Such inspections and tests shall be performed by independent inspectors, testing laboratories, or other qualified individuals or entities acceptable to Owner and Engineer.

- E. If the Contract Documents require the Work (or part thereof) to be approved by Owner, Engineer, or another designated individual or entity, then Contractor shall assume full responsibility for arranging and obtaining such approvals.
- F. If any Work (or the work of others) that is to be inspected, tested, or approved is covered by Contractor without written concurrence of Engineer, Contractor shall, if requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for observation. Such uncovering shall be at Contractor's expense unless Contractor had given Engineer timely notice of Contractor's intention to cover the same and Engineer had not acted with reasonable promptness in response to such notice.

14.03 Defective Work

- A. Contractor's Obligation: It is Contractor's obligation to assure that the Work is not defective.
- B. *Engineer's Authority*: Engineer has the authority to determine whether Work is defective, and to reject defective Work.
- C. *Notice of Defects*: Prompt notice of all defective Work of which Owner or Engineer has actual knowledge will be given to Contractor.
- D. *Correction, or Removal and Replacement*: Within 30 days of receipt of written notice of defective Work, Contractor shall correct all such defective Work, whether or not fabricated, installed, or completed, or, if Engineer has rejected the defective Work, remove it from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective.
- E. *Preservation of Warranties*: When correcting defective Work, Contractor shall take no action that would void or otherwise impair Owner's special warranty and guarantee, if any, on said Work.

- F. *Costs and Damages*: In addition to its correction, removal, and replacement obligations with respect to defective Work, Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to defective Work, including but not limited to the cost of the inspection, testing, correction, removal, replacement, or reconstruction of such defective Work, fines and stipulated penalties levied against Owner by governmental authorities because the Work is defective, and the costs of repair or replacement of work of others resulting from defective Work. Prior to final payment, if Owner and Contractor are unable to agree as to the measure of such claims, costs, losses, and damages resulting from defective Work, then Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15.
- G. If Contractor fails to comply within 30 days of receipt of written notice of defective Work, Owner may correct such defective work in accordance with Paragraph 14.07.

14.04 Acceptance of Defective Work

A. If, instead of requiring correction or removal and replacement of defective Work, Owner prefers to accept it, Owner may do so (subject, if such acceptance occurs prior to final payment, to Engineer's confirmation that such acceptance is in general accord with the design intent and applicable engineering principles, and will not endanger public safety). Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages attributable to Owner's evaluation of and determination to accept such defective Work (such costs to be approved by Engineer as to reasonableness), and for the diminished value of the Work to the extent not otherwise paid by Contractor. If any such acceptance occurs prior to final payment, the necessary revisions in the Contract Documents with respect to the Work shall be incorporated in a Change Order. If the parties are unable to agree as to the decrease in the Contract Price, reflecting the diminished value of Work so accepted, then Owner may impose a reasonable set-off against payments due under Article 15. If the acceptance of defective Work occurs after final payment, Contractor shall pay an appropriate amount to Owner.

14.05 Uncovering Work

- A. Engineer has the authority to require additional inspection or testing of the Work, whether or not the Work is fabricated, installed, or completed.
- B. If any Work is covered contrary to the written request of Engineer, then Contractor shall, if requested by Engineer, uncover such Work for Engineer's observation, and then replace the covering, all at Contractor's expense.
- C. If Engineer considers it necessary or advisable that covered Work other than that identified in Paragraph 14.05.B be observed by Engineer or inspected or tested by others, then Contractor, at Engineer's request, shall uncover, expose, or otherwise make available for observation, inspection, or testing as Engineer may require, that portion of the Work in question, and provide all necessary labor, material, and equipment.
 - 1. If it is found that the uncovered Work is defective, Contractor shall be responsible for all claims, costs, losses, and damages arising out of or relating to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, and testing, and of satisfactory replacement or reconstruction (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others); or Owner shall be entitled to accept defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 14.04 in which case Contractor shall still be responsible for all costs associated with exposing, observing, and testing the defective Work.
 - 2. If the uncovered Work is not found to be defective, Contractor shall be allowed an increase in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to such uncovering, exposure, observation, inspection, testing, replacement, and

reconstruction. If the parties are unable to agree as to the amount or extent thereof, then Contractor may submit a Change Proposal within 30 days of the determination that the Work is not defective.

- 14.06 Owner May Stop the Work
 - A. If the Work is defective, or Contractor fails to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment, or fails to perform the Work in such a way that the completed Work will conform to the Contract Documents, then Owner may order Contractor to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until the cause for such order has been eliminated; however, this right of Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to any duty on the part of Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of Contractor, any Subcontractor, any Supplier, any other individual or entity, or any surety for, or employee or agent of any of them.
- 14.07 Owner May Correct Defective Work
 - A. If Contractor fails within a reasonable time after written notice from Engineer to correct defective Work, or to remove and replace rejected Work as required by Engineer, or if Contractor fails to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents, or if Contractor fails to comply with any other provision of the Contract Documents, then Owner may, after seven days written notice to Contractor and opportunity to cure or to commence to cure, correct or remedy any such deficiency.
 - B. In exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07, Owner shall proceed expeditiously. In connection with such corrective or remedial action, Owner may exclude Contractor from all or part of the Site, take possession of all or part of the Work and suspend Contractor's services related thereto, and incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere. Contractor shall allow Owner, Owner's representatives, agents and employees, Owner's other contractors, and Engineer and Engineer's consultants access to the Site to enable Owner to exercise the rights and remedies under this paragraph.
 - C. All claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred or sustained by Owner in exercising the rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07 will be charged against Contractor as set-offs against payments due under Article 15. Such claims, costs, losses and damages will include but not be limited to all costs of repair, or replacement of work of others destroyed or damaged by correction, removal, or replacement of Contractor's defective Work.
 - D. Contractor shall not be allowed an extension of the Contract Times because of any delay in the performance of the Work attributable to the exercise by Owner of Owner's rights and remedies under this Paragraph 14.07.

ARTICLE 15 – PAYMENTS TO CONTRACTOR; SET-OFFS; COMPLETION; CORRECTION PERIOD

- 15.01 Progress Payments
 - A. *Basis for Progress Payments*: The Schedule of Values established as provided in Article 2 will serve as the basis for progress payments and will be incorporated into a form of Application for Payment acceptable to Engineer. Progress payments on account of Unit Price Work will be based on the number of units completed during the pay period, as determined under the provisions of Paragraph 13.03. Progress payments for cost-based Work will be based on Cost of the Work completed by Contractor during the pay period. Contractor acknowledges that the quantities contained in the bid form for Unit Price Work, unless otherwise indicated in the Contract Documents, are estimates that may vary.

- B. Applications for Payments-Schedule of Values:
 - 1. At least 28 days before the date established in the Agreement for each progress payment (but not more often than once a month), Contractor shall submit to Engineer for review an Application for Payment filled out and signed by Contractor covering the Work completed as of the date of the Application and accompanied by such supporting documentation as is required by the Contract Documents. If payment is requested on the basis of materials and equipment not incorporated in the Work but delivered and suitably stored at the Site or at another location agreed to in writing, the Application for Payment shall also be accompanied by a bill of sale, invoice, or other documentation warranting that Owner has received the materials and equipment free and clear of all Liens, and evidence that the materials and equipment are covered by appropriate property insurance, a warehouse bond, or other arrangements to protect Owner's interest therein, all of which must be satisfactory to Owner.
 - 2. Beginning with the second Application for Payment, each Application shall include an affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor's legitimate obligations associated with prior Applications for Payment.
 - 3. The amount of retainage with respect to progress payments will be as stipulated in the Agreement.
- C. Review of Applications-Schedule of Values:
 - 1. Engineer will, within 14 days after receipt of each Application for Payment, including each resubmittal, either indicate in writing a recommendation of payment and present the Application to Owner, or return the Application to Contractor indicating in writing Engineer's reasons for refusing to recommend payment. In the latter case, Contractor may make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application.
 - 2. Engineer's recommendation of any payment requested in an Application for Payment will constitute a representation by Engineer to Owner, based on Engineer's observations of the executed Work as an experienced and qualified design professional, and on Engineer's review of the Application for Payment and the accompanying data and schedules, that to the best of Engineer's knowledge, information and belief:
 - a. the Work has progressed to the point indicated;
 - b. the quality of the Work is generally in accordance with the Contract Documents (subject to an evaluation of the Work as a functioning whole prior to or upon Substantial Completion, the results of any subsequent tests called for in the Contract Documents, a final determination of quantities and classifications for Unit Price Work under Paragraph 13.03, and any other qualifications stated in the recommendation); and
 - c. the conditions precedent to Contractor's being entitled to such payment appear to have been fulfilled in so far as it is Engineer's responsibility to observe the Work.
 - 3. By recommending any such payment Engineer will not thereby be deemed to have represented that:
 - a. inspections made to check the quality or the quantity of the Work as it has been performed have been exhaustive, extended to every aspect of the Work in progress, or involved detailed inspections of the Work beyond the responsibilities specifically assigned to Engineer in the Contract; or

- b. there may not be other matters or issues between the parties that might entitle Contractor to be paid additionally by Owner or entitle Owner to withhold payment to Contractor.
- 4. Neither Engineer's review of Contractor's Work for the purposes of recommending payments nor Engineer's recommendation of any payment, including final payment, will impose responsibility on Engineer:
 - a. to supervise, direct, or control the Work, or
 - b. for the means, methods, techniques, sequences, or procedures of construction, or the safety precautions and programs incident thereto, or
 - c. for Contractor's failure to comply with Laws and Regulations applicable to Contractor's performance of the Work, or
 - d. to make any examination to ascertain how or for what purposes Contractor has used the money paid on account of the Contract Price, or
 - e. to determine that title to any of the Work, materials, or equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens.
- 5. Engineer may refuse to recommend the whole or any part of any payment if, in Engineer's opinion, it would be incorrect to make the representations to Owner stated in Paragraph 15.01.C.2.
- 6. Engineer will recommend reductions in payment (set-offs) necessary in Engineer's opinion to protect Owner from loss because:
 - a. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement;
 - b. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders;
 - c. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04;
 - d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental Condition for which Contractor is responsible; or
 - e. Engineer has actual knowledge of the occurrence of any of the events that would constitute a default by Contractor and therefore justify termination for cause under the Contract Documents.
- D. Progress Estimates for Payment-Unit Price Work:
 - 1. Contractor may receive monthly Progress Estimates based on the quantities of Work completed during the preceding month. Engineer shall measure the quantities of Work completed and provide to Contractor for review a Progress Estimate covering the Work completed to date.
 - 2. Engineer may include stored materials in the Progress Estimate designated for incorporation into the Work that:
 - a. meet Contract Document and submittal requirements; and
 - b. are unique items purchased expressly to be incorporated into the Work; and
 - c. are delivered and stockpiled at the project Site or other approved location; and
 - d. will not be incorporated into the project for more than 90 days; and
 - e. the value of such materials amounts to more than \$2,000; and

- f. are supported by copies of paid invoices or receipts of delivery; and
- g. are not living or perishable.
- 3. Owner shall reimburse Contractor for stored materials received and verified. The reimbursement value shall be 100 percent of the material cost less the retainage amount as defined in the Agreement. The reimbursement value may not exceed the appropriate portion of the value of the Contract item(s) in which incorporate such materials. The quantity of stored materials eligible for reimbursement shall not exceed the total estimated quantity required to complete the Work. Owner shall deduct any Progress Payments for eligible materials from Progress Payments for completion of the Contract item(s) in which incorporate such materials.
- 4. Payment for eligible materials shall not constitute acceptance of the materials. Contractor is responsible for any damages to or loss of stored materials until such materials are incorporated into the Work and accepted. Owner shall reimburse Contractor for all other items upon completion and acceptance of the Work.
- 5. The amount of retainage with respect to Progress Payments will be as defined in the Agreement.
- E. Review of Progress Estimates-Unit Price Work:
 - 1. Contractor will review and confirm the quantities of Work within 7 days after receipt of each Progress Estimate. Contractor will sign and return the Progress Estimate to Engineer, or request in writing any corrections. Engineer may make necessary corrections and resubmit the Progress Estimate.
 - 2. Engineer will sign and submit to Owner and recommend, in accordance with Paragraph 15.01.C, the Progress Estimate for payment. The Progress Estimate does not constitute acceptance of the Work.
 - 3. Beginning with the second Progress Estimate, Contractor's signed estimate shall include an affidavit of Contractor stating that all previous progress payments received on account of the Work have been applied on account to discharge Contractor's legitimate obligations associated with prior Progress Estimates.
- F. Payment Becomes Due:
 - 1. Thirty days after presentation of the Application for Payment to Owner with Engineer's recommendation, the amount recommended (subject to any Owner set-offs) will become due, and when due will be paid by Owner to Contractor.
- G. Reductions in Payment by Owner:
 - 1. In addition to any reductions in payment (set-offs) recommended by Engineer, Owner is entitled to impose a set-off against payment based on any of the following:
 - a. claims have been made against Owner on account of Contractor's conduct in the performance or furnishing of the Work, or Owner has incurred costs, losses, or damages on account of Contractor's conduct in the performance or furnishing of the Work, including but not limited to claims, costs, losses, or damages from workplace injuries, adjacent property damage, non-compliance with Laws and Regulations, and patent infringement;
 - b. Contractor has failed to take reasonable and customary measures to avoid damage, delay, disruption, and interference with other work at or adjacent to the Site;
 - c. Contractor has failed to provide and maintain required bonds or insurance;

- d. Owner has been required to remove or remediate a Hazardous Environmental Condition for which Contractor is responsible;
- e. Owner has incurred extra charges or engineering costs related to submittal reviews, evaluations of proposed substitutes, tests and inspections, or return visits to manufacturing or assembly facilities;
- f. the Work is defective, requiring correction or replacement;
- g. Owner has been required to correct defective Work in accordance with Paragraph 14.07, or has accepted defective Work pursuant to Paragraph 14.04;
- h. the Contract Price has been reduced by Change Orders;
- i. an event that would constitute a default by Contractor and therefore justify a termination for cause has occurred;
- j. liquidated damages have accrued as a result of Contractor's failure to achieve Milestones, Substantial Completion, or final completion of the Work. The calculation to determine the cost for Liquidated Damages shall include, but is not limited to, the cost for Owner to administer and manage the project after the final day of the Contract including any additional days allowed and/or agreed upon by Owner and Contractor. Owner's administration and management of the project includes, but is not limited to, time and expenses of Engineer, CM(s), RPR(s), survey crew, materials testing services, administrative personnel, and all overhead and profit;
- k. Liens have been filed in connection with the Work, except where Contractor has delivered a specific bond satisfactory to Owner to secure the satisfaction and discharge of such Liens;
- 1. Contractor fails to complete the Work in accordance with the Contract provisions, or the Work is not acceptable to Engineer, for Incentive/Disincentive work;
- m. there are other items entitling Owner to a set off against the amount recommended.
- 2. If Owner imposes any set-off against payment, whether based on its own knowledge or on the written recommendations of Engineer, Owner will give Contractor written notice (with a copy to Engineer) stating the reasons for such action and the specific amount of the reduction, and pay Contractor any amount remaining after deduction of the amount so withheld. Owner shall pay Contractor the amount so withheld, or any adjustment thereto agreed to by Owner and Contractor, if Contractor remedies the reasons for such action. The reduction imposed shall be binding on Contractor unless it duly submits a Change Proposal contesting the reduction.
- 3. Upon a subsequent determination that Owner's refusal of payment was not justified, the amount wrongfully withheld shall be treated as an amount due as determined by Paragraph 15.01.F.1.

15.02 Contractor's Warranty of Title

A. Contractor warrants and guarantees that title to all Work, materials, and equipment furnished under the Contract will pass to Owner free and clear of (1) all Liens and other title defects, and (2) all patent, licensing, copyright, or royalty obligations, no later than seven days after the time of payment by Owner.

15.03 Substantial Completion

- A. When Contractor considers the entire Work ready for its intended use Contractor shall notify Owner and Engineer in writing that the entire Work is substantially complete and request that Engineer issue a certificate of Substantial Completion. Contractor shall at the same time submit to Owner and Engineer an initial draft of punch list items to be completed or corrected before final payment.
- B. Within 14 days after Contractor's notification, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an inspection of the Work to determine the status of completion. If Engineer does not consider the Work substantially complete, Engineer will notify Contractor in writing giving the reasons therefor.
- C. If Engineer considers the Work substantially complete, Engineer will deliver to Owner a preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion which shall fix the date of Substantial Completion. Engineer shall attach to the certificate a punch list of items to be completed or corrected before final payment. Owner shall have seven days after receipt of the preliminary certificate during which to make written objection to Engineer as to any provisions of the certificate or attached punch list. If, after considering the objections to the provisions of the preliminary certificate, Engineer concludes that the Work is not substantially complete, Engineer will, within 14 days after submission of the preliminary certificate to Owner, notify Contractor in writing that the Work is not substantially complete, stating the reasons therefor. If Owner does not object to the provisions of the certificate, or if despite consideration of Owner's objections Engineer concludes that the Work is substantially complete, then Engineer will, within said 14 days, execute and deliver to Owner and Contractor a final certificate of Substantial Completion (with a revised punch list of items to be completed or corrected) reflecting such changes from the preliminary certificate as Engineer believes justified after consideration of any objections from Owner.
- D. At the time of receipt of the preliminary certificate of Substantial Completion, Owner and Contractor will confer regarding Owner's use or occupancy of the Work following Substantial Completion, review the builder's risk insurance policy with respect to the end of the builder's risk coverage, and confirm the transition to coverage of the Work under a permanent property insurance policy held by Owner. Unless Owner and Contractor agree otherwise in writing, Owner shall bear responsibility for security, operation, protection of the Work, property insurance, maintenance, heat, and utilities upon Owner's use or occupancy of the Work.
- E. After Substantial Completion the Contractor shall promptly begin work on the punch list of items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment. In appropriate cases Contractor may submit monthly Applications for Payment for completed punch list items, following the progress payment procedures set forth above.
- F. Owner shall have the right to exclude Contractor from the Site after the date of Substantial Completion subject to allowing Contractor reasonable access to remove its property and complete or correct items on the punch list.
- 15.04 Partial Use or Occupancy
 - A. Prior to Substantial Completion of all the Work, Owner may use or occupy any substantially completed part of the Work, or which Owner, Engineer, and Contractor agree constitutes a separately functioning and usable part of the Work that can be used by Owner for its intended purpose without significant interference with Contractor's performance of the remainder of the Work, subject to the following conditions:

- 1. At any time, Owner may request in writing that Contractor permits Owner to use or occupy any such part of the Work that Owner believes to be substantially complete. If and when Contractor agrees that such part of the Work is substantially complete, Contractor, Owner, and Engineer will follow the procedures of Paragraph 15.03.A through E for that part of the Work.
- 2. At any time, Contractor may notify Owner and Engineer in writing that Contractor considers any such part of the Work substantially complete and request Engineer to issue a certificate of Substantial Completion for that part of the Work.
- 3. Within a reasonable time after either such request, Owner, Contractor, and Engineer shall make an inspection of that part of the Work to determine its status of completion. If Engineer does not consider that part of the Work to be substantially complete, Engineer will notify Owner and Contractor in writing giving the reasons therefor. If Engineer considers that part of the Work to be substantially complete, the provisions of Paragraph 15.03 will apply with respect to certification of Substantial Completion of that part of the Work and the division of responsibility in respect thereof and access thereto.
- 4. No use or occupancy or separate operation of part of the Work may occur prior to compliance with the requirements of Paragraph 6.05 regarding builder's risk or other property insurance.

15.05 Final Inspection

A. Upon written notice from Contractor that the entire Work or an agreed portion thereof is complete, Engineer will make a final inspection with Owner and Contractor within 14 days and will notify Contractor in writing of all particulars in which this inspection reveals that the Work, or agreed portion thereof, is incomplete or defective. Contractor shall immediately take such measures as are necessary to complete such Work or remedy such deficiencies.

15.06 Final Payment

- A. Application for Payment-Schedule of Values:
 - 1. After Contractor has, in the opinion of Engineer, satisfactorily completed all corrections identified during the final inspection and has delivered, in accordance with the Contract Documents, all maintenance and operating instructions, schedules, guarantees, bonds, certificates or other evidence of insurance, certificates of inspection, annotated record documents (as provided in Paragraph 7.11), and other documents, Contractor may make application for final payment.
 - 2. The final Application for Payment shall be accompanied (except as previously delivered) by:
 - a. all documentation called for in the Contract Documents;
 - b. consent of the surety, if any, to final payment;
 - c. satisfactory evidence that all title issues have been resolved such that title to all Work, materials, and equipment has passed to Owner free and clear of any Liens or other title defects, or will so pass upon final payment.
 - d. a list of all disputes that Contractor believes are unsettled; and
 - e. complete and legally effective releases or waivers (satisfactory to Owner) of all Lien rights arising out of the Work and of Liens filed in connection with the Work.
 - f. certified statement regarding payment to Workmen's Compensation and Unemployment.

- 3. In lieu of the releases or waivers of Liens specified in Paragraph 15.06.A.2 and as approved by Owner, Contractor may furnish receipts or releases in full and an affidavit of Contractor that: (a) the releases and receipts include all labor, services, material, and equipment for which a Lien could be filed; and (b, all payrolls, material and equipment bills, and other indebtedness connected with the Work for which Owner might in any way be responsible, or which might in any way result in liens or other burdens on Owner's property, have been paid or otherwise satisfied. If any Subcontractor or Supplier fails to furnish such a release or receipt in full, Contractor may furnish a bond or other collateral satisfactory to Owner to indemnify Owner against any Lien, Owner at its option may issue joint checks payable to Contractor and specified Subcontractors and Suppliers, or Owner may withhold the amount of any lien and/or the amount Contractor has a basis to withhold from final payment.
- B. Engineer's Review of Application and Acceptance-Schedule of Values:
 - 1. If, on the basis of Engineer's observation of the Work during construction and final inspection, and Engineer's review of the final Application for Payment and accompanying documentation as required by the Contract Documents, Engineer is satisfied that the Work has been completed and Contractor's other obligations under the Contract have been fulfilled, Engineer will, within 14 days after receipt of the final Application for Payment, indicate in writing Engineer's recommendation of final payment and present the Application for Payment to Owner for payment. Such recommendation shall account for any set-offs against payment that are necessary in Engineer's opinion to protect Owner from loss for the reasons stated above with respect to progress payments. At the same time Engineer will also give written notice to Owner and Contractor that the Work is acceptable, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 15.07. Otherwise, Engineer will return the Application for Payment, in which case Contractor shall make the necessary corrections and resubmit the Application for Payment.
- C. Final Progress Estimate for Payment-Unit Price Work:
 - 1. Engineer shall measure the final quantities of Work completed and provide to Contractor for review a Final Progress Estimate.
- D. Review of Final Progress Estimate-Unit Price Work:
 - 1. Contractor will review and confirm the final quantities of Work within 14 days after receipt of the Final Progress Estimate. Contractor will sign and return the Final Progress Estimate to Engineer, or request in writing any corrections. Engineer may make necessary corrections and resubmit the Final Progress Estimate. Contractor shall include documentation required in Paragraph 15.06.A.2.
 - 2. Engineer will sign and submit to Owner and recommend the Final Progress Estimate for payment.
- E. *Completion of Work*: The Work is complete (subject to surviving obligations) when it is ready for final payment as established by the Engineer's written recommendation of final payment.
- F. *Payment Becomes Due*: Thirty days after the presentation to Owner of the final Application for Payment or the Final Progress Estimate, and accompanying documentation, the amount recommended by Engineer (less any further sum Owner is entitled to set off against Engineer's recommendation, including but not limited to set-offs for liquidated damages and set-offs allowed under the provisions above with respect to progress payments) will become due and shall be paid by Owner to Contractor.

15.07 Waiver of Claims

- A. The making of final payment will not constitute a waiver by Owner of claims or rights against Contractor. Owner expressly reserves claims and rights arising from unsettled Liens, from defective Work appearing after final inspection pursuant to Paragraph 15.05, from Contractor's failure to comply with the Contract Documents or the terms of any special guarantees specified therein, from outstanding Claims by Owner, or from Contractor's continuing obligations under the Contract Documents.
- B. The acceptance of final payment by Contractor will constitute a waiver by Contractor of all claims and rights against Owner other than those pending matters that have been duly submitted or appealed under the provisions of Article 17.
- C. Final payment does not preclude Owner from correcting any measure, estimate, or certificate made before or after Contract completion. Owner may recover from Contractor or Surety, or both, overpayments upheld for failure to fulfill Contract obligations. A waiver on the part of Owner of any breach of any part of the Contract is not a waiver of any other or subsequent breach. Contractor shall assume liability for latent defects, fraud, or such gross mistakes as may amount to fraud, or as regards the right of Owner under any warranty or guaranty without prejudice to the terms of the Contract.

15.08 Correction Period

- A. If within two years after the date of Final Completion (or such longer period of time as may be prescribed by the terms of any applicable special guarantee required by the Contract Documents, or by any specific provision of the Contract Documents), any Work is found to be defective, or if the repair of any damages to the Site, adjacent areas that Contractor has arranged to use through construction easements or otherwise, and other adjacent areas used by Contractor as permitted by Laws and Regulations, is found to be defective, then Contractor shall, within 30 days after receiving notice, without cost to Owner and in accordance with Owner's written instructions:
 - 1. correct the defective repairs to the Site or such other adjacent areas;
 - 2. correct such defective Work;
 - 3. if the defective Work has been rejected by Owner, remove it from the Project and replace it with Work that is not defective, and
 - 4. satisfactorily correct or repair or remove and replace any damage to other Work, to the work of others, or to other land or areas resulting therefrom.
- B. If Contractor does not comply with the terms of Owner's written instructions within 30 days after receiving notice, or in an emergency where delay would cause serious risk of loss or damage, Owner may have the defective Work corrected or repaired or may have the rejected Work removed and replaced. Contractor shall pay all claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals and all court or arbitration or other dispute resolution costs) arising out of or relating to such correction or repair or such removal and replacement (including but not limited to all costs of repair or replacement of work of others).
- C. In special circumstances where a particular item of equipment is placed in continuous service before Final Completion, the correction period for that item may start to run from an earlier date if so provided in the Specifications.
- D. Where defective Work (and damage to other Work resulting therefrom) has been corrected or removed and replaced under this paragraph, the correction period hereunder with respect to

such Work will be extended for an additional period of two (2) years after such correction or removal and replacement has been satisfactorily completed.

- E. Contractor's obligations under this paragraph are in addition to all other obligations and warranties. The provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed as a substitute for, or a waiver of, the provisions of any applicable statute of limitation or repose.
- F. Correction Period shall be increased from two (2) years specified above to five (5) years for Detectible Warning Panels and Curb Inlet Tops.

ARTICLE 16 – SUSPENSION OF WORK AND TERMINATION

- 16.01 Owner May Suspend Work
 - A. At any time and without cause, Owner may suspend the Work or any portion thereof for a period of not more than 90 consecutive days and no more than 180 days in aggregate by written notice to Contractor and Engineer. Such notice will fix the date on which Work will be resumed. Contractor shall resume the Work on the date so fixed. Contractor may be entitled to an adjustment in the Contract Price or an extension of the Contract Times, or both, directly attributable to any such suspension. Any Change Proposal seeking such adjustments shall be submitted no later than 30 days after the date fixed for resumption of Work.
- 16.02 Owner May Terminate for Cause
 - A. The occurrence of any one or more of the following events may constitute a default by Contractor and justify termination for cause:
 - 1. Contractor's persistent failure to perform the Work in accordance with the Contract Documents (including, but not limited to, failure to supply sufficient skilled workers or suitable materials or equipment or failure to adhere to the Progress Schedule);
 - 2. Failure of Contractor to perform or otherwise to comply with a material term of the Contract Documents;
 - 3. Contractor's disregard of Laws or Regulations of any public body having jurisdiction; or
 - 4. Contractor's repeated disregard of the authority of Owner or Engineer.
 - B. If one or more of the events identified in Paragraph 16.02.A occurs, then after giving Contractor (and any surety) written notice that Owner is considering a declaration that Contractor is in default and termination of the contract, Owner may proceed to arrange a conference with Contractor and any surety to address Contractor's failure to perform the Work. The conference shall be held no later than 21 days after receipt of notice.
 - 1. If Owner, Contractor, and Surety do not agree to allow Contractor to proceed to perform the Contract, Owner may, to the extent permitted by Laws and Regulations, declare a Contractor Default and formally terminate Contractor's right to complete the Contract. Written notification of Contractor Default shall not be declared earlier than 28 days after Contractor and Surety have received notice of conference and opportunity to cure or to commence to cure, to address Contractor's failure to perform the Work.
 - 2. If Contractor's services are terminated, Surety shall be obligated to take over and perform the Work. If Surety does not commence performance thereof within 21 days after date of additional written notice demanding Surety's performance of its obligations, then Owner, without process or action at law, may take over any portion of the Work and complete it as described in Section 16.02.C.3.

- 3. Neither Owner, Engineer, nor any of their respective consultants, agents, officers, directors, or employees shall be in any way liable or accountable to Contractor or Surety for the method by which the completion of the Work, or any portion thereof, may be accomplished or for the price paid therefor.
- 4. Owner, notwithstanding the method used in completing the Contract, shall not forfeit the right to recover damages from Contractor or Surety for Contractor's failure to timely complete the entire Contract. Contractor shall not be entitled to any claim for damages on account of the method used by Owner in completing the Contract.
- 5. Maintenance of the Work shall continue to be Contractor's and Surety's responsibilities as provided for in the bond requirements of the Contract Documents or any special guarantees provided for under the Contract Documents or any other obligations otherwise prescribed by law.
- C. Subject to the terms and operation of any applicable performance bond, if Owner has terminated the Contract for cause, Owner may exclude Contractor from the Site, take possession of the Work, incorporate in the Work all materials and equipment stored at the Site or for which Owner has paid Contractor but which are stored elsewhere, and complete the Work as Owner may deem expedient.
- D. Owner may not proceed with termination of the Contract under Paragraph 16.02.B if Contractor within seven days of receipt of notice of intent to terminate begins to correct its failure to perform and proceeds diligently to cure such failure.
- E. If Owner or Surety proceeds as provided in Paragraph 16.02.B, Contractor shall not be entitled to receive any further payment until the Work is completed. If the unpaid balance of the Contract Price exceeds the cost to complete the Work, including all related claims, costs, losses, and damages (including but not limited to all fees and charges of engineers, architects, attorneys, and other professionals) sustained by Owner, such excess will be paid to Contractor. If the cost to complete the Work including such related claims, costs, losses, and damages exceeds such unpaid balance, Contractor shall pay the difference to Owner. Such claims, costs, losses, and damages incurred by Owner will be reviewed by Engineer as to their reasonableness and, when so approved by Engineer, incorporated in a Change Order. When exercising any rights or remedies under this paragraph, Owner shall not be required to obtain the lowest price for the Work performed.
- F. Where Contractor's services have been so terminated by Owner, the termination will not affect any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor then existing or which may thereafter accrue, or any rights or remedies of Owner against Contractor or any surety under any payment bond or performance bond. Any retention or payment of money due Contractor by Owner will not release Contractor from liability.
- G. If and to the extent that Contractor has provided a performance bond under the provisions of Paragraph 6.01.A, the provisions of that bond shall govern over any inconsistent provisions of Paragraphs 16.02.B and 16.02.D.

16.03 Owner May Terminate For Convenience

- A. Upon seven days written notice to Contractor and Engineer, Owner may, without cause and without prejudice to any other right or remedy of Owner, terminate the Contract. In such case, Contractor shall be paid for (without duplication of any items):
 - 1. completed and acceptable Work executed in accordance with the Contract Documents prior to the effective date of termination, including fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such Work;

- 2. expenses sustained prior to the effective date of termination in performing services and furnishing labor, materials, or equipment as required by the Contract Documents in connection with uncompleted Work, plus fair and reasonable sums for overhead and profit on such expenses; and
- 3. other reasonable expenses directly attributable to termination, including costs incurred to prepare a termination for convenience cost proposal.
- B. Contractor shall not be paid on account of loss of anticipated overhead, profits, or revenue, or other economic loss arising out of or resulting from such termination.

16.04 Contractor May Stop Work or Terminate

- A. If, through no act or fault of Contractor, (1) the Work is suspended for more than 90 consecutive days or 180 days in aggregate by Owner or under an order of court or other public authority, or (2) Engineer fails to act on any Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or (3) Owner fails for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, then Contractor may, upon seven days written notice to Owner and Engineer, and provided Owner or Engineer do not remedy such suspension or failure within that time, terminate the contract and recover from Owner payment on the same terms as provided in Paragraph 16.03.
- B. In lieu of terminating the Contract and without prejudice to any other right or remedy, if Engineer has failed to act on an Application for Payment within 30 days after it is submitted, or Owner has failed for 30 days to pay Contractor any sum finally determined to be due, Contractor may, seven days after written notice to Owner and Engineer, stop the Work until payment is made of all such amounts due Contractor, including interest thereon. The provisions of this paragraph are not intended to preclude Contractor from submitting a Change Proposal for an adjustment in Contract Price or Contract Times or otherwise for expenses or damage directly attributable to Contractor's stopping the Work as permitted by this paragraph.

ARTICLE 17 – FINAL RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES

- 17.01 Methods and Procedures
 - A. *Disputes Subject to Final Resolution*: The following disputed matters are subject to final resolution under the provisions of this Article:
 - 1. A timely appeal of an approval in part and denial in part of a Claim, or of a denial in full; and
 - 2. Disputes between Owner and Contractor concerning the Work or obligations under the Contract Documents, and arising after final payment has been made.
 - B. *Final Resolution of Disputes*: For any dispute subject to resolution under this Article, Owner or Contractor may:
 - 1. elect in writing to invoke the dispute resolution process provided for in the Supplementary Conditions, if any; or
 - 2. agree with the other party to submit the dispute to another dispute resolution process; or
 - 3. if no dispute resolution process is provided for in the Supplementary Conditions, if any, or mutually agreed to, give written notice to the other party of the intent to submit the dispute to a court of competent jurisdiction.
 - C. Notwithstanding any applicable statute of limitations, a party giving notice under Paragraph 17.01 shall commence an action within one year of giving such notice. Failure to do so shall

result in the Claim being time-barred and Owner's or Engineer's action or denial shall become final and binding.

ARTICLE 18 – MISCELLANEOUS

- 18.01 Giving Notice
 - A. Whenever any provision of the Contract Documents requires the giving of written notice, it will be deemed to have been validly given if:
 - 1. delivered in person, by a commercial courier service or otherwise, to the individual or to a member of the firm or to an officer of the corporation for which it is intended; or
 - 2. delivered at or sent by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, to the last business address known to the sender of the notice.
- 18.02 Computation of Times
 - A. When any period of time is referred to in the Contract by days, it will be computed to include the first and include the last day of such period. If the last day of any such period falls on a Sunday or on a day made a legal holiday by the law of the applicable jurisdiction, such day will be omitted from the computation.
- 18.03 Cumulative Remedies
 - A. The duties and obligations imposed by these General Conditions and the rights and remedies available hereunder to the parties hereto are in addition to, and are not to be construed in any way as a limitation of, any rights and remedies available to any or all of them which are otherwise imposed or available by Laws or Regulations, by special warranty or guarantee, or by other provisions of the Contract. The provisions of this paragraph will be as effective as if repeated specifically in the Contract Documents in connection with each particular duty, obligation, right, and remedy to which they apply.
- 18.04 Mutual Limitation of Damages
 - A. With respect to any and all Change Proposals, Claims, disputes subject to final resolution, and other matters at issue, neither Owner, Contractor nor Engineer, nor any of their officers, directors, members, partners, employees, agents, consultants, or subcontractors, shall be liable to each other for any claims, costs, losses, or damages sustained on or in connection with any other project or anticipated project.
- 18.05 No Waiver
 - A. A party's non-enforcement of any provision shall not constitute a waiver of that provision, nor shall it affect the enforceability of that provision for the remainder of this Contract.
- 18.06 Survival of Obligations
 - A. All representations, indemnifications, warranties, and guarantees made in, required by, or given in accordance with the Contract, as well as all continuing obligations indicated in the Contract, will survive final payment, completion, and acceptance of the Work or termination or completion of the Contract or termination of the services of Contractor.
- 18.07 Controlling Law
 - A. This Contract is to be governed by the law of the state in which the Project is located.

18.08 *Headings*

A. Article and paragraph headings are inserted for convenience only and do not constitute parts of these General Conditions.

18.09 Mutual Waiver of Consequential Damages

A. Owner, Engineer and Contractor mutually waive all consequential, incidental or special damages that each may have against the other whether sounding in contract, tort, equity or otherwise.



Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-311, Version: 1

SUBJECT: Consent Agenda

A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving Change Order No. 2 to the Construction Contract with GoodLand Construction, Inc. for the Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline Improvements

DEPARTMENT:	Public Works
PRESENTER/PREPARER:	Todd Fessenden, Public Works Director David Pasic, Town Engineer

TIME ESTIMATE:

FISCAL SUMMARY:

Additional Budget as Recommended:\$ 67,136Balance Available (2022 funds):\$260,173Fund:WaterBudget Line Item Number:500.70.110.605000.100374New Appropriation Required:No

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Adopt the resolution approving the change order.

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:

At the September 28, 2021 Board Meeting the Board of Trustees awarded a construction contract to GoodLand Construction, Inc. (GoodLand), in the amount not to exceed \$590,484 for the Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline; which includes the bid amount of \$536,804, and a 10% contingency of \$53,680.

The construction project attained Substantial Completion status and began the warranty period on June 29, 2022; one-month ahead of schedule. The Town and GoodLand worked well together in implementing traffic control along Erie Parkway between Powers Street and Briggs Street, that minimized traffic delays and promoted safety, eliminated night-construction and associated hazards, and minimized overnight lane closures. The contractor is currently working toward completing miscellaneous work items before final payment is approved by staff.

Staff requests approval of Change Order 2 in the amount of \$105,867 to compensate GoodLand for actual costs incurred during construction and includes:

- 1. A reduction of \$8,000 due to imported backfill not being used, which reduced cost;
- 2. An increase of \$871 for actual installed aggregate base materials; and
- 3. An increase of \$112,996 for actual "tonnage" of installed hot mix asphalt materials.

Two items contributed to the increase in tonnage of hot mix asphalt materials above what was contemplated in the original design and construction bid:

- GoodLand used an open cut method of pipe installation and a trench box to promote worker safety, this resulted in a trench width in excess of the original design. A secondary benefit that resulted from the increased trench width was that the contractor's operational efficiency increased, which resulted in a shorter construction period, and reduced community exposure to traffic impacts.
- During construction Town staff determined the actual thickness of asphalt required to be reconstructed was 6-inches greater than contemplated in the original bid units.

Staff recommends approving Change Order 2, because the changes made during construction were necessary to promote safety, efficiency, reduced impacts on Town residents, and due to unanticipated site conditions, and because the negotiated additional costs are reasonable and appropriate.

Fiscal Impact:

The 2022 Budget has \$911,800 appropriated for construction of this project and has sufficient funds available to cover Change Order 2. Approving Change Order 2 will authorize the additional budget as recommended of \$67,136, and allow staff to allocate the remaining contract contingency of \$38,731, to cover the total Change Order 2 amount of \$105,867.

The Cost Summary below indicates the proposed budget allocation for construction.

Cost Summary

Total Construction Cost	\$709,945
Construction Contingency Remaining	<u>\$0</u>
Change Order 2	\$ 105,867
Change Order 1 (previously staff authorized)	\$ 14,949
Original Construction Contract	\$ 536,804
Construction Inspection & Materials Testing	\$ 52,325

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

✓ Safe and Healthy Community

File #: 22-311, Version: 1

- ✓ Effective Governance
- ✓ Environmentally Sustainable
- ✓ Fiscally Responsible

ATTACHMENTS:

- 1. Resolution 22-109
- 2. Construction Contract
- 3. Change Order 2

Town of Erie Resolution No. 22-109

A Resolution of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Approving Change Order No. 2 to the Construction Contract with GoodLand Construction, Inc. for the Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline Improvements

Whereas, the 2022 capital budget includes funds for construction of the Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline;

Whereas, on September 28, 2021, the Board of Trustees approved a Construction Contract with GoodLand Construction, Inc. for construction of the Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline; and

Whereas, the Board of Trustees finds that it is in the best interest of the Town and public health, safety and welfare to approve Change Order No. 2 to the Construction Contract with GoodLand Construction, Inc.

Now Therefore be it Resolved by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie, Colorado, that:

Section 1. Change Order No. 2 to the Construction Contract with GoodLand Construction, Inc. is hereby approved in substantially the form attached hereto, subject to approval by the Town's special counsel. Upon such approval, the Town Administrator is authorized to execute Change Order No. 2 on behalf of the Town.

Adopted this 13th day of September, 2022.

Justin Brooks, Mayor

Attest:

Debbie Stamp, Town Clerk

Construction Contract

This Construction Contract (the "Contract") is made and entered into this $\underline{3D^{1}}$ day of $\underline{September}$, 2021 (the "Effective Date"), by and between the Town of Erie, 645 Holbrook Street, P.O. Box 750, Erie, CO 80516, a Colorado municipal corporation (the "Town"), and <u>GoodLand Construction, Inc.</u>, an independent contractor with a principal place of business at <u>760 Nile Street</u>, <u>Golden Colorado</u>, <u>80401</u> ("Contractor") (each a "Party" and collectively the "Parties").

For the consideration hereinafter set forth, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:

1. <u>Scope of Work</u>. Contractor shall perform the following described work (the "Work"), in accordance with this Contract and the Contract Documents, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference:

Construction of a reuse waterline located in Erie Parkway between South Briggs Street and Powers Street. Work consists of installation of 1,460 LF of 8" and 12" reuse waterline, asphalt patching, traffic control, seeding, and site restoration.

2. <u>Bonds</u>. Within 10 days of the date of this Contract, Contractor shall provide the payment and performance bond and certificate of insurance required by the Contract Documents. A payment and performance bond is not required for contract amounts under \$50,000 unless indicated differently in the Request for Bids or the Contract Documents.

3. <u>Commencement and Completion of Work</u>. Contractor shall commence the Work within 10 days of date of the Notice to Proceed. Substantial Completion of the Work shall be accomplished within <u>122</u> days of the date of commencement, unless the period Substantial Completion is extended otherwise in accordance with the Contract Documents. Final Completion of the Work shall be accomplished within <u>30</u> days of the date of Substantial Completion.

4. <u>Contract Price</u>. The Town agrees to pay Contractor, subject to all of the terms and conditions of the Contract Documents, for the Work, an amount not to exceed <u>\$536,804</u>.

5. <u>Workers Without Authorization</u>.

a. *Certification*. By entering into this Contract, Contractor hereby certifies that, at the time of this certification, it does not knowingly employ or contract with a worker without authorization who will perform work under this Contract and that Contractor will participate in either the E-Verify Program administered by the United States Department of Homeland Security and Social Security Administration or the Department Program administered by the Colorado Department of Labor and

E-1

Employment in order to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for employment to perform work under this Contract.

b. *Prohibited Acts.* Contractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with a worker without authorization to perform work under this Contract or enter into a contract with a subcontractor that fails to certify to Contractor that the subcontractor shall not knowingly employ or contract with a worker without authorization to perform work under this Contract.

c. Verification.

1. If Contractor has employees, Contractor has confirmed or attempted to confirm the employment eligibility of all employees who are newly hired for employment to perform work under this Contract through participation in either the E-Verify Program or the Department Program.

2. Contractor shall not use the E-Verify or Department Program procedures to undertake pre-employment screening of job applicants while this Contract is being performed.

3. If Contractor obtains actual knowledge that a subcontractor performing work under this Contract knowingly employs or contracts with a worker without authorization who is performing work under this Contract, Contractor shall: notify the subcontractor and the Town within 3 days that Contractor has actual knowledge that the subcontractor is employing or contracting with a worker without authorization who is performing work under this Contract; and terminate the subcontract with the subcontractor if within 3 days of receiving the notice required pursuant to subsection a hereof, the subcontractor does not stop employing or contract; except that Contractor shall not terminate the contract with the subcontractor if during such 3 days the subcontractor provides information to establish that the subcontractor has not knowingly employed or contracted with a worker without authorization who is performing work under this Contract.

d. *Duty to Comply with Investigations*. Contractor shall comply with any reasonable request by the Colorado Department of Labor and Employment made in the course of an investigation conducted pursuant to C.R.S. § 8-17.5-102(5)(a) to ensure that Contractor is complying with the terms of this Contract.

e. *Affidavits*. If Contractor does not have employees, Contractor shall sign the attached "No Employee Affidavit." If Contractor wishes to verify the lawful presence of newly hired employees who perform work under the Contract via the Department Program, Contractor shall sign the "Department Program Affidavit" attached hereto.

Keep Jobs In Colorado Act. Pursuant to the Keep Jobs in Colorado Act, C.R.S. § 6. 8-17-101, et seq. (the "Act"), and the rules adopted by the Division of Labor of the Colorado Department of Labor and Employment implementing the Act (the "Rules"), Contractor shall employ Colorado labor to perform at least 80% of the work under this Contract and shall obtain and maintain the records required by the Act and the Rules. For purposes of this Section, "Colorado labor" means a person who is a resident of the state of Colorado at the time of this Contract, without discrimination as to race, color, creed, sex, sexual orientation, marital status, national origin, ancestry, age, or religion except when sex or age is a *bona fide* qualification. A resident of the state of Colorado is a person with a valid Colorado driver's license, a valid Colorado state-issued photo identification, or documentation that he or she has resided in Colorado for the last 30 days. Contractor represents that it is familiar with the requirements of the Act and the Rules and will fully comply with same. This Section shall not apply to any project for which appropriation or expenditure of moneys may be reasonably expected not to exceed \$500,000 in the aggregate for any fiscal year.

7. <u>Miscellaneous</u>.

a. *Governing Law and Venue*. This Contract shall be governed by the laws of the State of Colorado, and any legal action concerning the provisions hereof shall be brought in Boulder County, Colorado.

b. *No Waiver*. Delays in enforcement or the waiver of any one or more defaults or breaches of this Contract by the Town shall not constitute a waiver of any of the other terms or obligation of this Contract.

c. *Integration*. This Contract and any attached exhibits constitute the entire Contract between Contractor and the Town, superseding all prior oral or written communications.

d. *Third Parties.* There are no intended third-party beneficiaries to this Contract.

e. *Notice*. Any notice under this Agreement shall be in writing, and shall be deemed sufficient when directly presented or sent pre-paid, first class U.S. Mail to the Party at the address set forth on the first page of this Agreement.

f. *Severability*. If any provision of this Contract is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unlawful or unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions hereof shall remain in full force and effect.

g. *Modification*. This Contract may only be modified upon written agreement of the Parties.

h. *Assignment*. Neither this Contract nor any of the rights or obligations of the Parties shall be assigned by either Party without the written consent of the other.

i. *Governmental Immunity*. The Town and its officers, attorneys and employees are relying on, and do not waive or intend to waive by any provision of this Contract, the monetary limitations or any other rights, immunities, and protections provided by the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, C.R.S. § 24-10-101, *et seq.*, as amended, or otherwise available to the Town and its officers, attorneys or employees.

j. *Rights and Remedies*. The rights and remedies of the Town under this Contract are in addition to any other rights and remedies provided by law. The expiration of this Contract shall in no way limit the Town's legal or equitable remedies, or the period in which such remedies may be asserted, for work negligently or defectively performed.

k. *Subject to Annual Appropriation.* Consistent with Article X, § 20 of the Colorado Constitution, any financial obligation of the Town not performed during the current fiscal year is subject to annual appropriation, shall extend only to monies currently appropriated, and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability beyond the current fiscal year.

In Witness Whereof, this Construction Contract has been executed by the Parties as of the Effective Date.

Town of Erie, Colorado

Call

Jennifer Carkoll, Mayor

Attest:		
	END D	
Heidi Leath	erwood, Town Člerk	

Contractor

GoodLand Construction, Inc.

Matt Worland 9258F2DAD87B42C.

Matt Worland, President

By:

No Employee Affidavit [To be completed only if Contractor has no employees]

1. Check and complete one:

, am a sole proprietor doing business as I, . I do not currently employ any individuals. Should I employ any employees during the term of my Contract with the Town of Erie (the "Town"), I certify that I will comply with the lawful presence verification requirements outlined in that Contract.

Or

I, _____, am the sole owner/member/shareholder of _____, a ______ [specify type of entity – *i.e.*, corporation, limited liability company], that does not currently employ any individuals. Should I employ any individuals during the term of my Contract with the Town, I certify that I will comply with the lawful presence verification requirements outlined in that Contract.

2. Check one.

I am a United States citizen or legal permanent resident.

The Town must verify this statement by reviewing one of the following items:

- A valid Colorado driver's license or a Colorado identification card;
- A United States military card or a military dependent's identification card;
- A United States Coast Guard Merchant Mariner card;
- A Native American tribal document; 圓
- In the case of a resident of another state, the driver's license or state-issued identification card from the state of residence, if that state requires the applicant to prove lawful presence prior to the issuance of the identification card; or
- Any other documents or combination of documents listed in the Town's "Acceptable Documents for Lawful Presence Verification" chart that prove both Contractor's citizenship/lawful presence and identity.

Or

I am otherwise lawfully present in the United States pursuant to federal law.

E-5

Contractor must verify this statement through the federal Systematic Alien Verification of Entitlement ("SAVE") program, and provide such verification to the Town,

Signature

Date

Department Program Affidavit

[To be completed only if Contractor participates in the Department of Labor Lawful Presence Verification Program]

I, <u>Goodland Construction</u>, as a public contractor under contract with the Town of Erie (the "Town"), hereby affirm that:

1. I have examined or will examine the legal work status of all employees who are newly hired for employment to perform work under this public contract for services (the "Contract") with the Town within 20 days after such hiring date;

2. I have retained or will retain file copies of all documents required by 8 U.S.C. § 1324a which verify the employment eligibility and identity of newly hired employees who perform work under the Contract; and

3. I have not and will not alter or falsify the identification documents for my newly hired employees who perform work under the Contract.

DocuSigned by: Matt Worland 9258F2DAD87B42C

Signature

9/26/2021 Date

Change Order No.: Change Order 2		1 the
Date: August 25, 2022		
Company: GoodlLand Construction, Inc.		Maria and the second second
Project: Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline Improvements		TOWN OF ERIE
Project Number: P21-287		
Agreement Date: September 30, 2021	PO#:	014599

You are hereby requested to comply with the following changes to the Agreement.

Description of Changes: Contract Close-out Change Order:		Dec	Decrease Contract Price		Increase Contract Price	
		Cont				
Bid Item No.	See attached e-mail dated August 18, 2022.					
19	Imported Backfill - Item not used, zero cost.	\$	8,000.00	\$	-	
20	Aggregate Base Course - Additional base constructed.			\$	871.00	
21	Hot Mix Asphalt - Additional asphalt constructed.	\$	-	\$	112,996.00	
	This Change Order constitutes a full and final settlement and discharge of any and all claims asserted or which could have been asserted regarding the subject matter of this Change Order.	\$	8,000.00	\$	113,867.00	
Net Change to Cont						
Original Contract Price	2:				\$536,804.00	
Current Contract Price	adjusted by previous Change Order:				\$551,753.33	
Amount of this Change Order					105,867.00	
New Contract Price, in	cluding this Change Order, will be:				\$657,620.33	
Contingency:						
Maximum Allowable A	mount:				\$53,680.00	
Remaining Amount:					\$0.00	
Approvals:						
Project Manag	ger:	_	Date:			
Consultant/ Contrac	tor:	_	Date:			
Public Works Direc	tor:	_	Date:			
Finance Direc	tor:	_	Date:			

Town Administrator:

Date:
Zachary Ahinga

From:	Zachary Ahinga
Sent:	Thursday, August 18, 2022 6:04 PM
То:	Ben Worland; Matt Worland
Cc:	David Pasic; Nick Campbell; Joel Price; Nishant Netala
Subject:	RE: : Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline -Goodland Change Order 2

Ben and Matt: The Town appreciates GoodLands cooperation and willingness to settle this matter. I will prepare a draft final payment request and Change Order 2 for your review/comment. Because of the amount of Change Order 2, approval of the Town Board of Trustees must be obtained in order for the Town to sign Change Order 2; we are targeting the September 13th Board meeting to request Change Order 2 approval. Town will need GoodLand to sign Change Order 2 and it will be attached to the Board report for information.

In addition, we need to GoodLand to submit its as-built records to the Town in accordance with the contract specifications. I will schedule an online meeting with Ben to coordinate that. Thank you,

Zachary N. Ahinga, P.E. | Civil Engineer

Planning and Development - Engineering



Town of Erie 645 Holbrook Street | P.O. Box 750 | Erie, CO 80516 Phone: 303-926-2878 | Cell: 720-926-0788 | Fax: 303-926-2706 www.erieco.gov/1044/Engineering-Division | Facebook | Twitter | LinkedIn

Enhancing the quality of life by serving and building Erie with PRIDE.

The information contained in this email message may be privileged, confidential, and protected from disclosure. If you are not the intended recipient, any dissemination, distribution, or copying is strictly prohibited. If you think you have received this email message in error, please contact the sender and delete the original message immediately.

From: Ben Worland <Ben@goodlandconstruction.com>
Sent: Friday, August 12, 2022 2:40 PM
To: Zachary Ahinga <zahinga@erieco.gov>; Matt Worland <Matt@goodlandconstruction.com>
Subject: RE: : Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline - Draft Minutes of July 1, 2022 Meeting To Discuss Goodland Change Order

Zachary:

We appreciate the follow up regarding this issue and after careful consideration we will accept the resolution outlined below. This is based on the following understanding:

- 1. GoodLand did discuss the asphalt overrun with the Town as soon as GoodLand was made aware of the issue.
- 2. The asphalt removal quantities on the bid tab do not match the removals on the plan sheets. The takeoff on the plan shows 850+ SY
- 3. The asphalt thickness was never expected to be 14-15", based on the provided quantities in the bid it was assumed to be 8" (305 ton and 700 SY of removal). Potholes were done in design to verify the existing utilities, the Town should have been aware of the thickness when this work was being performed.
- 4. GoodLand did make several attempts to clarify the thickness of the asphalt to be installed prior to patching and was instructed to match existing.
- 5. GoodLand's street cut width is within the industry norm for large mainline installation. Adding an additional 2' for the "T" patch created the 8' condition and was not accounted for in the bid quantities.

By accepting this resolution, GoodLand is not accepting fault for errors made by others including the design team, owner's representative, or the Town of Erie. We feel this resolution is in the best interest of all parties and reserve the right to withdrawal our acceptance of this resolution if the Town does not approve the change order as discussed in the email below.

We feel we did our part to make this project successful and appreciate the team doing their part to help resolve this issue. We look forward to working with the Town on closing the project out.

Sincerely,

Ben Worland

To: Ben Worland <<u>Ben@goodlandconstruction.com</u>>; Matt Worland <<u>Matt@goodlandconstruction.com</u>>

Cc: Midge Demarest <<u>Midge@goodlandconstruction.com</u>>; David Pasic <<u>dpasic@erieco.gov</u>> **Subject:** FW: : Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline - Draft Minutes of July 1, 2022 Meeting To Discuss Goodland Change Order

Ben and Matt:

The Town's understanding of Matt's response is that Goodland Construction is willing to accept the quantities of asphalt and resulting increase over Bid price for a Change Order amount of \$112,996.00 (as shown in attached PNG file) to settle the overage issue for Bid Item 21 – Hot Mix Asphalt. The Town is willing to use the Change Order amount of \$112,996 to continue the discussion to settle Bid Item 21; based on the concept that the averaging provides a good model to quantify the actual work that GoodLand performed. However, the Town believes it appropriate to negotiate for a further reduction.

Goodland made the decisions on pavement saw-cut width and necessary trench work space based on its responsibility for means and methods; however, those means and methods should not result in additional cost to the Town, and those decisions did not comply with the contract drawings and specifications. There was no advance discussion on the non-compliance; and no alert to the Town as required by the specifications, when it is anticipated a bid item will exceed 105% of the bid quantity. Had GoodLand discussed the trench width and alerted the Town to the potential overage in Bid Item 21, a resolution to minimize the trench width (and resulting overall cost) could have been implemented early in the project. Would Goodland consider eliminating the request for overage for Bid Item 6 – Removal and Disposal of Existing Asphalt in the amount of \$7,322.10. If GoodLand accepts this proposal the total change order amounts for Bid Item 6 and 21 are summarized as follows: Bid Item 6 \$0.00 Bid Item 21 \$112,996

The Town appreciates GoodLand Construction's effort to resolve these change order items and move forward with project closeout. The Town intends to request approval of Change Order 2 at the August 23, 2022 Board of Trustees meeting and desires to resolve all change order matters to meet that schedule.

Please let me know at your earliest convenience whether Goodland is willing to consider the Town's proposal above to settle the overage in Bid items 6 and 21. I am available anytime this week to discuss this.

Thank you,

Zachary N. Ahinga, P.E.| Civil Engineer

Planning and Development - Engineering



Town of Erie 645 Holbrook Street | P.O. Box 750 | Erie, CO 80516 Phone: 303-926-2878 | Cell: 720-926-0788 | Fax: 303-926-2706 www.erieco.gov/1044/Engineering-Division | Facebook | Twitter | LinkedIn

Enhancing the quality of life by serving and building Erie with PRIDE.

The information contained in this email message may be privileged, confidential, and protected from disclosure. If you are not the intended recipient, any dissemination, distribution, or copying is strictly prohibited. If you think you have received this email message in error, please contact the sender and delete the original message immediately.

From: Matt Worland <<u>Matt@goodlandconstruction.com</u>> Sent: Monday, July 18, 2022 4:03 PM

To: Zachary Ahinga <zahinga@erieco.gov>

Cc: Nick Campbell <<u>Nick.Campbell@murraysmith.us</u>>; Ben Worland <<u>Ben@goodlandconstruction.com</u>>; Midge Demarest <<u>Midge@goodlandconstruction.com</u>>; Joel Price <<u>Joel.Price@murraysmith.us</u>>; Nishant Netala <<u>Nishant.Netala@apexdesignpc.com</u>>; David Pasic <<u>dpasic@erieco.gov</u>> **Subject:** RE: : Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline - Draft Minutes of July 1, 2022 Meeting To Discuss Goodland Change Order

Hi Zachary,

I cannot speak to the meeting minutes since I wasn't present. However, I have discussed this with Ben and in an effort to put this issue behind us and move on we will accept the quantities provided by Murraysmith. This is based on the assumption we are all in agreement with those quantities and we can move forward preparing final billings and closing out this project. If further discussion is warranted or if you would like us to prepare a change order proposal, please let me know.

Thanks,

Matt Worland

GoodLand Construction, Inc. 760 Nile St. Golden, CO 80401 Office: 303-278-8100 | Mobile: 303-598-2250 GoodLandConstruction.com

From: Zachary Ahinga <<u>zahinga@erieco.gov</u>>
Sent: Tuesday, July 12, 2022 11:29 AM
To: Ben Worland <<u>Ben@goodlandconstruction.com</u>>; Midge Demarest
<<u>Midge@goodlandconstruction.com</u>>; Nick Campbell
Cc: Matt Worland <<u>Matt@goodlandconstruction.com</u>>; Nick Campbell
<<u>Nick.Campbell@murraysmith.us</u>>; Joel Price <<u>Joel.Price@murraysmith.us</u>>; Nishant Netala
<<u>Nishant.Netala@apexdesignpc.com</u>>; David Pasic <<u>dpasic@erieco.gov</u>>
Subject: RE:: Erie Parkway Reuse Waterline - Draft Minutes of July 1, 2022 Meeting To Discuss Goodland
Change Order

Ben and Midge: Attached are the draft minutes of the July 1, 2022 meeting wherein we discussed the 1st Pay Application and the indicated change order amounts related to asphalt placement, and removal & disposal of asphalt. Also per Goodland's request, attached is the estimated quantities of asphalt installation and calculated total Change Order amount discussed under item 2.b.ii; if it were assumed a T-patch width of 8 feet was installed for the entire length of the trench within the asphalt pavement with an average thickness of 14 inches.

The Town's provision of the draft minutes is an opportunity for Goodland to clarify or propose revisions to the draft minutes. The Town's objective in preparing minutes is to document the discussion of the July 1, 2022 meeting; and does not make any formal settlement proposal of the change order issue.

The Town looks forward to continued discussions on this item at Goodland's earliest convenience.

Thank you,

Zachary N. Ahinga, P.E. | Civil Engineer

Planning and Development - Engineering



Town of Erie 645 Holbrook Street | P.O. Box 750 | Erie, CO 80516 Phone: 303-926-2878 | Cell: 720-926-0788 | Fax: 303-926-2706 www.erieco.gov/1044/Engineering-Division | Facebook | Twitter | LinkedIn

Enhancing the quality of life by serving and building Erie with PRIDE.

The information contained in this email message may be privileged, confidential, and protected from disclosure. If you are not the intended recipient, any dissemination, distribution, or copying is strictly prohibited. If you think you have received this email message in error, please contact the sender and delete the original message immediately.



Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-345, Version: 1

Subject: General Business

Hispanic/Latinx Heritage Month Proclamation

Department: Legislation

Presenter(s): Alberto De Los Rios, Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Manager

Summary and Background of Subject Matter:

Hispanic Heritage Month is an annual celebration of the history and culture of U.S. Latinx and Hispanic communities. The celebratory month spans from September 15 to October 15 and commemorates the influence of Latinx and Hispanic communities in American society. It began in 1968 as Hispanic Heritage Week under President Johnson and later evolved into Hispanic Heritage Month in 1988 under President Reagan. September 15 serves as the kickoff date because it coincides with the Independence Day celebrations of Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, and Nicaragua-all nations that declared their independence from Spain on September 15, 1821. Similarly, Mexico and Chile celebrate their independence on September 16 and 18, respectively. More information can be found on the <u>History.com <https://www.history.com/topics/hispanichistory/hispanic-heritage-month></u> and <u>National Today <https://nationaltoday.com/hispanic-heritagemonth/>. <<https://www.history.com/topics/hispanic-heritage-month>></u>

https://nationaltoday.com/hispanic-heritage-month/#:~:text=The%20Latinos%20in%20the%20U.S. <https://nationaltoday.com/hispanic-heritage-month/>>

Last year, President Joe Biden issued an annual proclamation for "National Hispanic Heritage Month," in which he urged the nation to recognize that "Hispanic heritage is American heritage." As of 2020, there are approximately 62.1 million Hispanic/Latinx people living in the United States, the second largest population group in the country. Like other underserved communities in the U.S., Hispanic / Latinx people have lower wealth, higher levels of poverty and incarceration rates, and low rates of representation across government and high-ranking corporate positions in comparison to white populations. They are also more likely to face inhumane work conditions and discrimination and mistreatment based on immigration status. More information on President Biden's Proclamation can be accessed on the White House's website <<u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/09/14/a-proclamation-on-national-hispanic-heritage-month-2021/></u> and a wide compilation of Hispanic/Latinx data points can be seen on the Pew Research Center's <u>collection</u>

File #: 22-345, Version: 1

<https://www.pewresearch.org/topic/race-ethnicity/racial-ethnic-groups/hispanics-latinos/>. < https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/09/14/a-proclamation-onnational-hispanic-heritage-month-2021/#:~:text=In%20recognition%20of%20the% 20achievements,%E2%80%9CNational%20Hispanic%20Heritage%20Month.%E2%80%9D <https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/presidential-actions/2021/09/14/a-proclamation-onnational-hispanic-heritage-month-2021/>>< <https://www.pewresearch.org/topic/race-ethnicity/racial-ethnic-groups/hispanics-latinos/>>

The month's theme for 2022 is *Unidos: Inclusivity for a Stronger Nation*. Through this message, the National Council for Hispanic Employment Program Managers (NCHEPM) reinforces "the need to ensure diverse voices and perspectives are welcomed in decision-making processes, thereby helping to build stronger communities and a stronger Nation." More information can be accessed through the National Archives website <https://www.archives.gov/news/topics/hispanic-heritage-month> and the NCHEPM announcement page <https://nationalcouncilhepm.org/announcements>. < <<u>https://www.archives.gov/news/topics/hispanic-heritage-month></u>

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

- ✓ Engaged and Diverse Community
- ✓ Effective Governance

Attachment(s):

1. Proclamation



Hispanic / Latinx Heritage Month Proclamation

Whereas, Hispanic / Latinx Heritage Month is an official celebration of American communities whose ancestry can be traced back to Spain, Mexico, Central and South America, Africa, Asia, and the Caribbean; and

Whereas, the celebration started as a week-long celebration in 1968 and later expanded to dedicate a month recognizing the generations of Hispanic / Latin Americans who have and continue to positively influence and enrich our society; and

Whereas, September 15 is significant because it marks the anniversary of independence for Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, and Nicaragua. Mexico and Chile celebrate their independence days on September 16 and 18, respectively; and

Whereas, many Hispanic / Latinx people have come to this country as immigrants and have fought for state and national initiatives providing pathways to equal rights, citizenship, and protecting the right to vote; and

Whereas, throughout the history of the United States, members of the Hispanic / Latinx community have helped shape the social, cultural, political, and economic landscape of this nation despite of longstanding discrimination and unequal treatment; and

Whereas, during the COVID-19 pandemic, members of the Hispanic / Latinx community helped keep our neighborhoods and communities vibrant, prosperous, and safe by serving as front-line workers, researchers, teachers, business owners, scientists, farmworkers, first responders, activists, colleagues, neighbors, and friends; and

Whereas, on September 14, 2021, President Joseph R. Biden signed the National Hispanic Heritage Month Proclamation, designating September 15 through October 15 as National Hispanic/Latinx Heritage Month.

Now, therefore, I, Justin Brooks, Mayor of the Town of Erie, do hereby proclaim that Hispanic / Latinx Heritage Month be celebrated from September 15 through October 15, and I call upon the Town of Erie and all Americans to observe this month with appropriate ceremonies, activities, and programs.

Dated this 13th day of September, 2022.

Justin Brooks, Mayor

Attest:

Debbie Stamp, Deputy Town Clerk



Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-363, Version: 1

Subject:

Presentation of 90 Second Celebration Video **Department:** Administration

Presenter(s): Melissa Wiley, Deputy Town Administrator

Time Estimate: 5 minutes

Summary and Background of Subject Matter:

This will be a brief presentation of a video highlighting Town staff accomplishments from the last month.

Board Priority(s) Addressed: (Note: Delete all priorities that do not apply and this note.)

- ✓ Small Town Feel
- ✓ Safe and Healthy Community



Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-342, Version: 1

Subject: Ordinance

PUBLIC HEARING: An Ordinance of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Amending Sections 10-2-7 and 10-7-2 of the Erie Municipal Code, Repealing Section 10-7-6 of the Erie Municipal Code, and Repealing and Reenacting Section 10-7-8 of the Erie Municipal Code, all to Modify and Clarify the Procedure for Amendments to Land Use Approvals and Deviations from Land Use Standards

Department: Planning & Development

Presenter(s): Deborah Bachelder AICP, Planning Manager/Deputy Director of Planning & Development

Time Estimate: 20 minutes

Staff Recommendation:

Approve the ordinance amending the Unified Development Code to allow modifications to existing Planned Unit Development overlay zone districts; and, to modify and clarify the amendment to land use approvals and deviations from land use standards.

Summary and Background of Subject Matter:

Staff has prepared an Ordinance amending multiple sections within Chapter 10 of the Unified Development Code (UDC) that address the Planned Unit Development (PUD) Overlay district. The PUD Overlay was originally established as an approach to provide specific geographic areas with modifications to design standards of underlying zoning districts. The PUD Overlay is superimposed over the traditional zone and provides additional or alternative design restrictions, additional setbacks, or other exceptions to the base district. Multiple PUD Overlays have been mapped throughout the Town to facilitate unique master planned projects.

In January, 2022, the Town adopted a comprehensive update to the UDC that included key updates to residential zone districts to reflect a wider variety of housing types and reduction of redundancy in zoning districts and planning processes. This update included moving the PUD Overlay district to Title 10, Chapter 2 (10-2-7.E), Inactive Districts, with the intent to rely on the Planned Development (PD) process to achieve unique projects and modifications to zone districts. The existing language in 10-2-7.E

File #: 22-342, Version: 1

does not allow new PUD Overlay districts to be newly mapped or expanded.

New large-scale, unique projects in the Town now use the PD process. As these sites build out, the PD is able to expand and extend the design and character of these projects. However, for properties with a PUD Overlay, minor boundary changes are not permitted, therefore extension of the design standards to adjacent geographic areas would need to be recorded with the creation of a new PD. This proposed amendment to the UDC seeks to minimize redundancy in process by allowing for minor expansions of a PUD Overlay by no more than five (5) percent of the total area of the existing PUD, which must be contiguous with the PUD boundary. In order to allow for an expansion of a PUD Overlay, Section 10-2-7.E is repealed in its entirety, removing the PUD Overlay district from "Inactive Districts". The PUD Overlay is reinstated within Section 10-7-6.

The language in Section 10-7-6 includes the following:

- Description of the PUD's purpose and intent;
- Scope of potential variations;
- Review procedures of any amendment;
- Approval criteria; and
- Allowance and limitation of amendments, including boundary changes.

Additional changes to Title 10, Chapter 7 include:

- In Section 10-7-1, Table 7-1.1: Summary of Administration and Review Roles to clean up language and create consistency with the amendment.
- Updated language to Section 10-7-2.J Standard Development Review Procedures Step 10: Amendments, to address the ability to amend a PUD.
- Updated language to Section 10-7-8 Minor Deviations to create consistency with this proposed amendment.

The proposed UDC amendment ensures continued promotion of public health, safety, and public welfare; is consistent with the Town's vision and Comprehensive Plan; and allows the Town to be responsive to development trends and measured, consistent growth over time.

Planning Commission recommendation: approve the ordinance

Public Comment: none submitted

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

✓ Effective Governance

Attachment(s):

- 1. Ordinance No. 19-2022
- 2. UDC Amendments
- 3. Resolution No. P22-07
- 4. Public Hearing Notice
- 5. Staff Presentation

Town of Erie Ordinance No. 19-2022

An Ordinance of the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie Amending Sections 10-2-7 and 10-7-2 of the Erie Municipal Code, Repealing Section 10-7-6 of the Erie Municipal Code, and Repealing and Reenacting Section 10-7-8 of the Erie Municipal Code, all to Modify and Clarify the Procedure for Amendments to Land Use Approvals and Deviations from Land Use Standards

Whereas, the Board of Trustees desires to modify and clarify the amendment procedure for land use approvals and deviations from land use standards.

Now Therefore be it Ordained by the Board of Trustees of the Town of Erie, Colorado, as follows:

Section 1. Section 10-2-7.E. of the Erie Municipal Code is hereby repealed in its entirety.

Section 2. Table 7-1.1 in Section 10-7-1 of the Erie Municipal Code is hereby amended as follows:

a. To remove the row entitled "PUD Plan Amendment, Administrative Review" in its entirety; and

b. To change the row entitled "PUD Plan Amendment, PC/BOT Review" to "PUD".

Section 3. Section 10-7-2.J. of the Erie Municipal Code is hereby repealed in its entirety and reenacted as follows:

10-7-2. Standard development review procedures.

* * *

J. Step 10: Amendments:

1. Minor Amendments: The Director may administratively approve, with or without conditions, a minor amendment to any approval issued under this Chapter. No public hearing shall be necessary. To approve a minor amendment, the Director must determine that the following criteria are satisfied:

a. The approval, as modified, complies with this Chapter at least to the extent of its original compliance;

b. The amendment does not result in a change in the character of the development;

c. The amendment does not increase or decrease the number of approved dwelling units by more than one (1) percent;

d. The amendment does not propose a change in building height, permitted uses, mix of uses or a deviation from use-specific standards;

e. The amendment does not change any conditions imposed on the original approval; and

f. If applicable, the amendment proposes a change in the housing mix or use mix ratio that complies with the requirements of the underlying zone district or the applicable PD or PUD plan.

2. Major amendments. Any amendment that is not determined by the Director to be a minor amendment under the criteria set forth above shall be deemed a major amendment. A major amendment shall be reviewed and processed in the same manner as the original approval, and shall be recorded in accordance with the procedures established for the original approval.

Section 4. Section 10-7-6 of the Erie Municipal Code is hereby repealed in its entirety and reenacted as follows:

10-7-6. Planned Unit Development (PUD).

1. Purpose: The purpose of the PUD overlay district is to provide for areas where there is special public interest that doesn't coincide with the traditional zoning in a geographic area. The PUD overlay district is a mapped area with restrictions in addition to, or less than, those in the underlying traditional zone. Rather than attempt to create a new zoning category, an overlay zone is superimposed over the traditional zone and establishes additional regulations, or reduces or extends the existing uses. The underlying zoning identifies permitted land uses, the overlay zone may provide design restrictions, additional setbacks, or other exceptions to the base district regulations. As an inactive district, no new PUD may be established. General purposes of a PUD are as follows:

a. Ensure orderly and thorough planning and review procedures that will result in high-quality urban design.

2

b. Encourage variety and avoid monotony in large developments by allowing greater freedom in selecting the means to provide access, light, open space, and amenity.

c. Provide a mechanism for considering mixes of uses that can be made compatible by application of careful and imaginative treatment of interrelationships of activity.

d. Encourage allocation and improvement of common open space in residential areas, and provide for maintenance of the open space at the expense of those who will directly benefit from it.

e. Encourage the preservation of serviceable existing structures of historic value or artistic merit by providing the opportunity to use them imaginatively for purposes other than that for which they were originally intended.

2. District-specific standards: In any PUD, although it is permissible to depart from literal conformance with the individual-lot dimension and area regulations, there shall be no variation of:

- a. The underlying zone districts maximum density requirements;
- b. Height requirements, except in the RC district;
- c. Parking requirements;
- d. Loading and unloading area requirements;
- e. Public street and alley standards;
- f. Exterior lighting standards;
- g. Operational standards;
- h. Parks, open space and trails dedication requirements;
- i. Natural and scenic resource protection requirements;
- j. Abandoned mine requirements;
- k. Oil and gas wells and production facility requirements;
- I. Floodplain protection; and
- m. Stormwater requirements.

8/30/2022

3. Review procedures: See Table 7.1-1, Section 10-7-2, and the User Guide for applicable review procedure and submittal requirements.

4. Approval criteria:

a. The PUD will promote the public health, safety, and general welfare;

b. The PUD is generally consistent with the Town's comprehensive plan and the purposes of this UDC;

c. Adequate facilities and services (including streets and transportation, water, gas, electric, police and fire protection, and sewage and waste disposal, as applicable) will be available to serve the subject property while maintaining adequate levels of service to existing development;

d. The PUD is not likely to result in significant adverse impacts upon the natural environment, including air, water, noise, storm water management, wildlife, and vegetation, or such impacts will be substantially mitigated;

e. The PUD is not likely to result in significant adverse impacts to significant scenic and historic features as identified in plans adopted by the Town;

f. The PUD is not likely to result in significant adverse impacts upon other property in the vicinity of the subject property;

g. Proposed uses on the subject property will be compatible in scale with uses on other properties in the vicinity of the subject property;

h. The proposed phasing of the development is appropriate and the development can be substantially completed within the time period specified in the schedule of development or development agreement submitted by the applicant; and

i. The PUD provides public benefits.

5. Amendment: An existing PUD may be expanded by no more than five (5) percent of the total area of the existing PUD, if all of the expansion area is contiguous with the PUD. The boundaries of an existing PUD may be amended to reduce the size of the PUD. PUD amendments shall be subject to Section 10-7-2.J.

8/30/2022

Section 5. Section 10-7-8 of the Erie Municipal Code is hereby repealed in its entirety and reenacted as follows:

10-7-8. Minor deviations.

A. Purpose: This Section allows for minor deviations from otherwise applicable land use standards. Minor deviations are intended to be allowed when the unlikelihood of any adverse effects on nearby properties or the neighborhood makes it unnecessary to complete a formal variance process.

B. Applicability:

1. As part of the review of any land use application under this Title, the Board of Trustees, the Planning Commission, or the Director may approve minor deviations of up to a maximum of ten percent (10%) from the following general development and zone district standards, provided that the applicable approval criteria are met:

- a. Minimum lot area requirements;
- b. Setback requirements;
- c. Subdivision design and improvement standards; and
- d. Quantitative development standards set forth in Chapter 6.

2. Exceptions: Notwithstanding the foregoing, no minor deviation shall result in:

- a. An increase in overall project density;
- b. A change in permitted uses or mix of uses;
- c. An increase in building height;
- d. A deviation from the use-specific standards; or

e. A change in conditions imposed on the original approval of any plat, site plan, or special review use.

C. Procedure: The final decision-making body on a land use application may approve a minor deviation at the time the land use application is finally approved.

D. Approval criteria: A minor deviation may only be approved if all of the following criteria are satisfied:

1. The minor deviation is generally consistent with the Town's Comprehensive Plan and the stated purpose of this UDC;

2. The minor deviation meets all applicable building and safety codes;

3. The minor deviation does not encroach into a recorded easement;

4. The minor deviation will not have significant adverse impacts on the health, safety, or general welfare of surrounding property owners or the general public, or such impacts will be substantially mitigated; and

5. The minor deviation is necessary to compensate for some practical difficulty or some unusual aspect of the site of the proposed development not shared by landowners in general, or to accommodate an alternative or innovative design practice that achieves to the same or better degree the objective of the existing standard.

Section 5. Severability. If any article, section, paragraph, sentence, clause, or phrase of this Ordinance is held to be unconstitutional or invalid for any reason, such decision shall not affect the validity or constitutionality of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. The Board of Trustees hereby declares that it would have passed this Ordinance and each part or parts hereof irrespective of the fact that any one, or part, or parts be declared unconstitutional or invalid.

Section 6. <u>Safety</u>. The Board of Trustees finds that the adoption of this Ordinance is necessary for the protection of the public health, safety and welfare.

Section 7. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall take effect 30 days after publication following adoption.

Introduced, Read, Passed and Ordered Published this 13th day of September, 2022.

Justin Brooks, Mayor

Attest:

Debbie Stamp, Town Clerk

UDC Section 10-2-7.E. Repealed

- E. Planned unit development overlay (PUD):
- 1. Purpose: The purpose of the PUD overlay district is to provide for areas where there is special public interest that doesn't coincide with the traditional zoning in a geographic area. The PUD overlay district is a mapped area with restrictions in addition to, or less than, those in the underlying traditional zone. Rather than attempt to create a new zoning category, an overlay zone is superimposed over the traditional zone and establishes additional regulations, or reduces or extends the existing uses. The underlying zoning identifies permitted land uses, the overlay zone may provide design restrictions, additional setbacks, or other exceptions to the base district regulations.

General purposes of a PUD are as follows:

- a. Ensure orderly and thorough planning and review procedures that will result in high-quality urban design.
- b. Encourage variety and avoid monotony in large developments by allowing greater freedom in selecting the means to provide access, light, open space, and amenity.
- c. Provide a mechanism for considering mixes of uses that can be made compatible by application of careful and imaginative treatment of interrelationships of activity.
- d. Encourage allocation and improvement of common open space in residential areas, and provide for maintenance of the open space at the expense of those who will directly benefit from it.
- e. Encourage the preservation of serviceable existing structures of historic value or artistic merit by providing the opportunity to use them imaginatively for purposes other than that for which they were originally intended.
- 2. District-specific standards: In any PUD, although it is permissible to depart from literal conformance with the individual-lot dimension and area regulations, there shall be no variation of:
 - a. The underlying zone districts maximum density requirements;
 - b. Height requirements, except in the RC district;
 - c. Parking requirements;
 - d. Loading and unloading area requirements;
 - e. Public street and alley standards;

- f. Exterior lighting standards;
- g. Operational standards;
- h. Parks, open space and trails dedication requirements;
- i. Natural and scenic resource protection requirements;
- j. Abandoned mine requirements;
- k. Oil and gas wells and production facility requirements;
- I. Floodplain protection; and
- m. Stormwater requirements.

The review procedures contained in section 10-7-6, shall apply to all development plans in a PUD overlay district.

3. Amendment: As an inactive district, no new PUD overlay may be established, and no existing PUD overlay may be expanded. The boundaries of an existing PUD overlay may only be reduced by rezoning to another zone district. A previously approved PUD development plan within an existing PUD overlay may only be amended in accordance with section 10-7-6.

UDC Section 10-7-2.J. Repealed

- J. Step 10: Amendments:
- 1. Minor amendments: Minor amendments to any form of approval issued under this chapter may be approved, approved with conditions, or denied administratively by the director and may be authorized without additional public hearings. Such minor amendments may be authorized by the director as long as the development approval, as so amended, continues to comply with the standards of this UDC, at least to the extent of its original compliance (so as to preclude any greater deviation from the standards of this UDC by reason of such amendments). Minor amendments shall only consist of any or all of the following:
 - a. Any change to any form of approval issued under this chapter that was originally subject only to administrative review and was approved by the director, provided such change would not have disqualified the original plan from administrative review had it been requested at that time; and provided that:
 - i. The minor amendment results in an increase or decrease by one percent or less in the approved number of dwelling units; or

- ii. The minor amendment results in an increase or decrease in the amount of square footage of a nonresidential land use or structure that does not change the character of the project; or
- iii. The minor amendment results in a change in the housing mix or use mix ratio that complies with the requirements of the zoning district and does not change the character of the project; or
- iv. The minor amendment does not result in a change in the character of the development.
- b. Any change to any form of approval issued under this chapter that was originally subject to review by the planning commission and was approved by the planning commission, provided that:
 - i. The minor amendment results in an increase or decrease by one percent or less in the approved number of dwelling units; or
 - ii. The minor amendment results in an increase or decrease in the amount of square footage of a nonresidential land use or structure that does not change the character of the project; or
 - iii. The minor amendment results in a change in the housing mix or use mix ratio that complies with the requirements of the zoning district and does not change the character of the project; or
 - iv. The minor amendment does not result in a change in the character of the development.
- c. The director may refer any amendment to the planning commission and, if so referred, the decision of the planning commission shall constitute a final decision, subject only to appeal as provided for in section 10-7-18.
- 2. Major amendments: Amendments to any approval that are not determined by the director to be minor amendments under the criteria set forth in subsection 10-7-2 J.1 above, shall be deemed major amendments. Major amendments to approvals under this UDC shall be reviewed and processed in the same manner as required for the original application for which amendment is sought. Any major amendments shall be recorded as amendments in accordance with the procedures established for the filing and recording of such initial approvals.

UDC Section 10-7-2.J. Reenacted

- J. Step 10: Amendments:
- 1. Minor Amendments: The Director may administratively approve, with or without conditions, a minor amendment to any approval issued under this Chapter. No

public hearing shall be necessary. To approve a minor amendment, the Director must determine that the following criteria are satisfied:

- a. The approval, as modified, complies with this Chapter at least to the extent of its original compliance;
- b. The amendment does not result in a change in the character of the development;
- c. The amendment does not increase or decrease the number of approved dwelling units by more than one (1) percent;
- d. The amendment does not propose a change in building height, permitted uses, mix of uses or a deviation from use-specific standards;
- e. The amendment does not change any conditions imposed on the original approval; and
- f. If applicable, the amendment proposes a change in the housing mix or use mix ratio that complies with the requirements of the underlying zone district or the applicable PD or PUD plan.
- 2. Major amendments. Any amendment that is not determined by the Director to be a minor amendment under the criteria set forth above shall be deemed a major amendment. A major amendment shall be reviewed and processed in the same manner as the original approval, and shall be recorded in accordance with the procedures established for the original approval.

UDC Section 10-7-6 Repealed

- 10-7-6 Planned unit development: Development plan amendments.
- A. Purpose: This section provides a procedure to amend an approved planned unit development ("PUD') development plan within an existing PUD overlay district. PUD amendment applications are not permitted for property that does not have an approved PUD.
- B. Amendments:
 - 1. Approval of an amendment to a PUD development plan is required prior to development in a PUD overlay district. A PUD development plan amendment may be submitted concurrently with a subdivision application. Amendment of a PUD development plan is subject to recommendation by the planning commission and approval by the board of trustees.

- 2. A major amendment of an approved PUD development plan shall require the filing of new application for a PUD development plan, subject to the major PUD development plan amendment procedure in section 10-7-6 D. below.
- The procedure in section 10-7-6 D. below is not applicable if the director determines that the requested changes are a minor amendment per section 10-7-2 K.
- C. Coordination with subdivision review:
 - 1. It is the intent of this UDC that subdivision review required under section 10-7-7 may be carried out concurrently with the review of PUD development plans under this section.
 - If any provisions of this section or the PUD standards of subsection 10-2-7 E.2. conflict with the subdivision standards of this UDC, the more restrictive or detailed requirements shall be met, unless specifically altered through the minor modification process.
- D. Procedure: See table 7.1, section 10-7-2, and the user guide for applicable review procedure and submittal requirements.
 - 1. Step 8 (decision and findings): Applicable. The following additional procedures shall apply:
 - a. Planning commission: The planning commission shall hold a public hearing on the PUD development plan amendment. The commission shall recommend that the board of trustees approve the plan amendment as submitted, approve the plan amendment with modifications, or deny the plan amendment. The director shall forward the recommendation to the board of trustees.
 - b. Board of trustees: The board of trustees shall hold a public hearing on the PUD development plan amendment and, at the close of the hearing, may by ordinance, approve, approve with modifications, or deny the PUD development plan amendment.
 - c. Recording: Following approval of the PUD development plan amendment, the town shall record the amended PUD development plan in the office of the appropriate county clerk and recorder. The developer shall be responsible for all required recording fees.
 - d. Successive applications: Following denial of a PUD development plan amendment request, no new application for the same or substantially the same PUD development plan amendment shall be accepted within one year of the date of denial.

- 2. Step 9 (approval criteria): Applicable, as follows: The board of trustees may approve a PUD development plan amendment and the planning commission may recommend approval, if the PUD development plan amendment meets all of the following criteria:
 - a. The PUD development plan amendment is generally consistent with the purpose of the PUD overlay district in subsection 10-2-7 E.1;
 - b. The PUD development plan amendment will promote the public health, safety, and general welfare;
 - c. The PUD development plan amendment is generally consistent with the town's comprehensive plan and the purposes of this UDC;
 - d. The PUD development plan amendment is generally consistent with the PUD standards in subsection 10-2-7 E.2;
 - e. Adequate facilities and services (including streets and transportation, water, gas, electric, police and fire protection, and sewage and waste disposal, as applicable) will be available to serve the subject property while maintaining adequate levels of service to existing development;
 - f. The PUD development plan amendment is not likely to result in significant adverse impacts upon the natural environment, including air, water, noise, storm water management, wildlife, and vegetation, or such impacts will be substantially mitigated;
 - g. The PUD development plan amendment is not likely to result in significant adverse impacts to significant scenic and historic features as identified in plans adopted by the town;
 - h. The PUD development plan amendment is not likely to result in significant adverse impacts upon other property in the vicinity of the subject property;
 - i. Proposed uses on the subject property will be compatible in scale with uses on other properties in the vicinity of the subject property;
 - j. The proposed phasing of the development is appropriate and the development can be substantially completed within the time period specified in the schedule of development or development agreement submitted by the applicant; and
 - k. The PUD development plan amendment provides public benefit(s).

Section 10-7-6 Reenacted

10-7-6. Planned Unit Development (PUD).

- 1. Purpose: The purpose of the PUD overlay district is to provide for areas where there is special public interest that doesn't coincide with the traditional zoning in a geographic area. The PUD overlay district is a mapped area with restrictions in addition to, or less than, those in the underlying traditional zone. Rather than attempt to create a new zoning category, an overlay zone is superimposed over the traditional zone and establishes additional regulations, or reduces or extends the existing uses. The underlying zoning identifies permitted land uses, the overlay zone may provide design restrictions, additional setbacks, or other exceptions to the base district regulations. As an inactive district, no new PUD may be established. General purposes of a PUD are as follows:
 - a. Ensure orderly and thorough planning and review procedures that will result in high-quality urban design.
 - b. Encourage variety and avoid monotony in large developments by allowing greater freedom in selecting the means to provide access, light, open space, and amenity.
 - c. Provide a mechanism for considering mixes of uses that can be made compatible by application of careful and imaginative treatment of interrelationships of activity.
 - d. Encourage allocation and improvement of common open space in residential areas, and provide for maintenance of the open space at the expense of those who will directly benefit from it.
 - e. Encourage the preservation of serviceable existing structures of historic value or artistic merit by providing the opportunity to use them imaginatively for purposes other than that for which they were originally intended.
- 2. District-specific standards: In any PUD, although it is permissible to depart from literal conformance with the individual-lot dimension and area regulations, there shall be no variation of:
 - a. The underlying zone districts maximum density requirements;
 - b. Height requirements, except in the RC district;
 - c. Parking requirements;
 - d. Loading and unloading area requirements;
 - e. Public street and alley standards;
 - f. Exterior lighting standards;
 - g. Operational standards;

- h. Parks, open space and trails dedication requirements;
- i. Natural and scenic resource protection requirements;
- j. Abandoned mine requirements;
- k. Oil and gas wells and production facility requirements;
- I. Floodplain protection; and

m. Stormwater requirements.

- 3. Review procedures: See Table 7.1-1, Section 10-7-2, and the User Guide for applicable review procedure and submittal requirements.
- 4. Approval criteria:
 - a. The PUD will promote the public health, safety, and general welfare;
 - b. The PUD is generally consistent with the Town's comprehensive plan and the purposes of this UDC;
 - c. Adequate facilities and services (including streets and transportation, water, gas, electric, police and fire protection, and sewage and waste disposal, as applicable) will be available to serve the subject property while maintaining adequate levels of service to existing development;
 - d. The PUD is not likely to result in significant adverse impacts upon the natural environment, including air, water, noise, storm water management, wildlife, and vegetation, or such impacts will be substantially mitigated;
 - e. The PUD is not likely to result in significant adverse impacts to significant scenic and historic features as identified in plans adopted by the Town;
 - f. The PUD is not likely to result in significant adverse impacts upon other property in the vicinity of the subject property;
 - g. Proposed uses on the subject property will be compatible in scale with uses on other properties in the vicinity of the subject property;
 - h. The proposed phasing of the development is appropriate and the development can be substantially completed within the time period specified in the schedule of development or development agreement submitted by the applicant; and
 - i. The PUD provides public benefits.
- 5. Amendment: An existing PUD may be expanded by no more than five (5) percent of the total area of the existing PUD, if all of the expansion area is contiguous with the

PUD. The boundaries of an existing PUD may be amended to reduce the size of the PUD. PUD amendments shall be subject to Section 10-7-2.J.

UDC Section 10-7-8 Repealed

- 10-7-8 Minor modifications.
- A. Purpose and scope: This section sets forth the required review and approval procedures for "minor modifications," which are minor deviations from otherwise applicable standards that may be approved by the director, the board of trustees, or the planning commission. Minor modifications are to be used when the minor deviation of the applicable standard, and the unlikelihood of any adverse effects on nearby properties or the neighborhood, make it unnecessary to complete a formal variance process.
- B. Applicability:
 - Minor modifications to general development and zone district standards: As part of the review and approval of any procedure set forth in this chapter, the board of trustees, the planning commission, or the director may approve minor modifications of up to a maximum of ten percent from the following general development and zone district standards, including planned development (PD) district standards, provided that the applicable approval criteria are met.
 - a. Minimum lot area requirements;
 - b. Setback requirements;
 - c. Subdivision design and improvement standards set forth in chapter 5; and
 - d. Quantitative development standards set forth in chapter 6 (e.g., number of parking spaces);
 - 2. Exceptions: No minor modification shall result in:
 - a. An increase in overall project density;
 - b. A change in permitted uses or mix of uses;
 - c. An increase in building height;
 - d. A deviation from the use-specific standards; or
 - e. A change in conditions attached to the approval of any plat, site plan, or special review use.
- C. Procedure:

- 1. Approval by director: The director may approve a minor modification at any time before taking action on aa development application if the director is the final decision-maker.
- 2. Approval by board of trustees or planning commission: The board of trustees or planning commission may approve a minor modification at any time before it takes action on a development application under its respective jurisdiction.
- D. Approval criteria: The decision-making body may approve the minor Modification only if it finds that the modification meets all of the criteria below:
 - 1. The requested modification is generally consistent with the town's comprehensive plan and the stated purpose of this UDC;
 - 2. The requested modification meets all other applicable building and safety codes;
 - 3. The requested modification does not encroach into a recorded easement;
 - 4. The requested modification will have no significant adverse impact on the health, safety, or general welfare of surrounding property owners or the general public, or such impacts will be substantially mitigated; and
 - 5. The requested modification is necessary to either: (a) compensate for some practical difficulty or some unusual aspect of the site of the proposed development not shared by landowners in general; or (b) accommodate an alternative or innovative design practice that achieves to the same or better degree the objective of the existing design standard to be modified. In determining if "practical difficulty" exists, the approval criteria for variances in section 10-7-9, shall be considered.

UDC Section 10-7-8 Reenacted

10-7-8. Minor deviations.

- A. Purpose: This Section allows for minor deviations from otherwise applicable land use standards. Minor deviations are intended to be allowed when the unlikelihood of any adverse effects on nearby properties or the neighborhood makes it unnecessary to complete a formal variance process.
- B. Applicability:
 - As part of the review of any land use application under this Title, the Board of Trustees, the Planning Commission, or the Director may approve minor deviations of up to a maximum of ten percent (10%) from the following general development and zone district standards, provided that the applicable approval criteria are met:

- a. Minimum lot area requirements;
- b. Setback requirements;
- c. Subdivision design and improvement standards; and
- d. Quantitative development standards set forth in Chapter 6.
- 2. Exceptions: Notwithstanding the foregoing, no minor deviation shall result in:
 - a. An increase in overall project density;
 - b. A change in permitted uses or mix of uses;
 - c. An increase in building height;
 - d. A deviation from the use-specific standards; or
 - e. A change in conditions imposed on the original approval of any plat, site plan, or special review use.
- C. Procedure: The final decision-making body on a land use application may approve a minor deviation at the time the land use application is finally approved.
- D. Approval criteria: A minor deviation may only be approved if all of the following criteria are satisfied:
 - 1. The minor deviation is generally consistent with the Town's Comprehensive Plan and the stated purpose of this UDC;
 - 2. The minor deviation meets all applicable building and safety codes;
 - 3. The minor deviation does not encroach into a recorded easement;
 - 4. The minor deviation will not have significant adverse impacts on the health, safety, or general welfare of surrounding property owners or the general public, or such impacts will be substantially mitigated; and
 - 5. The minor deviation is necessary to compensate for some practical difficulty or some unusual aspect of the site of the proposed development not shared by landowners in general, or to accommodate an alternative or innovative design practice that achieves to the same or better degree the objective of the existing standard.

Town of Erie Planning Commission Resolution No. P22-07

A Resolution of the Planning Commission of the Town of Erie Recommending that the Board of Trustees Adopt an Ordinance Amending Chapter 2 and Chapter 7 of Title 10 of the Erie Municipal Code to Modify the Procedure for Amendments to Land Use Approvals

Whereas, the approval criteria for an amendment to Title 10 of the Erie Municipal Code (the "UDC") are set forth in Section 10-7-18 of the UDC;

Whereas, pursuant to Section 10-7-18 of the UDC, the Planning Commission is required to review and make a recommendation to the Board of Trustees regarding whether to approve an amendment to the UDC; and

Whereas, on August 17, 2022, the Planning Commission reviewed an ordinance proposing amendments to Chapter 2 and Chapter 7 of the UDC regarding the procedure for amendments to land use approvals.

Now, Therefore, be it Resolved by the Planning Commission of the Town of Erie, Colorado, that:

<u>Section 1</u>. The Planning Commission hereby recommends that the Board of Trustees approve the ordinance amending Chapter 2 and Chapter 7 of the UDC regarding the procedure for amendments to land use approvals, as presented to the Planning Commission, for the following reasons:

a. The proposed ordinance promotes the public health, safety, and general welfare;

b. The proposed ordinance is consistent with the Town's Comprehensive Master Plan and the stated purposes of the UDC; and

c. The proposed ordinance is necessary or desirable because of changing conditions, new planning concepts, or other social or economic conditions.

Adopted this 17th day of August, 2022.

Kelly Luniga Kelly Zuni

Attest:

Melinda Helmer, Secretary

NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING BOARD OF TRUSTEES TOWN OF ERIE

Notice is hereby given that on Tuesday, September 13, 2022 at 6:30 PM, or as soon as possible thereafter, in the Erie Town Hall, 645 Holbrook, Erie, CO and via Zoom (please see <u>www.erieco.gov</u> for Zoom information), the Erie Board of Trustees will hold a Public Hearing to consider the adoption of an ordinance amending Title 10 of the Erie Municipal Code to allow existing Planned Unit Development Overlay (PUD) zoning districts to expand their boundary.

A copy of the ordinance is on file at the Town Clerk's office.

Interested and affected persons are encouraged to attend. The Board of Trustees will take comments on the ordinance at the public hearing.

<u>/s/ Debbie Stamp</u> Town Clerk

FOR QUESTIONS CONTACT TOWN OF ERIE PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DEPARTMENT P.O. BOX 750 ERIE, CO 80516 PHONE: (303) 926-2770

Please publish in the Colorado Hometown Weekly on August 24, 2022. Please send the affidavit of publication and billing to:

Town Clerk Town of Erie PO Box 750 Erie, CO 80516



UDC Amendment to Modify and Clarify the Amendment to Land Use Approvals and Deviations from Land Use Standards

> Board of Trustees September 13, 2022

Request

Consideration of Municipal Code Title 10 Unified Development Code (UDC) changes to the Amendment of Land Use Approvals and Design Deviations

Intent:

- Reinstate an amendment process so Planned Unit Development (PUD) Overlay zoning amendments that modify a PUD boundary may occur.
- Align other relevant Code sections to establish and allow an amendment process for a PUD Overlay.



Overview

- Background
- Amendments
- Decision





nearmap 🥂



Overview

- Background
- Amendments
- Decision


Chapter 2 – Zone Districts

• Remove 10-2-7.E. Planned Unit Development Overlay (PUD) zoning from Section 10.2.7, Inactive Districts. 10-2-7.E.



Chapter 7 – Review/Approval Procedures

- Section 10-7-1, Table 7-1.1Summary of Administration and Review Roles
 - Modify table for consistency with the amendment.
- Section 10-7-2.J Standard Development Review Procedures
 - Modify to define Minor Modifications and Major Modifications for all land use applications.

Chapter 7 – Review/Approval Procedures

- Section 10-7-6 Planned Unit Development (PUD)
 - Modified to include the inactive district language previously in Chapter 2.
 - Provide review and approval criteria for PUD amendments.
- Section 10-7-8 Minor Deviations
 - Better define a minor deviation from specific regulations that compliment the amendments proposed for PUD's.



Overview

- Background
- Proposal
- Decision



UDC Amendment Approval Criteria

- 1. The proposed amendment will promote the public health, safety, and general welfare;
- 2. The proposed amendment is generally consistent with the Town's Comprehensive Master Plan and the stated purposes of this UDC; and
- 3. The proposed amendment is necessary or desirable because of changing conditions, new planning concepts, or other social or economic conditions.



Recommendations

- Staff Recommendation Approval: Adopt the Ordinance
- Planning Commission Recommendation Approval: Adopt the Ordinance
- Effective date of Ordinance if approved: October 21, 2022



Public Notice and Comments

Public Notice of Hearing Published in newspaper:

Public Comments: None

August 17, 2022





Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-349, Version: 1

Subject:

Semi-Annual Report from the Tree Board **Department:** Boards and Commissions

Presenter(s): Jason Shimmel

Time Estimate: 20 minutes

Summary and Background of Subject Matter:

Jason Shimmel, Tree Board Member, will provide an update on activities from 2022 and what is planned for the rest of the year.

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

- ✓ Engaged and Diverse Community
- ✓ Small Town Feel

Attachment(s):

1. Presentation



Erie Tree Board

Biannual Report :: September 13, 2022

Calendar of Events



School Outreach

- 1st 3rd Grade seed planting kits
- 6 schools
- 28 classrooms
- 630 kids



Arbor Day/Earth Day

Saturday, April 30, 2022 :: 10am-1pm – Erie Community Park

- Joint Event w/ Sustainability Board
- 27 Exhibitors included:
 - Erie Town Forester
 - Town Boards
 - Tree and Sustainability focus
- Raffle
- 5th Grade Poster Contest



Arbor Day Foundation – www.arborday.org

Tree Talks / Tree Walks

- Erie Community Center
- Tree Walks took place on Sept. 8th, 9th and 10th.
- Future Tree Talks are planned for later in the fall.



Leaf Composting



Existing Tree Programs

Tree Rebate Program Available to Residents

New Build Tree Certificate Program

Available to Residents moving into new homes

HOA Cost Share Available to HOAs

School and Non-Profit Cost Share Program Available to schools and non-profit organizations

For more information: Google "Town of Erie Tree Programs" or visit: https://www.erieco.gov/185/Tree-Incentive-Programs



Tree Board Members: Jane Hilleren Toby Hopp Yusupha Jow Brian O'Connor Patty O'Donnell Jason Shimmel Leanne Vielehr





Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-350, Version: 1

Subject:

Semi-Annual Report from the Planning Commission **Department:** Boards and Commissions

Presenter(s): Kelly Zuniga, Planning Commission Chair

Time Estimate: 20 minutes

Summary and Background of Subject Matter:

Kelly Zuniga, Planning Commission Chair, will provide an update on activities from 2022 and what is planned for the rest of the year.

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

- ✓ Engaged and Diverse Community
- ✓ Small Town Feel

Attachment(s):

1. Presentation



Planning Commission Bi-Annual Report to the Board of Trustees

SEPTEMBER 2022

Planning Commissioners: Kelly D Zuniga, Chair April 2016 – April 2024 James Luthi, Vice Chair April 2022 – April 2026 Christopher Baham April 2022 – April 2026 Sherri Booth April 2022 – April 2026 Tim Burns April 2022 – April 2026 Kyle Swikoski April 2022 – April 2026 Vacant Seat April 2022 – April 2024



2022 – Feb to Sept Overview

- From February 2022 to August 2022, development applications were filed and heard by the Planning Commission relating to four proposed properties:
 - ► Coal Creek Park (2/16)
 - ► Summerfield (4/20)
 - ► Westerly (7/6)
 - Colliers Hill 4H (7/6)
 - ► Erie Highlands (8/3)
 - ▶ Parkdale (8/3)

- The types of requests included the following:
 - ► One Rezone (2/16)
 - ► Four Preliminary Plats (4/20, 7/6, 7/6, 8/3)
 - ► One PUD Overlay (8/3)

Development Review Map





- Goal 1: Facilitate the update to the Comprehensive Plan to ensure that it accurately reflects the current and future vision and needs of Erie, within an acceptable timeframe.
- Goal 2: Review the role and responsibilities of the Planning Commission and update them to align with those of our regional neighbors; inform our own planning processes, procedures, and tools.
- Goal 3: Improve Planning Commissioner skill development through professional engagement and collaboration, identifying and taking appropriate trainings, and research conducted individually and presented during commissioner reports.
- Goal 4: Increase engagement between Planning Commission and community



Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-351, Version: 1

Subject:

Semi-Annual Report from the Historic Preservation Advisory Board **Department:** Boards and Commissions

Presenter(s): Mike Turner

Time Estimate: 20 minutes

Summary and Background of Subject Matter:

Mike Turner, Historic Preservation Advisory Board Chair, will provide an update on activities from 2022 and what is planned for the rest of the year.

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

- ✓ Engaged and Diverse Community
- ✓ Small Town Feel

Attachment(s):

1. Presentation

Erie Historic Preservation Advisory Board September 2022 Update







HP Board Members / Town Liaisons:

- Mike Turner, Chair
- Joan Organ, Vice Chair
- Amy Wegner Kho, Secretary
- Rachel Folger, Member
- Ryan Kenward, Member
- Melanie Fuller, Member
- Vacant
- Heidi Short, Historical Advisor (Non-voting Member)
- Trustee Baer, BOT Liaison
- Trustee Hoback, BOT Liaison (Alternate)
- Dennis Buck, Town Staff
- Audem Gonzales, Town Staff



2022 Work Plan Goals

- Commence Phase II Survey 2Q
- > Pursue Local Landmarking of Eagle Mine
- > Pursue State Registry for Cemetery
- > Pursue State Registry for Schofield Farm
- Assist Town Staff with Erie's 150th Year Anniversary
- Pursue Protection of Erie Cottonwood Tree
- > Define Erie's Railroad Historical Context
- > Participate in Local Community Activities
- Engage with Other Boards and Commissions
- Participate in UDC Updates
- > Pursue Historic Tax Incentives
- > Update Local Landmarking Criteria
- > Pursue Landmarking of Jerosa Farm Barn





2022 Work Plan Goals Status

Goals in Progress

- Phase II Survey
 - SHF Grant Awarded June 2022
 - Kick-off Meeting July 20, 2022
- Assist Town Staff with Erie's 150th Year Anniversary
- Define Erie's Railroad Historical Context
- Engage with Other Boards and Commissions
- Pursue Historic Tax Incentives
- Participate in Local Community Activities
- Participate in UDC / Comp Plan Updates
- Review Local Landmarking Criteria





ADVISORY BOARD

2022 Work Plan Goals Status

Goals Not Yet Started

- Pursue State Registry for Schofield Farm
 - Delayed until rehab construction completed
 - HPAB approved COA (July 25, 2022)
- Pursue Local Landmarking of Eagle Mine
 Partnering with town Economic Development Staff
- Pursue State Registry for Cemetery
- Pursue Protection of Erie Cottonwood Tree
- Pursue Landmarking of Jerosa Farm Barn
 Awaiting annexation





2023 Budget

- Request \$10,000
 - Submitting for additional Planning Grants
 Planning Grants are 10% matching funds
 - > Planning grants identified to research:
 - ✓ Railroad history
 - ✓ Eagle Mine historic survey
 - ✓ Possible historic district





Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-352, Version: 1

Subject:

Semi-Annual Report from the Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Advisory Board **Department:** Boards and Commissions

Presenter(s): Lindsey Terranova and Cesar Jimenez

Time Estimate: 20 minutes

Summary and Background of Subject Matter:

Lindsey Terranova, Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Advisory Board Chair, and Cesar Jimenez, Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Advisory Board Vice Chair will provide an update on activities from 2022 and what is planned for the rest of the year.

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

- ✓ Engaged and Diverse Community
- ✓ Small Town Feel

Attachment(s):

1. Presentation

Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Advisory Board Biannual Report

September 2022



Overview

- Advisory Board Members
- Vision
- Seeking Clarity
- Moving Forward
- Budget 2023



The Members

- Lindsey Terranova, Chair
- Cesar Jimenez, Vice Chair
- Benazir Rowe
- Maria (Mili) Vazquez Pereira
- Debbie Benson
- Dea Lindsey
- Joe Cygan, Secretary

Vision Statement

We strive to build a sense of active and inclusive community where every resident feels heard, welcomed, and respected. We envision a community that is well represented in the Town's cultural, social, political and economic life.



Seeking Clarity

Objectives in 2022

- DEIAB setting clear mission statement
- Renewed collaboration with BOT

Advisory Board's History

- 2020 BOT commitment to DEI in Erie
- Member turnover
 - · Lack of growth, direction, continuity

Relationship with the Board of Trustees

• Needing more clarity on our role and purpose

5

Moving Forward

- Structure
 - Need identity and purpose
 - Commitment from DEIAB members
 - Training
 - Courageous Conversations
 - "Advising" BOT
- Collaboration
 - DEIAB input in town projects and initiatives
 - Commitment from BOT
 - DEIAB strongly recommends BOT take DEI Foundation training
 - Continued partnership with town's DEI manager


2023 Budget Proposal

Total budget request 2023=\$49,200 Total budget request 2022=\$30,000 Courageous Conversations About Race (CCAR): \$7,300

• Training, materials, and facilitator certification

CCAR Summit 2023: \$38,900

• Travel, lodging, per diems, registration

Events funds: \$3,000

• Tabling, advertising, and materials





Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-353, Version: 1

Subject:

Semi-Annual Report from the Open Space and Trails Advisory Board **Department:** Boards and Commissions

Presenter(s): Robert Braudes

Time Estimate: 20 minutes

Summary and Background of Subject Matter:

Robert Braudes, Open Space and Trails Advisory Board Chair, will provide an update on activities from 2022 and what is planned for the rest of the year.

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

- ✓ Engaged and Diverse Community
- ✓ Small Town Feel

Attachment(s):

1. Presentation

OSTAB Status Report

Town of Erie Open Space and Trails Advisory Board (OSTAB)

Presented by: Bob Braudes, Chair

Revised: August 25, 2021



What is our mission and responsibilities?

- Evaluate open space and trails in the development approval process and submit formal responses;
- Advise the Board of Trustees on matters related to planning, acquisition, development, maintenance, and management of open space and trails;
- Coordinate with Boulder and Weld Counties and neighboring jurisdictions in the identification and acquisition of open space and trails;
- Assess open space and trail provisions of Town plans and ordinances and recommend amendments, if necessary;
- Participate in Town events to promote trails and open space.

Who are we?

 <u>Bob Braudes</u>: BS in Chemistry and Psychology, MS in Information Science, DSc in Computer Science. Retired; previously a Director of AI Program Development with Avaya. Has been involved in conservation and outdoor recreation activities for multiple years.

<u>Phil Brink</u>: BS in Animal Science, MS in Environmental Science. Self employed consultant since 2002 assisting governments and private companies with compliance and water related challenges;

- Christine Felz: BS Degree in Environmental Studies/International Affairs and Geography. Environmental project manager for a local renewable energy consulting firm. Formerly, Land and Environment Manager for local aggregate, asphalt and concrete company for ten years.
- Joe Swanson: BS in Natural/Park Resource Management. Resource specialist with Boulder County Parks and Open Space Noxious Weed Department for the last 9 years;
- <u>Dave Tazik</u>: BS Biology, MS Biology/Environmental Focus, PhD Regional/Environmental Planning. Retired; previously a Research Ecologist with U.S. Corps of Engineers for close to 30 years, and a project scientist with National Ecological Observatory Network for 6 years.
- Ken Martin and Tim Payne: Both have bachelor degrees, none in directly related areas. Both have been involved in conservation and outdoor recreation activities for multiple years.

What have we done?

- 2022 to-date residential development applications: 65% of our time, 19 responses for 10 developments. Totals for 2020 were 11 and 8.
- Provided input to TNACC ballot initiative
- Support for Boulder to Erie Regional Trail (BERT) Master Planning Process;
- Future open space acquisitions and/or conservation easements:
 - Reviewed and responded to 9 Development Referrals
 - Held 1 Executive session
 - > Investigating options for identifying new potential Open Space properties
- Agricultural leases on Town open space parcels;
- Solar Farms;

Acknowledgements

5

We wish to thank the Board of Trustees, particularly our liaisons Mayor Pro Tem Sara Loflin and Trustee Dan Hoback, and Town Staff, particularly Patrick Hammer, Mike McGill and Matt Spinner of Parks and Rec, and Chris LaRue of Planning and Development, for their support.



Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-354, Version: 1

Subject:

Semi-Annual Report from the Sustainability Advisory Board **Department:** Boards and Commissions

Presenter(s): Ben Hemphill and Alissa Kuzmich

Time Estimate: 20 minutes

Summary and Background of Subject Matter:

Ben Hemphill, Sustainability Advisory Board Chair, and Alissa Kuzmich, Sustainability Advisory Board Vice Chair, will provide an update on activities from 2022 and what is planned for the rest of the year.

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

- ✓ Engaged and Diverse Community
- ✓ Small Town Feel

Attachment(s):

1. Presentation

Sustainability Advisory Board

Biannual Report to the Board of Trustees

September 13, 2022

SAB Members

- **Kaycee Headrick** (May 2026)
- **Ben Hemphill, Chair** (May 2026)
- Arthur Henderlong (May 2026)
- Caleb Norder, Youth Member (May 2026)
- Alissa Kuzmich, Vice Chair (May 2026)
- Rose Murphy, Secretary (April 2024)
- Vacant Seat (April 2024)
- ► Tyler Kesler, Staff Liaison
- Dan Hoback, Trustee Board Liaison
- Sara Loflin, Mayor Pro Tem, Alternate Board Liaison





SUSTAINABILITY MASTER PLAN November 2019



Our Guiding Document: Sustainability Master Plan

This five-year plan provides a roadmap through which the community can:

Protect natural resources

Support the local economy and culture

Promote a sustainable lifestyle for its residents and visitors

We are nearly 80% complete with implementation!

Sustainability Master Plan: Four Sectors of Focus



ENERGY USE Contributions: Recent Initiatives

Progress webpage: https://www.erieco.gov/1935/Energy-Efficiency

- The Energy Action Plan 2.0, was revised and updated after all goals in the 2018 version were achieved or exceeded.
 - Xcel Energy "Partners in Energy" Program outlined the following goals in the updated plan:
 - ▶ Source 25% of commercial electricity use from renewable resources by 2025
 - Source 20% of residential electricity use from renewable resources by 2025
 - ▶ Reduce average household electricity use by 3% by 2025
 - Reduce average household natural gas use by 3% by 2025
 - Increase the number of green building that are tracked in the community annually



TRANSPORTATION Contribution:

Recent Events & Initiatives

Progress webpage: https://www.erieco.gov/1936/Transportation

- 3 EV Ride & Drive Showcase Events (Two in Fall 2021, One in Spring 2022)
 - ► Featuring ten different EV models available to test drive
 - Featuring a fleet of e-bikes demo
- Erie is now a designated "GoEV City" resolving to develop policies and practices that reduce transportation-related emissions
 - Establish EV action plan and set priorities and goals for 2025, 2030, 2050
- Erie electrified its eighth and ninth EV charging stations at the new ECP, final phase
- Boulder County Transportation Electrification Plan
 - 8-month collaboration with all Boulder County communities and Xcel Energy outlining strategies to support large scale transition to zero emission vehicles (support 25 charging stations by 2025!)
 - Opportunity to participate in sub-group sessions for further planning



WASTE, RECYCLING & COMPOSTING Contributions, Recent Events & Initiatives

Progress webpage: https://www.erieco.gov/1937/Waste-Recycling-Composting

- Fall clean-up event
 - Drop off unwanted electronics, metal, medicine, batteries, and NEW this year: lawn chemicals and hazardous household cleaners.
- Leaf & Pumpkin Composting Event (in collaboration with the TAB)
- Year-round yard waste drop-off at Recycling Center
 - New roll-off dumpsters accepting leaves, grass clippings, sawdust, flowers, weeds, plants, and small branches

Zero Waste Initiative

- Triple bins (landfill, recycling, compost) were installed in all Town facilities
- Zero waste Town of Erie meeting policy was adopted
- Zero Waste special events



Other Exciting Items of Note: Recent Events & Initiatives

- Diane Ernst, Sustainability Specialist was hired
- Successful Arbor Day/Earth Day collaboration with the Tree Board in April
- Mow Down pollution rebates available for Erie residents
 - Reduce ground-level ozone by replacing gas-powered mowers for electric
- Continued partnership with **Resource Central's Garden-in-a-Box Program**
 - Professionally designed low-water garden kits for residents
- Initiated a **Turf Replacement Program** with removal services and rebates
 - Funds were exhausted for 2022 and a waitlist is being built out for 2023
 - 19,442 square feet of turf has been replaced with low-water xeric plants
 - \$30,000 in rebates and services has been distributed to Erie residents



water wi

vour new

5. Plant

add mulcl

waterwise yard





Coming Soon: Future Events & Initiatives

- **EV Ride & Drive Event,** (Date TBD Fall 2022)
 - Come and talk with your neighbors about EVs, ask questions, and test drive different models of cars.
- Preferred Hauler Ordinance & RFP (Board of Trustees Vote: October 25)





- Leaf & Pumpkin Composting Event (November 12 & 20)
 - Compost your old pumpkins and leaves after using them for Halloween decorations at the Town's Recycling Center on two convenient dates.
- Pay-As-You-Throw Ordinance (re-enacted with all haulers January 2023)
 - When haulers renew their business licensing, they will be required to implement a PAYT system with their customers.

CONCLUSION: Future Plans & Priorities

- Continue to work with Town employees and the Board of Trustees on unfinished Sustainability Master Plan objectives
- Continue education and outreach activities with Erie residents
- Water efficiency and water use practices in Erie are a priority interest to the new SAB leadership.
- The Water Efficiency Plan, updated July 2021 and other water conversation rebates and programs can inform our future efforts







Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-355, Version: 1

Subject:

Semi-Annual Report from the Airport Economic Development Advisory Board **Department:** Boards and Commissions

Presenter(s): Paul Houghtaling

Time Estimate: 20 minutes

Summary and Background of Subject Matter:

Paul Houghtaling, Airport Economic Development Advisory Board Chair, will provide an update on activities from 2022 and what is planned for the rest of the year.

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

- ✓ Engaged and Diverse Community
- ✓ Small Town Feel

Attachment(s):

1. Presentation

Erie Airport Economic Development Board



About Us





What

The Town of Erie passed the Ordinance No. 030-2020, establishing the EAEDB to promote economic development that is beneficial to the Town at the Erie Municipal Airport

Why

The Town believes it is in the best interest of the public health, safety and welfare to establish the advisory board

How

The ordinance shows the commitment of the BOT to the value of the Erie Airport

Our Team



These seven members represent a vast amount of experience in the areas of economic development and aviation





Brandon Bell Town Trustee Board Liaison

How Do We Help

The advisory board will provide written reports to the BOT in connection with matters relating to economic development, financial vitality and economic impact of the Erie Municipal Airport and related activities.



Current Actions





Support for a New Airport Entrance at Arapahoe Road and County Line



Erie Air Fair



Support for construction of a new terminal building, and/or rehab of existing structure



Support Economic Development and increased use by all citizens of Erie

New Airport Entrance









Requirements: Airport Layout Plan

Benefits of Arapahoe Entrance

New connection to existing Coal Creek trail and Downtown Erie

Provides the framework for a future business park and job creation

Aligns the airport with the future entrance into Erie through Parkdale





Erie Air Fair



 \sum

Postponed to 9/10/23

Logistical delays

EEDC agreement with town





Long Term Building Lease - Terminal









Recent grant application for a new terminal was unsuccessful

Erie Airport Economic Development Board





Board of Trustees

Board Meeting Date: 9/13/2022

File #: 22-330, Version: 1

SUBJECT: Staff Report

Bi-Monthly Vector Air Airport Report

DEPARTMENT: Public Works

PRESENTER: Jason Hurd, Airport Manager Todd Fessenden, Public Works Director

STAFF RECOMMENDATION:

Information only

SUMMARY AND BACKGROUND OF SUBJECT MATTER:

Please see attached - Vector Air Airport Report

Fiscal Impact: N/A

Board Priority(s) Addressed:

- ✓ Prosperous Economy
- ✓ Well-Maintained Transportation Infrastructure

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Report



AIRPORT MANAGER'S REPORT SEPTEMBER 13, 2022 MEETING



ERIE MUNICIPAL AIRPORT



AIRPORT FEES

THROUGH THE FENCE FEES

2022 Through the Fence Fees were invoiced and collected at the beginning of January.

LAND LEASE AND TIE DOWNS

At the time of this report, Airport staff has invoiced and collected current tie-down and land lease fees.



AVIATION CONCERNS

Airport Staff has received some concerns from residents in surrounding communities and Airport Manager, Jason Hurd, has reached out to and spoken to those concerned residents.





Airport Enterprise Fund Update – Sources of Revenue and Uses of Funds

The current balance of the Airport Enterprise fund is \$177,000.00

Vector Air Management contributes

- \$40,000.00 in contract payments per year
- \$5000.00 in fuel flow fees (this is an approximate number). Fuel flow fees are paid to the Town at \$0.07 per gallon sold

Traditionally, money in the Airport Enterprise Fund is used almost exclusively for matching funds for FAA and CDOT Department of Aeronautics grants. Town Staff controls the expenditures of these funds.

The Erie Airport has a five-year Capital Improvement Plan (CIP) that is developed by the FAA, the State, the Airport Sponsor, and the Town of Erie. The CIP identifies airport projects that are eligible for FAA and State of Colorado funding through the various grant programs.

I have attached the 2022 DRAFT CIP to this report.

Current Grant Programs

Airport Improvement Program (AIP) - \$150,000.00 per year

- \$16,667 10% Local overmatch which comes from:
 - o 5% Town of Erie Airport Fund \$8,333
 - o 5% State of Colorado \$8,333
 - o Total Funds Available \$166,667/year
- Airports that are part of the AIP program can transfer grant entitlements to/from other airports within the program. This allows other airports to use Erie Grant funds for a particular year and Erie to use other airport funds from other airports for future projects. This enables airports to complete larger projects requiring more funds.
 - Example If the Erie Municipal Airport had a \$500,000 CIP project in 2024, Erie could use it's 2024 calendar year AIP funds (\$150,000) and negotiate the transfer of funds for that same year from two other airports within the system (\$150,000 x 2 = \$300,000) to Erie for a total of \$450,000 in AIP funds. \$450,000 combined with local matching funds (\$16,667x3 Town and State) would facilitate a \$500,000 CIP project. In return, Erie would transfer future AIP entitlements earmarked for the Erie Municipal Airport back to the airports that originally loaned funds.

State of Colorado CDOT Division of Aeronautic Grant Program – Currently the State Aeronautic Grant Program is providing limited funds to General Aviation Airports. In the past, these grants ranged from \$200,000-\$500,000/year with a local 5% match.

Bipartisan Infrastructure Law (BIL)

- Provides \$159,000.00 per year for all Colorado GA FAA funded airports in Colorado
 - \$17,667 10% Local overmatch which comes from:
 - o 5% Town of Erie Airport Fund \$8,833
 - o 5% State of Colorado \$8,833
 - o Total Funds Available \$176,666/year



AIRPORT INSPECTIONS

Airport staff perform daily and weekly inspections of the airport. These inspections include but may not be limited to:

- Ensure all Notice to Air Missions (NOTAMS) are current.
- Check for FOD (foreign object debris) remove as needed.
- Inspect condition of the runway surface, and markings.
- Inspect condition of the taxiway, connector surfaces and markings; perform routine maintenance as needed.
- Inspect performance of runway and taxiway lighting and signs perform routine maintenance as needed.
- Inspect performance of navigational lighting and perform routine maintenance as needed.
- Inspect condition of the ramp areas.
- Ensure tied down aircraft are secure.
- Inspect all airport equipment and vehicles perform routine maintenance as needed.
- Inspect all airport wind socks for wear replace as needed.
- Inspect segmented circle perform maintenance as needed.







FUEL ISLAND INSPECTIONS

Airport staff continues to perform daily, weekly, and monthly inspections of the fuel island. These inspections include but may not be limited to:

- Physical inspection of tank exteriors, to include fittings, valves, connections, etc., for leaks.
- Verify security of ladders.
- Inspect each tank opening to ensure proper seal.
- Inspect overfill prevention equipment and spill bucket.
- Inspect tanks for contamination by water.
- Inspect the area around the tanks for any signs of leakage.
- Verify fuel levels and alert Airport Management if fuel needs to be purchased.
- Sump fuel tanks to check for contamination.





5 Year Fuel Sales Comparison (Gallons sold/month)















5 Year Fuel Sales Comparison (Gallons sold/month) cont.





		AIRPORT	CAPITAL I	MPROVEN		N					
Federal Aviation Administration											
			2023	- 2030							
Erie Municipal Airport - Erie, Colorado											
Airport Name: Erie Municipal Airport Airport Identifier: EIK Sponsor Name: Town of Erie Date: Draft											
Project Description & Year (By funding year in priority order)	FAA Discretionary	FAA State Apportionment	FAA Entitlements	State F Overmatch	⁻ unds Match	Local F Other	⁻ unds Match	Total Funding	Project Cost Estimate		
2022 Carryover to 2024			90.00% \$0		5.000% \$0		5.000% \$0	\$0			
BIL Allocation - Carryover to 2023			\$0		\$0		\$0	\$0			
2023 West Ramp & Taxiway Design			\$230,692		\$12,816	1	\$12,816	\$256,324			
WIMS Comment "Using \$24,304 from 2021, BIL Allocation - AWOS			<i>t."</i> \$318,000		\$17,667		\$17,667	\$353,333			
Using BIL Allocation from 2022 and 2023. Uni	used funds will ca	arryover to 2024. AV	VOS Relocation.								
2024 West Ramp & Taxiway Construction Using Ent. 2025, 2026, 2027, and Ent. from	2021 and 2022.		\$900,000		\$50,000		\$50,000	\$1,000,000			
BIL Allocation - Supplement AIP West Ramp and Taxiway Construction Project			\$159,000		\$8,833		\$8,833	\$176,667			
Using BIL Allocations . 2025											
Transfer Ent. to Canon City			\$0		\$0		\$0	\$0			
BIL Allocation - Carryover to 2026			\$0		\$0		\$0	\$0			
2026 Transfer Ent. to Steamboat Springs			\$0		\$0		\$0	\$0			
Pavement Maintenance State and Local only. Last remarking before	runway reconstru	uction in 2029	\$0		\$300,000		\$33,333	\$333,333			
BIL Allocation - Pavement Maintenance Using BIL Allocations from 2025 and 2026.			\$318,000		\$17,667		\$17,667	\$353,333			
2027 TBD			\$150,000		\$8,333		\$8,333	\$166,667			



2028								
TBD			\$150,000		\$8,333	\$8,333	\$166,667	
							•	
2029								
Runway Reconstruction	\$4,000,000	\$500,000	\$150,000		\$250,000	\$266,667	\$5,166,667	
Fix drainage issues between A1 and A2								
2030				r			1	
TBD			\$0		\$0	\$0	\$0	
			1	1			1	
Future Projects			^		4 0	<u> </u>	* •	
Airport Master Plan (2032)			\$0		\$0	 \$0	\$0	\$300,000



